
Strategic Planning & 
Environment 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Agenda 

 
1 

 

TUESDAY 10 JANUARY 2023 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Conference Room 1 - The Forum 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Beauchamp 
Councillor England 
Councillor Foster 
Councillor Harden (Chairman) 
Councillor P Hearn 
Councillor Riddick 
Councillor Rogers (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Stevens 
Councillor R Sutton 
Councillor Taylor 
Councillor Timmis 
Councillor Wilkie 
Councillor C Wyatt-Lowe 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 
4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 
5. CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 

RELATION TO CALL-IN   
 

6. ACTION POINT FROM PREVIOUS MEETING  (Page 9) 
 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 

7. FOOD SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN AND RECOVERY PLAN  (Pages 10 - 57) 
 

8. BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN SPD  (Pages 58 - 65) 
 

9. SKILLS AND APPRENTICESHIPS SPD  (Pages 66 - 156) 
 

10. WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 157 - 158) 
 

 
 



                                                              Chairman  

MINUTES 
 

 
Dacorum Borough Council 

 
Strategic Planning and Environment 

Tuesday 6 Dec 2022 
 
 
 
Councillors: (14) 
Neil Harden (Chair)   
Jane Timmis       
Anne Foster 
Garrick Stevens 
Adrian England 
Stewart Riddick 
Rob Beauchamp 
Nigel Taylor 
Rosie Sutton 
 
Also in attendance:  

 
 

Officers: (6) 
Alex Robinson – Assistant Director  Planning 
Trevor Pugh – Assistant Director Neighbourhood Delivery  
James Doe – Strategic Director – Place 
Philip Stanley – Head of Development Management  
Sara Whealan – Head of Hemel Place Strategy * 
Clare Demspey – Financial Planning Team Lead 
Emma Walker – Head of Environmental & Community Protection  
 
 
1 MINUTES 
 
The minutes from the last meeting were approved and signed by the Chair.   

 
 
2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Anderson, Wilkie, Wyatt-Lowe and Banks  
 
3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 
4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation.  
 
  
5 CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 

RELATION TO A CALL–IN 

None. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



                                                              Chairman  

6  ACTION POINTS FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 
The Chair advised that all actions were complete.  

  

It was noted that the Housing and Community Overview and Scrutiny meeting was not quorate and 

Cllr Wyatt-Lowe was asked to move the Housing meeting.  

  

Cllr Wyatt-Lowe left the meeting.  

 
 
7 BUDGET  
 

TPugh presented the Environment Overview, noting that the two most significant areas of the budget 

are garden waste and depot transformation. On garden waste, it was noted that Cabinet approved the 

move to a subscription-based service for 2023-24 with an assumption of an initial 30% take-up and 

that customers will be charged £46 per annum, resulting in an income of around £650k in the next 

financial year. The subscription will go live at the beginning of January on the DBC website and 

communication will be sent to residents. The garden waste service starts on 27th February 2023 and 

collections will only be taken from those who have subscribed and paid the fee.  

  

Looking at depot transformation, TPugh noted the £134k reduction in costs that is projected for next 

year, which is made up of salary and transport costs through a focus on route optimisation as this was 

last reviewed in 2014 and a significant number of changes since then. Proposals for new rounds are 

being discussed with supervisors to ensure these are being sense-checked before going into more 

formal proposals. There will be several phases to the transformation and work will also include Clean 

Safe and Green as well as Commercial services to help better improve income.  

  

The Chair asked if the depot transformation would be coming to Scrutiny. TPugh stated that he was 

unsure though he understood that it had been previously discussed at Scrutiny.  

  

The Chair asked for further clarification on how the £134k saving would be achieved. TPugh advised 

that optimising would ensure they run fewer rounds and run rounds more efficiently with fewer 

vehicles and crew. Given that a number of the crew are agency staff, this will provide an opportunity 

to reduce the number of agency staff hired.  

  

Cllr Taylor suggested it would be better to optimise rounds once the garden waste subscription 

scheme has been brought in. TPugh advised that they will operate the same garden waste rounds 

initially until they understand take up, and towards the end of the garden waste season, an 

assessment will be completed on demand and expectations for the following year before making 

round optimisations.  

  

Cllr Timmis noted that a number of residents have already commented on the garden waste 

subscription and asked if residents can pay a pro rata payment if they want to start using the scheme 

later in the year. It was confirmed that this would not be offered.  

  

Cllr Timmis confirmed that residents in receipt of benefits would receive a £10 reduction on the 

garden waste subscription and would therefore pay £35 per annum.  

  

It was noted that whilst residents can sign up to the garden waste at any point of the year, the cost will 

remain the same. The Chair stated that this should help incentivise residents to sign up at the 

beginning of the year.  

  

Page 4



                                                              Chairman  

Cllr Timmis referred to comments from residents and asked if St. Albans offer a collection all year 

round. TPugh stated that he was unsure and that other authorities he has worked for would typically 

pause the service over winter.  

  

Cllr Foster noted the expectation for a 30% take-up of the garden waste service and commented that 

the reports state a 60% take-up will require further investment. TPugh stated that further investment 

would not be required.  

  

Cllr Foster commented on the giveaway compost and asked if this could be commercialised and sold 

to residents. TPugh advised that this is done with the county and is therefore aligned to their scheme 

though this could be looked at further.  

  

Cllr Foster noted that residents who don't wish to use their green bins have asked how to dispose of 

them. TPugh stated that they would be initially asking residents to keep their green bins and then, 

after a period, they will consider how to collect them if they are still not required.  

  

Cllr Taylor asked if the garden waste subscription fee would be charged upfront or on a monthly 

basis. TPugh stated that it would be upfront. Cllr Taylor queried why it was not charged throughout 

the 6 months of the collection period. It was noted that this would be costly to manage. Cllr Taylor 

advised that this is already being done for council tax, to which it was noted that council tax is a much 

higher sum and administrative costs for this are therefore more cost-effective.  

  

Cllr England noted that some residents have smaller green bins and asked if there would be 

standardisation of the bin size. TPugh suggested that there should be only one size but would look 

into this further.  

  

Cllr England commented that whilst the contribution of the green waste subscription service to the 

budget is significant, he felt they were introducing the scheme too quickly and that they may find 

some areas more complex.  

  

Cllr England noted the charges in the list are around 10-11% though there is no increase in planning 

fees. It was noted that planning application fees are set nationally by central government, though an 

increase is being discussed. On discretionary services, it was noted that they were increased in the 

last round in excess of 10% and it was felt that that they would remain at the current rate as they are 

embedded. Increases have been brought in as costs did not meet the staff costs to implement the 

service.  

  

Cllr England asked if there is likely to be an announcement with regards to an increase in planning 

fees. It was stated that some correspondence has been received from the Secretary of State 

regarding a consultation in the new year, though this is yet to be fixed. Cllr England asked what 

impact there would be on budget if an inflationary increase was applied to planning fees. It was stated 

that this was unknown though they currently bring in £1.3-1.4m per annum so a £200k increase could 

be expected.  

  

The Chair noted that the nationally-set fee is not currently enough to cover the work.  

  

Referring back to Cllr England's questions on the size of the green bins, TPugh noted the FAQs that 

state green bins were provided for smaller storage areas and that the introduction of the service won't 

change this and that the same price will be applied regardless of the size of the bin. Cllr England 

commented on the perception of value, to which TPugh stated that costs are calculated on the cost of 

collection.  

  

Page 5



                                                              Chairman  

A question was raised regarding the consultation on planning fees and it was asked if this was just on 

fees or also on future planning matters. ARobinson stated that this was unknown and that they have 

only been informed of a consultation on fees, though there may be further consultations regarding 

wider aspects of the planning system in the new year. It was noted that the Secretary of State is due 

to consult on national policy frameworks around local plans though they are unsure when this will take 

place.  

  

Cllr England commented on the waste transformation strategy and referred to the £1.4m savings over 

2 years, noting that this was not highlighted in the presentation. It was stated that this is the saving on 

costs as there are current pressures on agency spend as well fuel and transport costs, and therefore 

there will be a saving of £134k on budget rather than actual cash spend.  

  

A comment was raised regarding the suggestion that they would not spend on new wheeled bins until 

2027. It was confirmed that there is already a rolling £100k programme on new bins and this is just 

adding in the fifth year.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp referred to the roll out of the green bin charging structure and suggested that 

messaging may be lost given that the current focus will be around Christmas rather than garden 

waste and asked if reminders will be sent out to residents regarding the process. TPugh confirmed 

that there will be comprehensive communication, including a mail out, advertising on the side of 

refuse vehicles and via social media. The Chair asked when letters will be sent out. TPugh confirmed 

that these would be sent out in January and that a pack will be sent to residents once they have 

signed up and paid for the scheme.  

  

Councillor Timmis commented that some residents have raised concerns on how they sign up to the 

green bin payment scheme and asked if the letter will provide a manual process for those unable to 

use IT. It was noted that whilst they don't wish to encourage this, it is possible to sign up by calling the 

customer contact centre. It was stated that the budget has allowed for additional resourcing to support 

this. The Chair commented that the online form could also be accessed via libraries and community 

centres.  

  

Cllr Sutton asked if four houses signed up together if they would share one bin. It was confirmed that 

it would be up to households to arrange this.  

  

Cllr Foster referred back to the report and the suggestion that a take up of over 60% for the garden 

waste subscription would require additional investment. TPugh confirmed that the budget is based on 

a 30% take up.  

  

The Chair asked what level of take up has been seen in areas that have already implemented the 

garden waste subscription. TPugh confirmed that the 30% take-up rate is based on what has been 

seen in other areas.  

  

Cllr England commented on the capital bids for the adventure ground improvement programme in 

appendix C, noting that there is a lot of spending considered for next year with no further spending in 

the following years and asked if they had considered delaying this. It was confirmed that this was 

already in the budget and had been realigned having already been delayed.  

  

Cllr Stevens referred to the technology reserve and asked how the digitisation programme is coming 

along. It was noted that those who could comment on this were in the Finance and Resources 

meeting. It was confirmed that there is a strategy for this and that there are options to bring this 

forward. It was also noted that this item links up with mapping.  

  

Page 6



                                                              Chairman  

The Chair commented on the rolling budget for CCTV and asked if this is required. It was stated that 

this is to replace equipment over time.  

  

Cllr England noted the fleet replacement programme and asked for clarification on the fluctuation in 

numbers. It was stated that this is due to the rolling programme as there have been delays in the 

market with some vehicles they intended to purchase this year delayed into next year. Cllr England 

asked if they are making a less environmentally optimal purchase due to a need to replace vehicles. It 

was advised that they do not buy vehicles unless it makes sense to do so and the most 

environmentally beneficial vehicles are purchased to ensure that new vehicles are of a better 

standard than the ones they are replacing. It was noted that they are not yet in a position to replace 

current vehicles with electric refuse vehicles, though this is an aim for the future. The Chair asked 

what the current lifecycle is of a refuse vehicle. It was noted that it is around 7 years.  

  

Cllr England asked if replacing vehicles at the optimum time reflects the difference in reliability of 

different vehicles. It was stated that it this is a judgement call for the fleet manager. In response to a 

question regarding what happens to vehicles once they are replaced, it was confirmed that they are 

sold on.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp referred to appendix G regarding the budget for the Water Garden fencing and asked 

for further clarification on what this fencing is required for. It was confirmed that it is for the benched 

areas by the Italian beds to replace the temporary and older fencing. Cllr England asked if there was 

a possibility for an application of SIL funds for this, to which it was stated that they would do this if 

possible.  

  

The Chair thanked the officers for their attendance and councillors for their contribution.  

 
8  WORK PROGRAMME 

 

The Chair noted the size of the programme for January. It was advised that the KPI item may be 

moved to February.  

  

In response to a report on the digital strategy, it was noted that a report was not planned. The Chair 

advised that this would go through Finance and Resources. It was advised that there are a number of 

work streams that sit beneath the transformation and digital strategy, and whilst some relate to 

planning, they are primarily related to software and making systems more efficient so there was no 

intention to bring a report to the Committee. It was agreed a general update on the work underway as 

part of this strategy could be provided. The Chair asked if this would be included under the quarterly 

performance update. It was agreed that the work could be expanded upon as part of the digitalisation 

update in the quarterly report. It was stated that an update on how this will affect the core areas 

covered by the Committee would be beneficial. It was confirmed that this is not yet on the Finance 

and Resources Work Programme and it was agreed that the item would be looked at further. The 

Chair added that councillors could also attend Finance and Resources meetings and that any items of 

relevance could be brought to the Committee. It was stated that strategies under the master strategy 

should highlight how officers will drive a better or more efficient service.  

  

Cllr Timmis referred to her request at the last meeting regarding acronyms and asked if they could 

also include items on climate change given that the Committee also focuses on the environment. The 

Chair confirmed that each report should have its own set of acronyms listed. LFowell confirmed that 

she could include the words when officers provide the Work Programme.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp commented that he had attended the Water Resources South East Board as chaired 

by Affinity and Thames Water where he asked if they would be prepared to speak to borough 

councils. Cllr Beauchamp confirmed that he would send details of key contacts once the minutes have 

Page 7



                                                              Chairman  

been released so that the Committee can invite them. The Chair confirmed that if there is capacity for 

this subject then they can be included within the Work Programme.  

  

Cllr England asked if there is a regular way to discuss recycling over the years, noting that there is not 

an annual recycling assessment. Cllr England referred to a previous request from Cllr Hobson on an 

investigation into recycling. It was noted that councillors went on a tour to see what happens to 

recycling and that it would be useful to know what is now happening to recycling.  

  

The Chair stated that he is keen for the Work Programme to include items that members want to 

cover and that he is happy to speak to officers to look into this further.  

  

There being no further business, the Chair closed the meeting at 8:56pm.  

 

ACTION: Further update on digitalisation to be included as part of the quarterly report.  

 

 
 
 

Page 8



Strategic Planning & Environment OSC Action Points - October 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Action point Responsible 
officer 

Date action 
completed 

Response 

12 
October
2022 

HPeacock and MParr to check if 
prediction of 30,000 cars by 2030 
includes development of local plan 

H Peacock 30/12/22 LF sent to committee 01/12/22 

12 
October 
2022 

To circulate the outstanding debt 
figure. 

A Robinson 31/10/22 LF sent to committee 31/10/22 

8 Nov 
2022 

H Peacock to report back 
complaints figures. (complaints 
policy) 
 

H peacock 14/11/22 LF sent to committee 01/12/22 

8 Nov 
2022 

Richard Le Brun’s  team to contact 
Ashridge about dumping of green 
waste and invasive species 

R Lebrun  Ongoing 

6 Dec 
2022 

Further update on digitalisation to be 
included as part of the quarterly 
report. 

A Robinson  To be completed on next report cycle 

     

 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Food Service Plan 2022/2023 

Date: 10th January 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor  Julie Banks, Portfolio Holder for Community and Regulatory Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: 1. Food Service Plan 2022/23 

2. Food Service Recovery Plan 2021-24 

Background papers: 

 

None 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

ECP - Environmental and Community Protection 

FSA - Food Standards Agency  

FHRS  - Food Hygiene Rating System 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Emma Walker, Head of Regulatory Services 

 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228861 (ext. 2861) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To provide Members with sufficient information 

to approve the FSA: COVID 19 Local Authority 

Food Service Recovery Plan in place of the Food 

Service Plan 2022/2023. 

 

 

   

Strategic Planning and Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 10

Agenda Item 7

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. Approve the continuation of the use of the Food 

Standards Agency Covid 19 Recovery Plan to 

guide the work of the Food Safety Team as 

detailed in the Food Service Recovery Plan. 

 

Period for post policy/project review: None 

 

1 Introduction/Background:  

1.1. The Service Plan is dedicated to the food law enforcement functions undertaken by the Environmental 

Health Service, Environmental and Community Protection (ECP), Neighbourhood Delivery Directorate. The 

Service Plan includes details of works carried out under food safety legislation. 

1.2. The scope of the service plan covers specific areas relating to: 

• Food safety and hygiene enforcement 

• Infectious disease investigations 

1.3. The Food Service Plan expresses the Council’s commitment to the development of the food service and 

the requirements set by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) who monitors and audits local authorities’ 

activities on food law enforcement. The Service Plan helps to ensure that the national priorities and 

standards are addressed and delivered locally. 

1.4. The FSA, in the Framework Agreement, requires that the Food Service Plan be suitably approved, whether 

this is by Senior Officers or by members. The format of the service plan is dictated by the Framework 

Agreement and must cover the following areas: 

• Service aims and objectives 

• Background 

• Service delivery 

• Resources  

• Quality Assessment  

• Review 

 

2 Key Issues/proposals 

2.1 Purpose of the Food Service Plan - Service Aims and Objectives 

The service plan outlines the work the council will undertake to ensure they carry out their statutory 

obligations as the competent food authority within Dacorum. This involves intervention planning and 

implementation that is undertaken in line with the regulators code in a proportionate, accountable, 

consistent, transparent and targeted manner.  

2.2 The Food Safety service plays a fundamental role in ensuring that the residents of Dacorum have an 

informed choice of where they can safely purchase food and drink. The Food Service also assist food 

businesses by providing advice on a range of food safety matters that can aid economic growth and 

prosperity.    
Page 11



2.3 The council aims to ensure that the food team is adequately resourced to deliver the food service within 

Dacorum despite increasing demands and difficulties recruiting permanent staff in recent years. All 

officers are appropriately trained and authorised to carry out a wide range of statutory functions.   

2.4 The Food team, working together with other council departments and the public, ensure we have up to 

date information regarding the food businesses operating within our district. Ensuring this information is 

up to date enables us to focus on high risk premises and allocate our resources where they are needed 

most in order to protect the wider public health. 

2.5        COVID 19 Pandemic - Impact on the Food Service Plan and the Recovery Plan.   

The objectives and the implementation of the Food Service plan dated 2021/2022 have continued to be 

been significantly affected by the COVID 19 Pandemic. The objectives have not been met fully due to the 

diversion of resources to help with the councils COVID 19 response. This has been the main priority of the 

Environmental and Community Protection Department as a whole since the pandemic began.  

2.6 Resources from the food team had been deployed to carry out local contact tracing, workplace outbreak 

investigations, Covid 19 complaint investigations and a range of targeted campaigns outlined in section 8 

of the Food Service Plan.   

2.7 The Food Standards Agency issued the COVID-19 Local Authority Recovery Plan with associated 

guidance/advice at the time of writing the service plan for 2021/22. These documents outlined how the 

FSA expect food and feed enforcement authorities to respond to the impacts of COVID-19 on delivery of 

official food and feed controls. Dacorum have followed this guidance throughout the pandemic. The 

guidance and advice outlined in the FSA plan aim to ensure that during the period of recovery from the 

impact of COVID-19, local authority resources are targeted where they add greatest value in providing 

safeguards for public health and consumer protection in relation to food. It also aims to safeguard the 

credibility of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). 

2.8  We continue to follow the COVID 19 Local Authority Recovery Plan which covers the period from 1 July 

2021 to 2023/24. Dacorum have followed this recovery plan instead of the usual requirements in full of 

the Food Safety Service Plan 2021/2022 this will be the same for the 2022/23 Service Plan period.  

2.9 Whilst the team are working to return to business as usual we will continue reporting back to the FSA at 

regular intervals by completing the Temperature Check surveys to identify at the earliest opportunity any 

problems that we may have following this plan. Any deviation to the plan will be reported to the Portfolio 

Holder at regular meetings with the Service.  

2.10     The team continue to meet or exceed the deadlines for recovery in the FSA Covid 19 Recovery Plan and 

complete each temperature check as requested by the FSA.  Subject to the recovery continuing as 

outlined we aim to draft and complete a business as usual service plan for the 2024/25 period.  

3 Options and alternatives considered 

3.1 None – this is a continuation of the Food Standards Agency Covid Recovery Plan which covers the period 

2021-2024 in line with FSA Guidance and requirement’s to ensure we meet our statutory obligations.   

4 Consultation 

4.1  Resident Services Board and Julie Banks- Portfolio Holder for Community and Regulatory Services have 

been consulted.  

5 Financial and value for money implications: 

5.1 There are no financial or value for money implications associated with this, as the service plan sets out 

how the Council complies with the requirements of the Food Standards Agency 

 

Page 12



6 Legal Implications 

6.1 The Framework Agreement on Official Feed and Food Controls by Local Authorities, issued by the Food 

Standard Agency, provides a way to implement the Food Standards Agency powers under the Food 

Standards Act to influence and oversee local authority enforcement activity. 

The Agreement details: 

• Publicly available local service plans to increase transparency of local enforcement services 

• agreed feed and food law enforcement standards for local authorities 

• enhanced monitoring data with greater focus on inspection outcomes and which provides more 

detailed information on local authority performance 

• An audit scheme aimed at securing improvements and sharing good practice 

6.2 The Food Service plan is therefore required to meet these requirements, and set out as per the 

agreement the way the Council will conduct its duties around food safety enforcement, education and 

compliance. 

7 Risk implications: 

Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No 
   Separate risk register in place? No 

The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised below. N/A 
The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing the recommendations in this report: 
 

Risk Description  Mitigations  
RAG 

Status  

Failure to meet statutory duties 
under the Framework Agreement 

 The Food Service Plan is compliant with these 
requirements 

 The service plan also takes into account FSA 
requirements and guidance around covid-19 
recovery 

 

Failure for the service plan to be 
approved through the correct 
means 

 The SPAE OSC report is the first part to ensure 
compliance, with the report then going to 
Cabinet for final approval 

 

 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1 The Food Service Plan documents how legal requirements are to be met, and has no detrimental impact 

on the areas concerned in this section. 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

9.1  The aspects seeking approval are expected to have a hugely positive impact on health and wellbeing, as 

well as community safety, by putting in place a proactive scheme that addresses matters evidenced 

within the area. 

9.2 The Food Service Plan sets out a risk based approach, in line with the requirements of the Food Standards 

Agency, to ensure that food produced, manufactured, stored and sold within Dacorum Borough Council is 

safe for human consumption 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

10.1 The resourcing necessary to carry out the service plan is detailed within it. 

 

Page 13



11 Conclusions:  

11.1 If the Food Service Plan is not approved then it opens the risk of non-compliance to the Food Standards 

Agency Framework Agreement, and the potential for the Council to be audited and / or action to be taken 

against it to increase.  

Therefore, in conclusion, it is recommended that the draft Food Service Plan is approved to ensure 

compliance. 

Page 14



Page 1 

 
 

Dacorum Food Safety Recovery Plan 2022/2023 

Introduction 

With the covid-19 pandemic, there has been a knock on effect to services especially around where proactive 

inspection regimes are in place, being mainly: 

 Food Safety Inspections 

 Health and Safety Inspections 
 

Food Safety and Health & Safety inspections are determined by a risk rating inspection regime and are statutory.  For 

these, the governing bodies (Food Standards Agency and Health & Safety Executive) have set the way forward.  

Health and Safety inspections have been maintained throughout the covid-19 pandemic, with increased visits related 

to covid-19 risk assessments, safe operating procedures and general risks. Therefore, no specific recovery plan is 

required for this element. 

1. Food Safety Inspections 

1.1 Food Standards Agency Approach 

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) set out in June 2021 their proposal for LA recovery around statutory inspections. 

Dacorum Borough Council made a decision to adopt this plan from the 1st July 2021 as the Food Service Plan as the 

targets outlined for food delivery controls were more realistic during the ongoing pandemic. This plan continues to 

cover the period from 1 July 2021 to 2023/2024.  

The following factors initially shaped the FSA’s approach: 

 the number of ‘new’ food businesses has significantly increased – a large proportion of which are home-based – 
and although some of these may cease trading when the hospitality sector starts to recover, and lockdown 
restrictions are otherwise lifted, the risks associated with them remain largely unknown as initial inspections 
have not been undertaken 

o In 2021/2022 Dacorum continued to receive a significant number of new Food Premises Applications 
with a total of 213 received.  

 the number of ‘new’ food businesses on the ‘high street’ may increase as some existing businesses may change hands while 
others may start up to capitalise on potential additional trade from staycations etc over the coming months 

 existing businesses will gradually be re-opening, many after prolonged closure, as restrictions in the hospitality 
sector on eating onsite are lifted, while other businesses will continue to diversify activities to adapt to ongoing 
changes in the market 

 LA resources have been diverted from delivery of food official controls during the pandemic to activities related 
to reducing the spread of COVID 

 the highest risk establishments may have missed one, two or potentially three planned interventions 

 LAs are anecdotally reporting that significant resource is currently being used for non-statutory but important 
wider government priorities such as export certification and support for businesses navigating the new 
arrangements 

 LAs are anecdotally reporting a general trend of reducing hygiene standards in food establishments since the 
onset of the pandemic.   

Page 15



Page 2 

 
 

The FSA approach was also mindful of the profile of establishments across the risk categories, the levels of 
compliance and the typical annual percentages for enforcement actions within each pre-pandemic.   The diagram 
below shows the national picture pre-pandemic as the basis for the recovery approach.  

 

 
1.2 Objectives and Assumptions of the FSA recovery plan 

The approach by the FSA has taken on board the following objectives: 

 ensure that LAs: 

- return diverted resources to food teams 

- can identify and focus on those businesses that are trading by continuing to undertake ongoing proactive 
surveillance 

- revert to the expected inspection frequencies in the Food Law Codes of Practice for those businesses posing 
the greatest risk to public health/consumer protection 

 improve hygiene and standards compliance and reduce risks by focusing activity where non-compliance is 
identified and by undertaking appropriate follow-up and enforcement action 

 Ensure more routine operation of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). 

The FSA assumed the following when devising the recovery plan: 

 there will be additional demands and expectations on LAs in relation to compliance and enforcement of COVID 
rules as sectors re-open over the next few months.  
Going into 2022 the restrictions have been gradually lifted and so this has allowed resources to be slowly 
diverted back to the Food team.   

 urgent reactive food safety work will increase as restrictions in the hospitality sector are lifted.  

This was not the case in Dacorum, the reactive work was linked more to non-compliance with Covid 19 
regulations the hospitality sector. 

 planned interventions for food hygiene and food standards will be more complex to undertake and will take 
longer as they must be undertaken in a COVID safe way.  

This was initially the case until the restrictions started to lift in early 2022.  

 compliance standards have dropped so levels of required follow-up and enforcement action needed to address 
the risks to public health/consumer protection will be greater.  

This has been observed in Dacorum with an increased number of compliance revisits being undertaken.  

 
 

1.3 Timelines 

The proposed plan covers 1 July 2021 to April 2023 and beyond with recovery in two phases: 

 Phase 1 - 1 July to 30 September 2021. This has now been completed.  

Page 16



Page 3 

 
 

 Phase 2 – 1 October 2021 to April 2023 (until the revised food hygiene intervention rating scheme are in place) 

There will be a focus on securing compliance in persistently non-compliant businesses.  The proposal for recovery 
aims to reflect that direction of travel.  
 
1.4 Outline of the Recovery Plan 

The key elements of the plan are summarised below: 

 
 
1.5 Principles underpinning the recovery plan 

The FSA proposed that the following principles underpin both phases of the recovery plan:   

 when intelligence suggests risks have increased – and irrespective of the risk category – interventions should be 
undertaken to assess and address those risks. 

 when an onsite intervention is undertaken, subsequent interventions should be programmed as per the Codes of 
Practice requirements. 

 new food hygiene ratings should be given where appropriate interventions are undertaken  

 where non-compliance is found at any intervention, appropriate enforcement action should be taken 

 The use or remote assessments will not be used at Dacorum as it duplicated a lot of the work and didn’t yield the 
results expected when tried after Lockdown 1.  

 
1.6 Impact on Dacorum 

Based on the FSA Phase 1 plan, the priority up to the end of the 2021/22 financial year was:  

 conditional and full approval visits (limited for Dacorum - 7 approved premises in total).  

 management of food incidents and hazards (including outbreaks of foodborne illness)  

 investigation and management of complaints  

 enforcement action in case of non-compliance 

 ongoing proactive surveillance to obtain an accurate picture of the local business landscape and identify: 
open/closed/recently re-opened/new businesses; as well as businesses where there has been a change of 
operation, activities or FBO. 

Dacorum was able to:  

a) Manage the expected increase in necessary reactive work resulting from the lifting of restrictions in the 
hospitality sector, which included carrying out some of the overdue planned interventions. The table 1.1 
below shows the number of premises that were overdue by 30th September 2021.  

 

Page 17



Page 4 

 
 

Table 1.1 

Risk Band  Number overdue at 30th September 2021 

A 0     

B 13 

C 31 

D 185 

 

This did not include the total number of interventions due in 2021/2022, new premises or category E 

premises, which are dealt with by alternative enforcement interventions. This is shown in Table 1.2 below. 

The implementation of this recovery plan will stagger the March 2022 due dates in line with FSA guidance. 

The timeline for each risk band is outlined later in the plan.  

      Table 1.2 

Risk Band Total number of inspections due by March 2022  

A 2 

B 25 

C 63 

D 219 

E 144 

Unrated 218 

Table 1.3 Show’s the progress made during the period of the 30th September 2021 – 31st March 2022 

Risk Band  Total Due (as of the 30/9/2021) Total Remaining  

A 2 0 

B 25 1 

C 63 21 

D 219 144 

Page 18



Page 5 

 
 

E  144 130 

Unrated 218 122 

 

b) assess new businesses and those with change in operation, activities or FBOs so that onsite visits can be 
undertaken where there are concerns around public health/consumer protection and, for others, the 
initial inspection can be prioritised and undertaken in accordance with the Codes of Practice.  
 
This is continuing to happen in 2022/2023 with high risk premises undertaking high risk operations 
being prioritised for inspection over those deemed to be low risk e.g. takeaway v’s home caterer 
making cakes.           

c) plan for resumption of planned intervention programmes for high risk category and non-compliant 
establishments in Phase 2.  

All inspections currently undertaken by the food team are being integrated back in the planned 
intervention programme and the next inspection will take place at the appropriate risk rated 
frequency e.g. A rated premises will be inspected every 6 months, B rated 12 months and so on. In the 
unlikely event that resources are diverted again the food team will prioritise high risk and non-
compliant food businesses for inspection.   

 

 

Based on the FSA Phase 2 plan, the priority for Dacorum from April 2022 to April 2023 will be: 

 

a) implementing planned intervention programmes for high risk category and non-compliant establishments, 
and  

 

b) implementing an intelligence-based approach for low risk category establishments.  

 

c) official controls where the nature and frequency are prescribed in specific legislation and official controls 
recommended by FSA guidance that are undertaken to support trade and enable export  

 

d) reactive work including, enforcement in the case of non-compliance, managing food incidents and food 
hazards, and investigating and managing complaints  

 

e) sampling in accordance with the local authority sampling programme or as required in the context of 
assessing food business compliance, and any follow-up necessary in relation to the FSA Surveillance 
Sampling Programme  

 

f) ongoing proactive surveillance to obtain an accurate picture of the local business landscape and also to 
identify open/closed/recently re-opened/new businesses, as well as businesses where there has been a 
change of operation, activities or FBO  

g) for ‘new businesses’, consideration of registration information and intelligence with appropriate onsite 
interventions carried out where there are concerns around public health/consumer protection  

 

h) for ‘new businesses’ where consideration of registration information and intelligence does not raise 
concerns about public health/consumer protection, initial visits should be prioritised and undertaken in 
accordance with the Codes of Practice and Practice Guidance taking account of the flexibilities provided  

Page 19



Page 6 

 
 

 

i) implementing planned intervention programmes for high-risk category and non-compliant establishments in 
line with the timelines set out in the Recovery Plan 

 

j) implementing an intelligence/information based approach for lower risk category establishments  
 

 

 

It is to be noted by members that this is the plan to recover the Food Service from the effects of Covid 19. The FSA 

will continue to monitor the progress being made by requesting local authorities to complete regular temperature 

check surveys at the end of each milestone set to assess how each local authority is recovering. Due to the length 

of time the length of time recovery plan covers the objectives may change from time to time.  

 

The department is very much still involved in the Local Outbreak Plan response, it is envisaged that this workload 

with decrease in 22/23 and at the time of writing this does seem to be the case. However if it does not this plan 

will need to be revised to take into account the number of available staff that can deliver this project and their 

important role in dealing with the Outbreak phase of the pandemic response.   

Page 20



7 
 

Progress Made:  

The above phases are detailed in the table below and the progress made as of the time of 
writing.  

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 

March 2022  

Conditional and full 

approval visits 

Ongoing  In accordance with relevant 

legislative requirements  

All approvals visits made and 

full approval issued for 1 

premises in 2021/2022.  

Proactive surveillance to 

obtain an accurate 

picture of the local 

business landscape and 

to identify  

- open/closed/recently 
re-opened/new 
businesses 

- change of operation, 
activities or FBO 

Ongoing  Consideration of registration 
information and intelligence 
on the food business 
establishment identified 
through surveillance  

Undertake appropriate onsite 
interventions where there are 
concerns around public 
health/consumer protection  

 

Basic surveillance conducted 
as part of LAEMS return.   

New food business 

establishments where 

consideration of 

registration 

information/intelligence 

indicates low risk 

Ongoing  Initial visits should be 

prioritised and undertaken in 

accordance with the Codes of 

Practice requirements 

Fed into the inspection 

programme.  All inspections 

assigned to officers and initial 

risk assessment conducted. 

From April 2021 until March 

2022 142 new businesses have 

been inspected. PPI 

contractors are assisting with 

clearing the backlog of new 

businesses. Those that remain 

outstanding have been 

assessed as low risk.  

Management of food 

incidents and hazards 

(including outbreaks of 

foodborne illness) 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 

Law Codes of Practice 

Business as usual 

Investigation and 

management of 

complaints 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 

Law Codes of Practice 

Business as usual 

Enforcement action in 

case of non-compliance 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 

Law Codes of Practice and the 

local authority’s enforcement 

policy 

Business as usual 

Page 21



8 
 

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 

March 2022  

FHRS requested revisits  Ongoing  Within three months of 

request if a charge is made 

and within six months of no 

charge but with use of remote 

assessment in place of onsite 

visit in limited circumstances 

on a trial basis (with 

evaluation in place) 

Business as usual 

Sampling  Ongoing In line with local authority 

sampling programme or as 

required in the context of 

assessing food business 

compliance 

Participation in Study 73 

undertaken in March 2022.  

The food team are aiming to 

patriciate in STUDY 74: 

 Hygiene in Takeaway 

Sandwich and Salad bars. 

This survey is running 

between April and October 

22.  

Category A for hygiene  Over the 

period to 

end of 

March 

2022 

All establishments should have 

received an onsite 

intervention and thereafter be 

back in the system for 

interventions in accordance 

with the Codes of Practice  

Target met February 2022.   

Category B for hygiene 

 

Over the 

period to 

end of June 

2022 

All establishments should have 

received an onsite 

intervention and thereafter be 

back in the system for 

interventions in accordance 

with the Codes of Practice  

Dacorum inspected all B 

rated premises except one 

that was temporarily closed 

(Retirement Village Café) by 

the end of March 2022 

ahead of the recovery plan.   

Category C for hygiene – 

less than broadly 

compliant (FHRS 0, 1 or 

2) 

Over the 

period to 

end 

September 

2022 

All establishments should have 

received an onsite 

intervention and thereafter be 

back in the system for 

interventions in accordance 

with the Codes of Practice  

Target met before deadline.  

Dacorum inspected all 

Category C -less than  

broadly compliant food 

businesses by April 2022  

Category D for hygiene – 

less than broadly 

compliant (FHRS 0, 1 or 

2) 

Over the 

period to 

the end of 

December 

2022 

All establishments should have 

received an onsite 

intervention and thereafter be 

back in the system for 

interventions in accordance 

with the Codes of Practice  

This target will be met.  

Page 22



9 
 

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 

March 2022  

Category C for hygiene – 

broadly complaint or 

better (FHRS 3, 4 or 5) 

Over the 
period to 
the end of 
March 
2023 

For establishments with two 

consecutive food hygiene 

ratings of 5 (or equivalent 

stands if outside scope of 

FHRS) one intervention may 

be missed and then the 

establishment put back in the 

system for interventions in 

accordance with the Codes of 

Practice 

For other establishments – 

those with hygiene ratings of 3 

or 4 (or equivalent of outside 

the scope of FHRS - should 

have received an onsite 

intervention and thereafter be 

back in the system for 

interventions in accordance 

with the Codes of Practice 

At the time of writing All 

outstanding C rated premises 

have been inspected except 

for 3 premises: 

1. Public house closed 
for refurbishment. 

2. Sports club  
3. Church Lunch Club.  

 These are all compliant food 

businesses with a rating of 3 

or 4. Dacorum will meet this 

deadline ahead of the 

recovery plan target.  

 

Category D for hygiene – 

broadly complaint or 

better (FHRS 3, 4 or 5) 

Ongoing No interventions will be 

required unless intelligence 

suggests that risks have 

increased  

Dacorum will carry out 

inspections in D rated 

premises if capacity allows it. 

If a complaint is received 

regarding a D rated premises 

it will be investigated 

appropriately. This is 

ongoing in house and with 

the assistance of PPI officers.  

Category E for hygiene Ongoing No interventions will be 

required unless intelligence 

suggests that risks have 

increased  

As above, Dacorum will 

follow up any complaints 

received regarding premises 

that are E- rated if received. 

Recovery funding has 

enabled a support officer to 

start working through our 

AES premises at the time 

writing this service plan.  

 

 

 

Page 23



Page 1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

FOOD SERVICE PLAN 

 

2022-2023 

 

 

Computer Reference: Controlled Document FS 002g 

Updated by:  Rebecca Connolly  

Plan Reviewed:  June 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



Page 2 

 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction 

 1.1       Current and Emerging issues 

 

2. Service Aims and Objectives 

2.1      Aims and objectives 

2.2      Links to corporate objectives and plans 

 

3. Background 

3.1      Local Authority profile 

3.2      Organisational structure 

3.3      Scope of the food service 

3.4      Demands on the food service 

3.5      Enforcement policy 

 

4. Service Delivery 

4.1      Interventions at Food Establishments 

4.2      Food complaints 

4.3      Home Authority and Primary Authority Principles    

4.4      Advice to business 

4.5      Food sampling 

4.6      Control and the investigation of outbreaks and food related ID 

4.7      Food safety incidents 

4.8      Liaison with other organisations 

4.9      Food safety promotion 

4.10      Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS) 

 

5. Resources 

5.1     Financial allocation 

5.2     Staffing allocation 

5.3     Staff development 

 

6. Quality Assessment 

 

7.  Review against Service Plan 

7.1      Review against service plan 

7.2      Identification of any variation from the service plan 

7.3      Areas of improvement 

 

8. Health and Safety Service Plan  

 

Annex 1  DBC Structure link 

Annex 2  Environmental Health Structure April 2022 

Annex 3   Competency Framework July 2021  

Annex 4 Dacorum Food Recovery Plan  

Page 25



Page 3 

 
 

 

 

COVID 19 Statement  

The following food service plan is what the council would generally intend to deliver if we were not recovering 

from the ongoing Covid 19 Pandemic. It has reviewed the progress made in 2021/2022 while the food team have 

been following the Covid 19 Local Authority Plan.  

The Food Service Plan objectives for 2022-2023 follow that of the recovery plan, where the food team can move at 

a faster pace they will.  Resources have been diverted during the pandemic to activities related to reducing the 

spread of COVID-19. The lifting of restrictions in early 2022 has seen resources that were diverted to reducing the 

spread of COVID -19 re-diverted back to the Food team.  

The role of the Council and Environmental Health changed significantly during 2020/2021 and continued into 

2021/2022. The priority has been given to local contact tracing, investigation of workplace outbreaks of COVID-19 

and following up on COVID -19 complaints. These priorities changed slightly in early 2022 in line with government 

guidance issued in February 2022 Covid 19: Response:  Living with Covid-19 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-response-living-with-covid-19)  

The Council has followed the COVID 19 Local Authority Enforcement guidance issued by the FSA throughout the 

pandemic and prioritised business as usual activities in line with this guidance and focused on the risk to public 

health.  

The Council is now continuing to follow the FSA COVID 19 Local Authority recovery plan in order to deliver official 

controls and related activities in food establishments in Dacorum to ensure that businesses are complying with 

the requirements of food law and to enforce those requirements where necessary.  This guidance covers the 

period from 1 July 2021 to 2023/24.  

There is still a small level of uncertainty at this current time due to the ongoing pandemic and resource planning 

has still been particularly difficult. This may require that objectives change throughout the year, however the 

general trend at the time of writing was that the food team were moving back to a more business as usual 

approach to the delivery of food controls and the focus was on recovery 

The Dacorum Food Service Recovery Plan can be found below or in appendix 4 

Dacorum Food 

Safety Recovery Plan 2022.2023

 

   

1. Introduction 

This Service Plan is dedicated to the food law enforcement functions undertaken by the Environmental Health 

Service, Environmental and Community Protection (ECP), Neighbourhood Delivery Directorate. The Service Plan 

includes details of works carried out under food safety legislation. 

The scope of the service plan covers specific areas relating to: 

• Food safety and hygiene enforcement 

• Infectious disease investigations 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-response-living-with-covid-19


Page 4 

 
 

The Food Service Plan expresses the Council’s commitment to the development of the food service and the 

requirements set by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) who monitors and audits local authorities’ activities on food 

law enforcement. The Service Plan helps to ensure that the national priorities and standards are addressed and 

delivered locally. 

The FSA ‘Framework Agreement on Official Feed and Food Controls By Local Authorities’, provides service planning 

guidance and provides the format for this document. This is to enable the FSA to assess our delivery of the Service 

Plan and to enable comparison with (and benchmarking against) other local authorities. 

The FSA, in the Framework Agreement, requires that the Food Service Plan be suitably approved, whether this is by 

Senior Officers or by members. Dacorum Borough Council service plan is approved by senior managers.  

1.1 Current and Emerging issues  

Public Health Agenda  

The food team is looking into ways in which they can feed into the public health agenda.  

The food team will assist UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) previously known as Public Health England during the 

ongoing COVID 19 pandemic and with any other emerging/ existing infectious diseases if required e.g. Monkey Pox. 

The Food team are currently assisting with all types of contact tracing, workplace outbreaks and infectious disease 

complaints as and when they arise. The demand for this compared to the beginning of the pandemic has dropped 

considerably and this has enabled the food team to focus most resources back to delivering the FSA Covid -19 Local 

Authority Recovery Plan.  

National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (nFHRS) 

 

The nFHRS operates in partnership with the Food Standards Agency (FSA) providing consumers with an easy to 
understand single scheme across the UK.  After a programmed food inspection a food premises are given a rating 
(from zero to five) based on the findings of the inspection.  The scheme is operated in strict compliance with the 
nFHRS Brand Standard and monitored to ensure a consistent approach amongst officers. The scope of the FHRS in 
England extends to establishments supplying food direct to consumers. This includes restaurants, cafes, takeaways, 
sandwich shops and other places where people eat food prepared outside of the home, as well as food retailers. 
There are some food businesses within Dacorum that fall outside of the scope of the scheme because they do not 
sell direct to the final consumer e.g. manufacturers who do not have a retail element and businesses that are not 
recognised as a food business e.g. childminders. 

If the food business thinks their rating following an inspection is wrong or unfair they can appeal in writing or 
complete an appeal form and send it to the Food and Health and Safety Officer within 21 days of being notified of 
their rating.  

Page 27

http://www.food.gov.uk/


Page 5 

 
 

The food business also has the “right to reply” which is different from an appeal. It gives the food business an 
opportunity to explain if there were unusual circumstances at the time of inspection or what steps they have taken 
since to rectify contraventions.   

The food business also has an opportunity to request a rescore re-visit but only if the improvements to hygiene have 
been made following an inspection. The council currently charge a fee £185 for this, payable after the request has 
been accepted and carried out within 3 months of the request/payment.   

Of the 1374 registered food premises in Dacorum 1045 are currently rated and the remaining 329 are either awaiting 
inspection or fall outside the scope of the scheme (sensitive, excluded or exempt) or not yet operating.  

Intervention Planning and Implementation 

Whilst primary food hygiene inspections will continue to form an important part of our regulatory function, the Food 

Standards Agency has enabled a more holistic, targeted approach, by using a range of interventions. These include, 

Partial Audits, verification visits, Sampling, etc. In broadly compliant premises rated 3 or above we alternate 

between full and partial inspections and this helps us focus our resources where they are needed most.  

FSA Achieving Business Compliance (ABC) Programme 

The Achieving Business Compliance (ABC) programme was set up in January 2020 to modernise how food businesses 

are regulated by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) and local authorities. This programme is an evolution of The 

Regulating Our Future Change Programme. Work on this programme slowed due to the pandemic but started to 

move forward again in September 2021.  

The programme has three key work streams:  

1) Enterprise level regulatory approaches - designing new regulatory models for a set of large businesses that are 

compliant with regulation and influential in the food chain  

2) Assurance of online food sales - exploring what type of regulatory approaches will be most suitable for different 

online food businesses  

3) Targeted and proportionate regulation for food businesses – making sure local authorities can target their 

resources to the businesses that need it most including the modernisation of the food hygiene delivery model. 

This is a long-term, agile programme of work, expected to take around five years to deliver for the FSA to deliver 

their objectives. The main work stream that will impact on Dacorum’s food team is the proposed modernisation of 

the food hygiene delivery model.  

Food hygiene delivery model project:  

“The food hygiene delivery model, particularly the intervention rating scheme that drives planned interventions, has 

remained, for the most part, fit for purpose in terms of protecting public health. However, it has created challenges 

over recent years as the pace of change in the food industry has increased and against the backdrop of reducing local 

authority resources. This highlights the need to modernise the system to ensure that it is sustainable, drives 

continuous improvements in business compliance, provides the assurance needed to facilitate trade and export and 

maintains public health now and in the future.” (FSA, June 2022) 

The FSA are currently working closely with local authorities to undertake work to modernise the current food 

hygiene delivery model in England, Wales and Northern Ireland and a local authority/ FSA working group has been 

established. The FSA anticipate the modernised model being agreed in 2023/24 with full implementation in 2024/25.  

Page 28



Page 6 

 
 

 To achieve this, the FSA have developed, in collaboration with LAs on the LA/FSA Working Group, a set of proposed 

principles to evaluate the success of the modernised model.  

There are five proposed principles:   

 Effective – protects public health and provides the assurance needed to maintain consumer confidence, 

reduce regulatory burdens on compliant and/or low-risk businesses, and facilitate trade and export now and 

in the future.  

 Risk-based – provides a proportionate, risk-based and consistent approach for dealing with new and existing 

food businesses that is compliant with existing legislation and makes effective use of data, information, and 

intelligence. 

 Adaptable – adapts to different types of food businesses and takes account of current, emerging, and future 

risks (local, regional, national and international) in the food system, changing business models and 

innovation in the food industry. 

 Sustainable – facilitates resilience and capability within local authorities by providing flexibility, enabling and 

encouraging them to target their resources effectively to ensure every intervention adds value and drives 

continuous improvements in business compliance.  

 Considered – takes account of the food hygiene rating scheme so that it can continue to operate successfully 

and maintain consumer confidence; and, where appropriate, the food standards delivery model, other ABC 

programme work streams, and the animal feed intervention rating scheme (where applicable). 

In relation to sustainability, the modernisation of the food hygiene delivery model is not about reducing the level of 

resource required by local authorities, rather it is looking to make the most effective use of resources by ensuring 

that official controls are focused on the highest risk and/or non-compliant businesses. 

 Considered – takes account of the food hygiene rating scheme so that it can continue to operate successfully 

and maintain consumer confidence; and, where appropriate, the food standards delivery model, other ABC 

programme work streams, and the animal feed intervention rating scheme (where applicable). 

At the time of writing of this service plan the FSA have outlined the proposed ‘Headline’ policy for developing the 

modernised model which includes:   

 A targeted intervention rating scheme: 

 focus official controls on the highest risk and/or non-compliant establishments 

 reduce regulatory burdens on those that are compliant and/or low risk, including recognition of sustained 

compliance  

 require follow-up interventions to be undertaken, where appropriate, until compliance is achieved 

 reflect current and future risk management practices and business models 

 align, where appropriate, to the review of the food standards model (recently piloted in England and 

Northern Ireland) 

 clarify the role of food safety culture  

 clarify the aspects of allergens to be considered within the food hygiene intervention rating scheme and the 

division of responsibility for allergens in two-tier local authority areas 

 

 More proportionate approach – risk-based to timescales for initial official controls of new establishments and 

due interventions of existing ones.  

 

 Increased flexibility – as to: 

 

Page 29



Page 7 

 
 

- the methods/techniques of official controls, including use of remote assessment  

- who can undertake official controls and other official activities 

 

 Effective use of data – enable intelligence ( including industry assurance date, where appropriate) to be 

used when risk rating establishments  

 

 Appropriate performance management – framework for monitoring delivery of official controls which 

recognises all activities used to achieve compliance  

Next steps include: 

 Refine the proposed ‘headline’ policy  and principles 

 Paper to FSA Board in September 2022 

 Develop and engage on ‘initial’ policy proposals with local authorities (January 2023) 

The guidance and advice in the FSA Covid 19 Recovery Plan for Phase 2 will apply in England until decisions are made 

in relation to the new proposed revised food hygiene delivery model, and subject to these decisions, until the new 

model is rolled out.  

Local authorities will continue to report to the FSA on performance management. Please see section 4.10 below.  

Health Certificates 

We have had a steady request for health certificates in 21/2022. In total 134 certificates were issued.  Businesses 

wishing to export their food items to destinations outside of the EU may require certification, from this department. 

This is not a statutory duty, however to assist our customers in running their businesses we do provide this service 

for a fee. The certification process has also been streamlined making it easier for our customers to request and pay 

for a certificate and reducing the administrative burden on the food team. However we are expecting the number of 

requests to significantly fall in 2022/2023 due to the relocation in March 2022 of the main food business that utilised 

this service.  

EU Transition  

Exported Products of Animal Origin (POAO) will require Export Health Certificate (EHC) and businesses may request 

these from the Local Authority. As mentioned above DBC intend to assist our customers in running their businesses 

and will operate a fee paying service. . All members of the food team have completed OCQ (CO) – FCCOr Food 

Competent Certification Officer revalidation training in May 2022.   

EHO’s from DBC have attended Imported Food refresher training to ensure officers are competent to undertake the 

inlands checks and take the appropriate action if the situation arises DBC are also a member of the Hertfordshire EU 

Exit Food Resilience Group and attend meetings as and when required.  

DBC have ensured that food & drink businesses can access the most up to date Post –EU Exit guidance on our 

websites relating to importing and exporting food products.  

The impact of leaving the EU on the food team’s workload and resources has been less than expected. This may be 

due to the UK government’s decision to delay checks on food imports from the EU at the time of writing this service 

plan until late 2023.   

 

 

Page 30



Page 8 

 
 

On-line Food Ordering Platforms 

This year a number of the popular on-line food ordering services, including Just Eat and Deliveroo, announced that 

they would be introducing a minimum FHRS rating in order to be listed on their platforms. This is a positive and 

welcome move to raise standards in the industry. 

Although a welcome move, the announcement has placed additional pressures and demands on the Service, 

including: 

 Requests from food business operators to undertake inspections outside the planned inspection 

programme. We have continued to see an increase in revisit requests in 2021/2022. 

  Direct pressure on officers during an inspection to award higher food hygiene ratings. 

 Increase in the number of appeals in relation to FHRS ratings. This has not been demonstrated in 2021/2022 

with food businesses opting to request a rescore revisit instead once a conversation has been had with the 

inspecting officer or Lead Food officer and the reasons for the low ratings explained in full 

2. Service Aims and Objectives 

2.1     Aims and objectives 

• Protection of public health by ensuring the safety of food (including water) used for human consumption 

• Preventing the occurrence and spread of infectious disease of environmental origin 

• Providing accurate and consistent advice and information to businesses and the public 

• Working with food businesses to ensure legal compliance 

  Dacorum Borough Council’s ECP Department are committed to provide ‘a balanced service’ in relation to 

food safety. Our service is driven by the four following criteria and the Regulators Code: 

 Demand driven – complaints/requests, food alerts for action, food poisoning, etc.  

 Inspection driven – programmed food visits, sampling programmes 

 Education driven – home authority principle, primary authority principle, public awareness 

campaigns, FHRS, FSA initiatives etc.  

 Intelligence driven – Food Alerts For Action, port health notifications, sampling 

 

2.2     Links to corporate objectives and plans 

Delivering for Dacorum Corporate Vision  

The corporate vision 2020-2025 includes key areas plus an additional internal area. 

•  A clean, safe and enjoyable environment. 

• Building strong and vibrant communities 

• Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

•  Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those in most need.  

• Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery  

        Climate and Ecological Emergency  - working to deliver net zero carbon 

Page 31



Page 9 

 
 

  

The Food Safety service plays a fundamental role in ensuring that the residents of Dacorum have an informed 

choice of where they can safely purchase food and drink. The Food Service also assist food businesses by providing 

advice on a range of food safety matters that can aid economic growth and prosperity.  

3. Background 

3.1      Local Authority profile 

The Borough of Dacorum is in West Hertfordshire. It is composed of the main towns of Hemel Hempstead, 

Berkhamsted and Tring, plus a number of large and small villages. Dacorum in its present form was created in 1974, 

following a review of local government in England and Wales. 

Dacorum has a population of 155,500 living in 59,938 homes. Based on current trends the population is forecast to 

increase by 15.96% by 2041.  One of the most significant features is the growth of the population in the over 65 age 

group. 

Dacorum has much to offer in terms of business location. Hemel Hempstead is only twenty-five miles (40km) outside 

central London. It sits very closely to motorways, and via the motorway network is well placed for all ports of the 

country and Channel Tunnel and Channel ports for surface travel to Europe.  

The area has always enjoyed diversity of employment and is not dependent upon one employer or industry. This has 

been a big factor in fending off the worst effects of economic downturn, maintaining relatively low levels of 

unemployment. The labour pool covers a wide range of skills. Overall levels of deprivation are low (Dacorum is 

ranked 261 out of 326 English districts).  Dacorum is one of the healthiest areas in the country and levels of crime are 

moderate by national standards and the lowest in the County. 

 

3.2  Organisational structure 

The Council currently implements a Leader with Cabinet style of decision making. (Annex 1 provides a link to DBC’s 

organisational structure.) The Food Safety function sits within Neighbourhood Delivery. It operates under the 

direction of the Team Leader (Environmental Health) who reports to the Head of Regulatory Services, ECP, who in 

turn reports to the Assistant Director for Neighbourhood Delivery. (Annex 2 shows the 2022 ECP structure.) 

The Team Leader (Environmental Health) and Lead Environmental Health Officer (Food, Health & Safety) share the 

role of lead food officer. This role will be supported by the Head of Regulatory Services ECP. Specialist services for 

the food function are provided by external organisations, namely UKHSA as the food examiner and Kent Scientific 

Services as the public analyst, who has been nominated by Hertfordshire County Council Trading Standards 

Department. 

Formal microbiological analysis of food samples and faecal samples is carried out by UKHSA, whilst Kent Scientific 

Services carry out physical and chemical analysis. 

The Council’s Scheme of Delegation filters down the powers to officers to undertake their functions. This is reviewed 

on a regular basis and Food Officers must meet the competencies set out in Annex 3 relevant to their role at 

Dacorum  and meet all CPD (continuing professional development) requirements set by the Chartered Institute of 

Environmental Health (CIEH) which all members of the food team are a member of.  

 

Page 32



Page 10 

 
 

3.3  Scope of the food service 

Protection of public health by ensuring the safety of food (including water) used for human consumption by: 

• Undertaking a program of hygiene inspections / interventions of food premises,  

• Issuing approvals in wholesale businesses supplying food of animal origin.  

• Responding to service requests from food business operators and others 

• Undertaking a program of microbiological food sampling 

• Enforcing the imported food control legislation 

• Implementing an alternative enforcement strategy 

• Promoting food safety  

• Promoting ‘Safer Food, Better Business’ as a recommended food safety management system 

• Responding to food alerts and product withdrawals, as appropriate 

• Continue to issue ratings and stickers under the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (nFHRS), enabling 

members of the public to make an informed choice as to those businesses they choose to purchase food 

from, and to encourage food business operators to improve and maintain hygiene standards 

• Working with businesses to ensure compliance with relevant food safety legislation. 

  Take appropriate enforcement action in accordance with the council’s Enforcement Policy     

       and Food Law Code of Practice and Guidance 

 Preventing the occurrence and spread of infectious disease of environmental origin by: 

• Investigating and controlling cases and outbreaks of infectious disease and providing information and advice 

In addition, the Service undertakes the following related areas of work: 

• Carrying out health and safety inspections 

• Carrying out proactive interventions in Health and Safety 

• Investigating accidents  

• Undertakes skin piercing premises and operator inspections on behalf of the licensing department who are 

responsible for registering all premises/ operators that carry out this function.  

• Providing responses to Land Charge Searches and planning applications for new or altered premises 

• Responding to Health and Safety consultations for licence applications and variations 

• Responding to Freedom of Information requests.  

 Responding to Planning Consultations with regard to contaminated land, air quality, noise,  

Page 33



Page 11 

 
 

food and health and safety. 

 Supporting other Teams within the department as and when required.  

• Attending meetings of the Herts and Beds Food Liaison Meetings, Herts and Beds Sampling Sub- Group, 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, UKHSA Liaison Meetings, the Dacorum Safety Advisory Group, 

EU Exit group, and provide Environmental Health Technical Advice to the Local Resilience Forum. 

COVID 19 Response 

Working in partnership with the NHS and Hertfordshire County Council to carrying out local contact tracing 

within the borough.  This ceased in late December 2021 and was replaced with carrying out Self-Isolation 

welfare checks until the legal requirement to do so was revoked.  

Investigating workplace outbreaks and COVID 19 complaints (see section 8 below) 

Targeted COVID 19 campaigns. 

Attending IMT’s for specific COVID 19 outbreaks  

Attending the COVID 19 subgroups with various other stakeholders/ partners (Internal departments, HCC, 

Fire, Police, PHE, Hertfordshire District & Borough’s)  

1. Outbreak Tactical and Co-ordinating Group 

2. COVID 19 Health Protection Board 

3. District Outbreak Planning  

4. Herts Environmental Health Officers’ COVID-19 Group 

5. Contact Tracing and Self Isolation – Operation Meeting  

6. Internal EH Team Covid Meetings  

  

3.4       Demands on the food service 

Services are delivered from The Forum, Hemel Hempstead between 8.45 am and 5.15 PM on Mondays to Thursdays 

and between 8.45 am and 4.45 PM on Fridays. Inspections of businesses trading outside normal working hours are 

routinely undertaken. There is a duty emergency planning officer appointed, who can contact the Food Team outside 

of normal working hours should an emergency arise.  

 

 

 

 

Page 34



Page 12 

 
 

Specific Demands: 

The Food Safety Service has specific demands placed upon it, as follows:  

• Primary Producers         6 

• Food Manufacturers and packers     32 

• Importers and exporters      6 

 Distributors/ Transporters       29 

 

 Retailers        229 

 

 Restaurants and Caterers       1072 

• Within Dacorum there is an ethnic minority of 9.3 %( Office for the National Statistics, 2011 Census). The 

number and types of food establishments reflect this cultural diversity. Officers have been specifically 

trained on equalities and diversity.  

•  The Food Standards Agency (FSA) encourages local authorities to identify activities in imported food control. 

There are no airports, seaports nor external temporary storage facilities (ETSF) within Dacorum.  3 importers 

have been identified in the district from premises registration forms and local knowledge.  

Distribution of FHRS ratings for Dacorum by establishment type.  

 

 

3.5       Enforcement policy 

Dacorum Borough Council has a documented Environmental Health Enforcement Policy that was approved by 

cabinet in 2021.The policy follows the regulators code and has regard to the Crown Prosecution guidelines.  

 The policy is made available whenever enforcement action is taken and whenever a member of the public requests 

a copy.  

 

 

 

 

 

FHRS rating

Restaurant/ 

Cafe/ 

Canteen

Hotel/ 

Guest 

House

Small 

Retailer

Superm

arket/ 

Hyperm

arket

Caring 

Premise

s

Restaura

nts and 

Caterers - 

Other

Pub/ 

Club

Take-

Away

School/ 

College

Mobile 

Food 

Unit

Manufa

cturers 

and 

Packers

Importers

/ 

Exporters

Primary 

Producers

5 - Very good 183 7 76 26 83 160 96 74 75 35 10 1 2

4 - Good 38 19 3 9 10 18 18 9 3 4 1

3 - Generally satisfactory 12 6 4 2 5 13 1

2 - Improvement required 2 3 3 2 4

1 - Major improvement required 3 3 1 5 1 1

0 - Urgent improvement 

required

1

Total rated establishments 238 7 107 29 96 175 122 115 84 40 14 1 44 23

4 17

5

1

Distribut

ors/ 

Transp

orters

Retailer 

- Other

Page 35



Page 13 

 
 

4. Service Delivery 

4.1 Interventions at Food Establishments  

The Council is required to follow the Food Law Code of Practice (England) in risk rating premises and setting targets 

for the inspection program. Within the overall objective of achieving 95% of planned interventions (categories A-D) 

each year. Low risk premises (category E) are subject to an Alternative Enforcement Strategy and will be re-assessed 

not less than once in any 3 year period. As mentioned above the food team are currently working towards the FSA 

Covid 19 Recovery Plan. The milestones that the LA are required to meet are set out in this separate plan. However 

where resources have allowed the food team have been operating at a faster pace and have reached some of the 

deadlines more quickly allowing us to carrying out some inspections sooner than anticipated.  This is reflected in the 

table below.   

The Food Law Code of Practice defines different types of interventions that local authorities may use in the future 

and the circumstances in which they may be applied. A range of interventions will be introduced as part of a plan to 

improve compliance with food law, whilst maximising use of resources. The selection of interventions will be based 

on risk assessment. 

Table: Food Planned Inspections 2021/2022 – These figures include outstanding inspections from 2020/2021 

  
Interventions 

Due 

Interventions 
Outstanding on 

31/3/2022 
Percentage 
Achieved 

Premise Rating - A 5 0 100% 

Premise Rating - B 41 2 95% 

Premise Rating - C 124 21 83% 

Premise Rating - D 286 144 49.7% 

Premise Rating - E 224 130 42% 

Totals 680 *297 56% 

    

 

*The pandemic, subsequent lockdowns and government restrictions significantly impacted on the council’s ability to 

carry out all planned inspections in 2021-2022 which also included a number of outstanding inspections from the 

previous year. The FSA guidance issued was followed all times. The outstanding inspections mainly relate to food 

businesses that closed (some permanently) due to restrictions (e.g. public houses, restaurants), residential care 

homes (generally very complaint vulnerable group settings) and home caterers.   In comparison to other Local 

Authorities within Hertfordshire, Dacorum’s food team did exceptionally well to inspect as many food businesses as it 

did during this period.   We have also met the Covid 19 Local Authority recovery plan deadline for B rated premises 

before the deadline of June 2022.  

In addition to the programmed interventions, new businesses and those trading occasionally in Dacorum are 

inspected during the year. In 2021/2022 the council received 213 food premises registration application forms. 

These were predominantly new businesses, the minority were existing businesses updating their food business 

details. Nationally there has been an unprecedented number of new food business registrations throughout the 

pandemic and this continued during 2021/2022. These were reviewed on a risk basis  

The council was fortunate enough to receive funding from the FSA to assist us with prioritising these new businesses 

for inspection in the summer of 2021. The use of the PPI contractors above have also been fundamental in 

inspecting these premises. A majority of the premises that have yet to be inspected are low risk or where not 

Page 36



Page 14 

 
 

currently operating when contacted despite giving a specific opening date on the food premises registration form. A 

number of the businesses contacted to arrange an inspection had never started trading or had ceased trading at that 

point.   

The move back to business as usual as restrictions have lifted in early 2022 and ongoing use of PPI contractor’s will 

enable the council to clear the remaining back log in due course. In the meantime the food premises registration 

acknowledgement letter sent to food businesses provides lots of information and advice about operating a food 

business safely and what is required to comply with the law. This is still a key area for prioritisation in line with the 

Covid 19 LA Recovery Plan.  

There are a number of premises that fall outside of the inspection programme where the risk is considered to be so 

low, regulation is unnecessary, such as vending machines, a florist selling chocolate. We also keep a record of 

premises were the application of FSA Guidance on the application of EU food hygiene law (adopted in to national 

law) relating to community and charity food provision 3A para 2 & 3 is applicable. These types of premises are 

recorded as businesses that fall outside of the food planned inspection programme. We do not carry out any 

interventions within these businesses unless we receive a complaint.  

We made successful bids to Hertfordshire County Council Public Health for funding to appoint a contractors to help 

backfill the occupied roles who were redeployed/ diverted to assist with the COVID -19 response in 2020. The council 

also engaged another contractors on a Paid per inspection (PPI) basis. The contractors started in August 2020 and 

started working through the backlog of inspections. Further restrictions and business closures in November 2020- 

January 2021 meant that some businesses were unable to be inspected and a significant number had yet to re-open 

since the easing of restrictions has commenced e.g. licensed premises without outside seating. This resulted in 

number of outstanding inspections going into 2021/2022. One of the contractors appointed finished in September 

2021, but the PPI contractors remained and continued to assist the council with inspecting predominantly new 

businesses but as quickly as these were inspected new food premises applications were received.  

The main focus throughout 2021/2022 has been the C19 response, dealing with workplace outbreaks, complaints 

and local contact tracing that has pulled significant resources from the food team.  

In addition to the food complaints and food premises registration application forms received throughout 2021/2022 

the food team has also received a steady number of   general food service requests , including requests for Health 

Certificates (not due to EU exit as countries are outside the EU), nFHRS queries, new business advice, trading 

standard complaints etc.  

The Council’s priority has been the C19 response but we have followed the FSA guidance and undertaken approval 

visits due or new, rescore revisits and followed up on complaints. We have taken the relevant enforcement action 

were deemed necessary and continued to serve notices, undertake closures and conduct interviews under caution.  

Due to the amount of work that using remote assessments generated in the initial lockdown and the level of 

unsatisfactory responses received, this is an intervention option that the council has decided not to use in 

2021/2022.   

The food team have been operating a reactive service in order to protect public health and responding to complaints 

as and when they arise. This has resulted in a number of notices being served, voluntary closures and PACE 

interviews by post.  

 

 

Page 37



Page 15 

 
 

Table: Enforcement Action Taken 2021/2022 

Voluntary closure 3 

Seizure, detention & surrender of food 0 

Improvement notices 5 
 

Written warnings 227 

Simple Cautions  1 

Prosecutions concluded 0 

 

Compliance revisits are undertaken in less than broadly compliant businesses where enforcement action would be 

warranted if compliance is not achieved in line with the Food Law Code of Practice (England) and the nFHRS.  If 

further non-compliance is identified formal action following DBC’s EH enforcement policy is taken.   

The emphasis of the service is to protect public health by enabling businesses to understand their legal obligations 

and measures which they must take to ensure food safety, rather than the blind pursuit of inspection targets. Advice 

and assistance are provided, particularly during programmed inspections / interventions, and training opportunities 

offered, to help businesses to control food safety hazards. 

We have adopted a risk based approach in line with the Food Law Code of Practice (England) when making decisions 

to focus our limited resources when delivering the food service in conjunction with assisting with the council’s Covid 

19 response and delivering the Covid 19 LA recovery plan 

4.2     Food complaints 

The purpose of investigating complaints regarding food sold within the borough, (whether the food originated within 

the UK or elsewhere) is to: 

• Provide a service to the public 

• Resolve problems which pose a risk to public health 

• Provide information to the food industry in order to raise and maintain standards 

• Offer advice and guidance, where appropriate, in food hygiene matters to food businesses and consumers 

• Carry out appropriate enforcement action, where required 

• Prevent future complaints 

• Identify whether there is a wider national issue 

It is difficult to predict the level of complaints for 2022/2023, but there has been a slight increase since restrictions 

have lifted and people are able to eat out again.   

Overall, more customers seem to be contacting food companies directly regarding complaints about food, as a 

means of being compensated for their inconvenience.  

Page 38



Page 16 

 
 

The Council’s procedure on food complaints is to investigate where there is a genuine public health implication or 

where an offence may have been committed and the complainant is willing to give evidence in court. Customers are 

referred back to the retailer if compensation only is being sought. The Council has procedures for dealing with food 

complaints. Depending on the nature, anonymous complaints are not usually investigated but the complaint is 

entered on the premises database and considered on the next scheduled inspection.  

Other complaints relating to hygiene at premises are risk rated by the receiving officer and an investigation visit may 

be made if deemed necessary. 

(Many requests for general advice and information are also received from the public, local organisations, businesses 

and new food operations, see 4.4 below.) 

Food Safety requests received 

 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 

Food Hygiene 
Complaint 

20 3 10 10 11 7 

Hygiene of 
premises 
complaint 

106 124 81 60 46 53 

 

4.3     Home Authority and Primary Authority Principles 

Dacorum Borough Council recognises the importance of constructive partnerships with food businesses that can 

deliver reliable advice and coordinated and consistent enforcement.  

The Council’s policy is to support: 

• The Local Government Association (LGA) Home Authority Principle  

• The Office of Product Safety and Standards, Primary Authority Principle 

All food officers follow the Primary Authority (PA) principle.  

Before undertaking a planned routine food hygiene inspection, members of the Food Team will check the online 

Primary Authority Register to see if the business has a primary authority partnership.  

The officer will check if there is a specific inspection plan or assured guidance that they must take note of. The 

officers will feedback as required to both the PA and the business once the inspection has concluded 

If enforcement action is warranted the officer will ensure they notify the PA before taking action within the 

designated time period or retrospectively if the event of an imminent risk to health.  

4.4 Advice to business 

The advisory and training elements of the service are viewed as key to the Service’s effectiveness (see section 3). 

The main objectives are to: 

• provide advice and information to food business operators and food handlers 

Page 39



Page 17 

 
 

• recommend practical, good food hygiene practices, in accordance with any Industry Guides or codes of 

practice where appropriate 

• promote continuous improvements in food hygiene standards 

Most contact with businesses arise during inspections, where the opportunity is taken to provide advice and 

information and to promote training opportunities. Small and medium size enterprises (and the voluntary sector 

when information is requested) are targeted, as expert advice is often not readily available to them. Close liaison is 

maintained with Council service providers, such as Adventure Playgrounds. 

The council have recently introduced a fee for Food Hygiene advisory visit request (preopening/ new businesses/ pre 

inspection) with a report of £85 per hour.  

The Food Safety page of the Council’s website is reviewed annually.  This is currently being updated.  

The council continues to promote Safer Food Better Business to businesses that require support in producing a 

documented food safety management system. New premises are also identified at the planning stage, and when the 

applicant may be targeted with food safety information. The council have recently introduced a 3 Hours Safer Food 

Better Business Coaching session for a fee of £125 (plus 50% fee per additional person from the same business).  

An Environmental Health Officer or Technical Officer regularly attends Dacorum Safety Advisory Group meetings, 

where the organisers of events due to be held in Dacorum are invited to attend to obtain relevant food safety 

guidance.  

218 general food requests were received in 2020/2021, many from existing businesses or from people considering 

setting up new businesses. (The press, local publications and planning application lists are also used as methods to 

contact new and potential businesses.) 

608 total Food Service requests (Including General Food Safety Requests, Hygiene of Premises Complaints, Food 

Alerts, Food Hygiene Rating System Requests and Health Certificate Requests) were received in2021/2022  

4.5      Food sampling 

The Council’s policy is to undertake sampling where required by statute and where appropriate, to participate in 

sampling programme organised by the Public Health England and the Herts and Beds Food Liaison Group. Samples 

are also collected in outbreak situations or where there is an allegation of food poisoning. Follow up action is taken 

as a result of unsatisfactory results. 

Food samples taken 

   Year  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-
2020 

2020/2021 2021/2022 

Total 
Samples  

38 24 6 0 0 0 7 

 

The Herts and Beds Food Liaison Group, is represented by the Team Leader (Environmental Health) or the Lead 

Officer (Food, Health and Safety) or an allocated deputy from Dacorum Borough Council. 

There is also a sampling sub group that has a representative from Dacorum Borough Council.  

All local authorities have a budgetary provision with UKHSA for sampling.  

Page 40



Page 18 

 
 

2021/2022 

During 2020/2021 we have followed the FSA Covid 19 Local Authority Enforcement Guidance in terms of what 

official controls need to be undertaken while we also divert resources to assist with the council’s ongoing COVID 19 

response. As a result of this we have not been in a position to participate in many National or Local sampling studies, 

but as restrictions lifted in early 2022 the food team were able to participate in National Study 73: Salmonella and 

Listeria in pork, lamb, chicken and duck scratchings/crackling. All samples submitted returned satisfactory results.  

We have, however, always ensured that we are able to undertake formal sampling as part of an outbreak/ complaint 

investigation if and when necessary 

 

4.6   Control and investigation of food related infectious disease 

The service will investigate food related infectious disease notifications in accordance with procedures agreed with 

UK Health Security Agency (UKHAA). Investigations of outbreaks will be undertaken in accordance with the Joint Plan 

for the Control of Communicable Diseases in Hertfordshire. When viral outbreaks are identified general guidance is 

offered to control the spread of the disease. 

Notifications of persons in high-risk groups such as food handlers,   those working in health care, children under 5 

years and older children and adults who may find it difficult to implement good standards of personal hygiene, will 

be actioned as quickly as possible, together with more serious infections such as E.coli O157:H7, Typhoid, Botulism 

and cryptosporidium. 

Reported infectious diseases 

Year 2022/2023 

Salmonella             0 

Campylobacter 0 

Cryptosporidium 0 

E.coli 0157 1 

ID/FP Enquiries 1 

 

UKHSA stopped referring individual routine infectious disease cases to local authorities during this time period due 

to the COVID 19 pandemic. The small number of cases above were UKHSA had a particular concern.   

The resource implications of such incidents in the forthcoming year are difficult to predict particularly as the 

pandemic continues. In the last pre-pandemic operational year we received the following number:  

Year 2019/2020 

Salmonella 23 

Campylobacter 75 

Cryptosporidium 14 

ID/FP Enquiries 5 

 

 

 

Page 41



Page 19 

 
 

4.7      Food safety incidents 

The Food Law Code of Practice (England) details steps that must be taken when a Food Alert is issued or a food 

safety incident occurs within the borough. 

Procedures are in place to ensure that the Council complies with the Code of Practice. These include: 

• Ensuring all members of the food team are members of the FSA Smarter Communications platform and 

receive the Food Alerts by email.  

• That the secure ECP mailbox is monitored daily for any FAFA received which is then forwarded to the duty 

officer to action.  

• Maintaining emergency planning arrangements to respond to out-of-hours emergencies.  

• Determining action to be taken in response to a food alert 

• Notification of the relevant Central Government department when required if an incident occurs within 

Dacorum 

• Invoking the Joint Outbreak Control Plan where an incident involves communicable disease 

Date 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020/2021 2021/2022 

No of Food 
Alerts  For 
Action 

3 1 2 3 1 1 

 

In June 2010 the Food Alert system was changed. This resulted in a decline in the numbers as the Food Alerts For 

Information became Product Recall Notices instead and do not need to be recorded for audit by the FSA. The Food 

Alerts for Action continue to be recorded in the same way.  

4.8       Liaison with other organisations 

The Council has made various arrangements to ensure that enforcement action taken within the Borough is 

consistent with that of neighbouring local authorities.  

It is an active participant in: 

• The Herts and Beds, Food Liaison Group (and Sampling Working Group) 

• Inter-Authority Audits organised by the Food Liaison Group 

• The Dacorum Safety Advisory Group 

Liaison with other bodies includes: 

 FSA 

  Office of Product Safety and Standards 

 LGA 

 Hertfordshire County Council Trading Standards 

 Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 

 Ofsted (child care and nurseries) 

 UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) 

 Community Action Dacorum 

Page 42



Page 20 

 
 

 Affinity and Thames Water Companies 

 Hertfordshire Interpreting and Translation Service 

Arrangements are in place for liaison with Planning and Building Control where Environmental Health input is 

required. Partner and cross departmental working also takes place with other Council services e.g. Licensing, Legal 

and Corporate services, Community Safety, Housing, Land Charges, Environmental Services, Resident Services, 

Strategic Housing, Tenants and Leaseholders. 

4.9    Food safety promotion 

Officers keep up to date with all of the FSA Food Safety Campaigns and make sure that they are promoted/ 

advertised on the Councils Social Media Platforms by working closely with the council’s communications team.  

4.10 – Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS) 

The annual Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System return 2021/2022 (due May 2022) provides a summary 

of local authority activity in relation to food law enforcement at food establishments. The completion of the LAEMS 

return is the mechanism in which the LA feedback to the FSA on annual performance.  

In 2021/2022 a bespoke Food Hygiene – Local authority end of year return was devised by the FSA to take in to 

account Covid-19’s impact on Local Authorities Food delivery service. The purpose of the return was to provide 

information on resources and on the delivery of food controls in 2021/22, including the ability of local authorities to 

meet the minimum expectations of the Covid 19 LA Recovery Plan, or as evidence that the local authority has been 

able to move at a faster pace. The information provided would also be used to inform the FSA’s ongoing review of 

the Recovery Roadmap and guidance.  

Due to the ABC programme and the development of the new food hygiene delivery model and the implementation 

of the Covid 19 LA Recovery plan that covers the period of the 1st July 2021 to 2023/24 the bespoke end year return 

will remain in place until the new food hygiene delivery model is implemented.  

In order to monitor the progress against the milestones in the Covid 19 LA recovery plan all local authorities are 

required to complete short interim surveys at certain times throughout the year. The first one is expected at the end 

of June 2022.  

 

5. Resources 

5.1     Financial allocation  

Financial provision has been made for 4 full time equivalent (FTE) posts (excluding the Group Manager ECP and Team 

Leader (Environmental Health), within the Food, Health and Safety Team.   

Officers also undertake specific duties not directly related to the activities considered in this plan (see 3.3 above) and 

contribute to the work of the department as a whole. Based on this 3.75 FTE professional posts are allocated to 

undertake food hygiene controls for 2022/2023.  

Approximately 5% of the Head of Regulatory Services work time is directly attributed to food safety work. The Team 

Leader, Environmental Health spends approximately 30% of their time on Food Safety Work.  

The Department has a fixed budget of £5,000 for legal action costs.  

Page 43



Page 21 

 
 

 

5.2     Staffing allocation 

Approximately 4 FTE work will work on food safety and infectious disease matters by the end of 2022 as well as 

undertake work mentioned in 3.3 above. This is subject to change due to diverted resources to help with the councils 

COVID 19 response.    

The service comprises of: 

Post  Authorisations 

Head of Regulatory 
Services 
Emma Walker  

Inspections 
Hygiene improvement Notices  
Emergency Prohibition Notices  
Remedial Action Notices 
Food Seizure/ Detention 

Team Leader  
(Environmental Health) 
Sarah Stefano  
Newly appointed in 
January 2022. 
Undergoing refresher 
competency training due 
to complete in 
November 2022.   

Inspections 
 

Lead Officer  
Food, Health and Safety 
Rebecca Connolly   
 

Hygiene improvement Notices  
Emergency Prohibition Notices  
Remedial Action Notices  
Inspections 
Food Seizure/ Detention 

Environmental Health 
Officer  
Kal Ifegwu  

Hygiene improvement Notices  
Inspections 
Food Seizure/ Detention 
Emergency Prohibition Notices  
Remedial Action Notices  
 

Environmental Health 
Officer  
Jolade Alayo  

Hygiene improvement Notices  
Emergency Prohibition Notices  
Remedial Action Notices  
Inspections 
Food Seizure/ Detention 

Environmental Health 
Officer  Mark Dewey  

Hygiene improvement Notices  
Inspections 
Food Seizure/ Detention 

 

Activity Projected Resource Required to Deliver the 
Service  

Inspections  1.23 

Approved Establishments 0.02 

Sampling  stc* 

Revisits stc* 

Investigations  0.25 

Formal Action  0.2 

Page 44



Page 22 

 
 

Training  stc* 

Liaison  0.04 

Business Advice/ Liaison  0.2 

Management  0.4 

Total  stc* 

 

stc* / subject to change due to significant changes in scale of service delivery 

5.3   Staff development 

Training needs and competence are assessed on appointment and then at annual personal development appraisals. 

Team Leaders and Lead Officers are responsible for carrying out appraisals and assessing competence. 

Training needs identified during the appraisals are then prioritised and planned to ensure that officers have the 

relevant competencies for their authorisations as specified in the Food Law Code of Practice (2021) Chapter 3. The 

link to the document outlining these can be found in Annex 4. Training could be provided in-house or externally. The 

Herts and Beds Heads of Service Food Group arrange courses throughout the year in accordance with generally 

identified needs. This usually enables more cost-effective training provision. Typical external providers include the 

FSA and ABC Food Law Ltd. 

Officers are expected to lead learning circles for their colleagues following training courses, to ensure that relevant 

information is cascaded. 

Individual training records are maintained for each officer and kept on DORIS.  

Members of the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health may attend relevant branch meetings. 

In addition to staff appraisals, the Team Leader (Environmental Health) and Lead Officer reviews a proportion of all 

case sheets and inspection records and aims to accompany officers on visits on an annual basis for quality 

monitoring purposes. A report pro-forma is completed for each accompanied visit, the contents of which are fed 

back at a debrief meeting. The paperwork for a food inspection that receives a food hygiene rating of less than 3 is 

passed to another officer for peer review auditing. This ensures consistency between officers.  

Food Service meetings are held approximately every six weeks (more often if required).  

6.      Quality Assessment 

Quarterly/ Monthly performance reviews are based on the Intervention Strategy. The Head of Regulatory Services 

will then report to overview and scrutiny committee, on a quarterly/monthly basis for KPI and significant service 

updates.   

The Food Safety Service has developed a series of procedures to ensure the delivery of quality services. These are 

revised routinely to ensure compliance with current legislation, codes of practice and other guidance. Customer 

feedback may also lead to procedures being revised. All documents are held centrally as computerised ‘controlled 

documents’; they are available in read only format and are available for all officers. 

7. Review against Service Plan 

7.1 Review against Service Plan 

Key performance indicators are reported on a quarterly basis during the quarterly review. These reviews will identify 

where the Council is at variance with the Service Plan and, where appropriate the reasons for variance.  This has not 

Page 45



Page 23 

 
 

been relevant during the pandemic as we have followed the FSA guidance at all times and are now implementing the 

Covid 19 LA recovery plan that contains its own milestones and deadlines that we are aiming to meet until 2023/24. 

The Lead Officer currently reports performance figures based on this plan to the Team Leader who in turn reports to 

the Head of Regulatory Services to monitor compliance with the plan.  

7.2 Identification of any variation from the service plan  

As previously mentioned COVID 19 and the councils response has been the main reason for variation away from 

the usual food service plan in 2021/2022. 

Officers within the Environmental Health Team were also involved in two Health and Safety accident investigations 

that has resulted in the preparation of two prosecution files taking up a significant amount of officer time.  

One of these cases concluded in September 2021 both defendants pleaded guilty to charges under Section 2 & 3 of 

the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and was fined £80,000 and £19,600 respectively.  .  

The second case concluded in December 2021. The council successfully defended a Prohibition Notice and 

Improvement Notice served in January 2020 at the Employment Tribunal in July 2021. As a result of this outcome the 

defendant changed their earlier not guilty plea to guilty to charges under the Section 3 of the Health and Safety at 

Work etc. Act 1974 and was fined £33,333.  

The council were awarded legal costs in both prosecution cases (£60,000 and £41,953.70) 

 

7.3 Areas of improvement 

 Staff development 

Staff development is paramount; we have and continue to invest heavily in staff development. This includes 

supporting the council’s student Environmental Health Officer’s to achieve EHORB registration or chartered status 

depending on what route they have decided to take that is achievable and not constrained by CIEH timescales. There 

are currently one officer undertaking training to become qualified Environmental Health Officers in the 

Environmental Health Team. Predicted completion date is August 2025. 

 Recovery Roadmap 

As mentioned above the focus for the Food, Health and Safety team in 2022/2023 is the recovery roadmap and 

making sure that all of the milestones outlined in the Covid 19 LA recovery plan are met and in the event that they 

will not be immediate contact with the FSA will be made to inform them of that.  

The use of PPI contractors will assist in house staff in achieving this.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



Page 24 

 
 

8. Health & Safety Service Plan 2021/2022 
 

Dacorum follows the HSE document LAC 67-2 (Revision 11) – Setting Local Authority Priorities and Targeting 

Interventions when planning proactive health and safety inspections.  
 

However in 2021/2022 the main focus of the councils proactive H&S interventions has been ensuring business are 

COVID secure. We carried out a range of interventions.  

1. Proactive campaigns 
 

Non-essential Retail:  

 

Environmental Health Officers carried out over 73 Covid -19 business advisory visits in April 2021 when non-essential 

retail was allowed to re-open to ensure businesses were compiling with the law and to offer help and advice.   

 

General Business Intervention visits: 

 

The councils Covid Advisors carried out 2631 business intervention visits across Dacorum in 2021/2022 to ensure 

compliance levels were maintained and to offer continued guidance and advice in line with Government guidance. 

Any issues of non-compliance were passed to the Environmental health Team to follow up.   

 

2. Service requests 

In addition to the above proactive work, the Council’s Environmental Health team have responded to 91 service 

requests including complaints of non-compliance to businesses asking for advice with regards to Covid regulations.  

3. Workplaces visited 

Officers from the Council’s Environmental Health team have also carried out visits to 113 workplaces where there 

have been cases of Coronavirus to provide support and guidance to ensure the workplace is safe.  

Health and Safety general service requests received 2021/2022 

Type Number  

Skin Piercing Operator/ Premises  Assessments  22 

LOLER Lift Defect Reports 3 

Asbestos Notification  0 

General HASWA requests 24 

Total 49 

Accident Investigations 

Reporting of Injuries, Diseases & Dangerous 
Occurrences (RIDDOR) notifications investigated 

13 

 

Health & Safety Notices served 2021/2022 

Type Number 

Section 20 Request for information 38 

Section 21 Improvement Notice  4 

Prosecutions Concluded  2 

 

Page 47



Page 25 

 
 

2022 -2023 

The Food, Health & Safety team will continue to respond to Health & Safety service requests/ complaints received, 

follow up on any RIDDOR notifications requiring further investigation and should resources allow through the 

recovery period undertake proactive engagement/inspections with businesses particularly in relation to the follow 

areas: 

 Raising awareness of the work-related stress and mental health campaign ‘Working Minds’ with businesses 

 Electrical safety in hospitality settings 

 Inflatable amusement devices 

Annex 1 – DBC Structure Chart 

Dacorum Borough Council senior leadership organisation chart 

 

Annex 2. ECP Structure Chart June 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/organisation-chart.pdf?sfvrsn=b400309e_24


Page 26 

 
 

 

 

Annex 3. FLCOP (England) Competency Framework  

https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/food-and-feed-codes-of-practice#food-law-code-of-practice 

Competency 

Framework 2021  

 

Appendix 4 – Dacorum Food Recovery Plan  

Dacorum Food Safety Recovery Plan 2022/2023 

Introduction 

With the covid-19 pandemic, there has been a knock on effect to services especially around where proactive 

inspection regimes are in place, being mainly: 

 Food Safety Inspections 

 Health and Safety Inspections 
 

Food Safety and Health & Safety inspections are determined by a risk rating inspection regime and are statutory.  For 

these, the governing bodies (Food Standards Agency and Health & Safety Executive) have set the way forward.  

Health and Safety inspections have been maintained throughout the covid-19 pandemic, with increased visits related 

to covid-19 risk assessments, safe operating procedures and general risks. Therefore, no specific recovery plan is 

required for this element. 

1. Food Safety Inspections 

1.1 Food Standards Agency Approach 

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) set out in June 2021 their proposal for LA recovery around statutory inspections. 

Dacorum Borough Council made a decision to adopt this plan from the 1st July 2021 as the Food Service Plan as the 

targets outlined for food delivery controls were more realistic during the ongoing pandemic. This plan continues to 

cover the period from 1 July 2021 to 2023/2024.  

The following factors initially shaped the FSA’s approach: 

 the number of ‘new’ food businesses has significantly increased – a large proportion of which are home-based – 
and although some of these may cease trading when the hospitality sector starts to recover, and lockdown 
restrictions are otherwise lifted, the risks associated with them remain largely unknown as initial inspections 
have not been undertaken 

o In 2021/2022 Dacorum continued to receive a significant number of new Food Premises Applications 
with a total of 213 received.  

Page 49

https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/food-and-feed-codes-of-practice#food-law-code-of-practice


Page 27 

 
 

 the number of ‘new’ food businesses on the ‘high street’ may increase as some existing businesses may change 
hands while others may start up to capitalise on potential additional trade from staycations etc over the coming 
months 

 existing businesses will gradually be re-opening, many after prolonged closure, as restrictions in the hospitality 
sector on eating onsite are lifted, while other businesses will continue to diversify activities to adapt to ongoing 
changes in the market 

 LA resources have been diverted from delivery of food official controls during the pandemic to activities related 
to reducing the spread of COVID 

 the highest risk establishments may have missed one, two or potentially three planned interventions 

 LAs are anecdotally reporting that significant resource is currently being used for non-statutory but important 
wider government priorities such as export certification and support for businesses navigating the new 
arrangements 

 LAs are anecdotally reporting a general trend of reducing hygiene standards in food establishments since the 
onset of the pandemic.   

The FSA approach was also mindful of the profile of establishments across the risk categories, the levels of 
compliance and the typical annual percentages for enforcement actions within each pre-pandemic.   The diagram 
below shows the national picture pre-pandemic as the basis for the recovery approach.  

 

 
1.2 Objectives and Assumptions of the FSA recovery plan 

The approach by the FSA has taken on board the following objectives: 

 ensure that LAs: 

- return diverted resources to food teams 

- can identify and focus on those businesses that are trading by continuing to undertake ongoing proactive 
surveillance 

- revert to the expected inspection frequencies in the Food Law Codes of Practice for those businesses posing 
the greatest risk to public health/consumer protection 

 improve hygiene and standards compliance and reduce risks by focusing activity where non-compliance is 
identified and by undertaking appropriate follow-up and enforcement action 

 Ensure more routine operation of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). 

The FSA assumed the following when devising the recovery plan: 

 there will be additional demands and expectations on LAs in relation to compliance and enforcement of COVID 
rules as sectors re-open over the next few months.  

Going into 2022 the restrictions have been gradually lifted and so this has allowed resources to be slowly 
diverted back to the Food team.   

Page 50



Page 28 

 
 

 urgent reactive food safety work will increase as restrictions in the hospitality sector are lifted.  

This was not the case in Dacorum, the reactive work was linked more to non-compliance with Covid 19 
regulations the hospitality sector. 

 planned interventions for food hygiene and food standards will be more complex to undertake and will take 
longer as they must be undertaken in a COVID safe way.  

This was initially the case until the restrictions started to lift in early 2022.  

 compliance standards have dropped so levels of required follow-up and enforcement action needed to address 
the risks to public health/consumer protection will be greater.  

This has been observed in Dacorum with an increased number of compliance revisits being undertaken.  

 
 

1.3 Timelines 

The proposed plan covers 1 July 2021 to April 2023 and beyond with recovery in two phases: 

 Phase 1 - 1 July to 30 September 2021. This has now been completed.  

 Phase 2 – 1 October 2021 to April 2023 (until the revised food hygiene intervention rating scheme are in place) 

There will be a focus on securing compliance in persistently non-compliant businesses.  The proposal for recovery 
aims to reflect that direction of travel.  
 
1.4 Outline of the Recovery Plan 

The key elements of the plan are summarised below: 

 
 
1.5 Principles underpinning the recovery plan 

The FSA proposed that the following principles underpin both phases of the recovery plan:   

 when intelligence suggests risks have increased – and irrespective of the risk category – interventions should be 
undertaken to assess and address those risks. 

 when an onsite intervention is undertaken, subsequent interventions should be programmed as per the Codes of 
Practice requirements. 

 new food hygiene ratings should be given where appropriate interventions are undertaken  

 where non-compliance is found at any intervention, appropriate enforcement action should be taken 

 The use or remote assessments will not be used at Dacorum as it duplicated a lot of the work and didn’t yield the 
results expected when tried after Lockdown 1.  

 

Page 51



Page 29 

 
 

1.6 Impact on Dacorum 

Based on the FSA Phase 1 plan, the priority up to the end of the 2021/22 financial year was:  

 conditional and full approval visits (limited for Dacorum - 7 approved premises in total).  

 management of food incidents and hazards (including outbreaks of foodborne illness)  

 investigation and management of complaints  

 enforcement action in case of non-compliance 

 ongoing proactive surveillance to obtain an accurate picture of the local business landscape and identify: 
open/closed/recently re-opened/new businesses; as well as businesses where there has been a change of 
operation, activities or FBO. 

Dacorum was able to:  

a) Manage the expected increase in necessary reactive work resulting from the lifting of restrictions in the 
hospitality sector, which included carrying out some of the overdue planned interventions. The table 1.1 
below shows the number of premises that were overdue by 30th September 2021.  

 

Table 1.1 

Risk Band  Number overdue at 30th September 2021 

A 0     

B 13 

C 31 

D 185 

 

This did not include the total number of interventions due in 2021/2022, new premises or category E 

premises, which are dealt with by alternative enforcement interventions. This is shown in Table 1.2 below. 

The implementation of this recovery plan will stagger the March 2022 due dates in line with FSA guidance. 

The timeline for each risk band is outlined later in the plan.  

      Table 1.2 

Risk Band Total number of inspections due by March 2022  

A 2 

B 25 

C 63 

D 219 

E 144 

Unrated 218 

Table 1.3 Show’s the progress made during the period of the 30th September 2021 – 31st March 2022 

Risk Band  Total Due (as of the 30/9/2021) Total Remaining  

A 2 0 

Page 52



Page 30 

 
 

B 25 1 

C 63 21 

D 219 144 

E  144 130 

Unrated 218 122 

 

b) assess new businesses and those with change in operation, activities or FBOs so that onsite visits can be 
undertaken where there are concerns around public health/consumer protection and, for others, the 
initial inspection can be prioritised and undertaken in accordance with the Codes of Practice.  
 
This is continuing to happen in 2022/2023 with high risk premises undertaking high risk operations 
being prioritised for inspection over those deemed to be low risk e.g. takeaway v’s home caterer 
making cakes.           

c) plan for resumption of planned intervention programmes for high risk category and non-compliant 
establishments in Phase 2.  

All inspections currently undertaken by the food team are being integrated back in the planned 
intervention programme and the next inspection will take place at the appropriate risk rated 
frequency e.g. A rated premises will be inspected every 6 months, B rated 12 months and so on. In the 
unlikely event that resources are diverted again the food team will prioritise high risk and non-
compliant food businesses for inspection.   

 

 

Based on the FSA Phase 2 plan, the priority for Dacorum from April 2022 to April 2023 will be: 

 

a) implementing planned intervention programmes for high risk category and non-compliant establishments, 
and  

 

b) implementing an intelligence-based approach for low risk category establishments.  

 

c) official controls where the nature and frequency are prescribed in specific legislation and official controls 
recommended by FSA guidance that are undertaken to support trade and enable export  

 

d) reactive work including, enforcement in the case of non-compliance, managing food incidents and food 
hazards, and investigating and managing complaints  

 

e) sampling in accordance with the local authority sampling programme or as required in the context of 
assessing food business compliance, and any follow-up necessary in relation to the FSA Surveillance 
Sampling Programme  

 

f) ongoing proactive surveillance to obtain an accurate picture of the local business landscape and also to 
identify open/closed/recently re-opened/new businesses, as well as businesses where there has been a 
change of operation, activities or FBO  

g) for ‘new businesses’, consideration of registration information and intelligence with appropriate onsite 
interventions carried out where there are concerns around public health/consumer protection  

 

Page 53



Page 31 

 
 

h) for ‘new businesses’ where consideration of registration information and intelligence does not raise 
concerns about public health/consumer protection, initial visits should be prioritised and undertaken in 
accordance with the Codes of Practice and Practice Guidance taking account of the flexibilities provided  

 

i) implementing planned intervention programmes for high-risk category and non-compliant establishments in 
line with the timelines set out in the Recovery Plan 

 

j) implementing an intelligence/information based approach for lower risk category establishments  
 

 

 

It is to be noted by members that this is the plan to recover the Food Service from the effects of Covid 19. The FSA 

will continue to monitor the progress being made by requesting local authorities to complete regular temperature 

check surveys at the end of each milestone set to assess how each local authority is recovering. Due to the length 

of time the length of time recovery plan covers the objectives may change from time to time.  

 

The department is very much still involved in the Local Outbreak Plan response, it is envisaged that this workload 

with decrease in 22/23 and at the time of writing this does seem to be the case. However if it does not this plan 

will need to be revised to take into account the number of available staff that can deliver this project and their 

important role in dealing with the Outbreak phase of the pandemic response.   

Page 54



32 
 

Progress Made:  

The above phases are detailed in the table below and the progress made as of the time of 
writing.  

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 
March 2022  

Conditional and full 
approval visits 

Ongoing  In accordance with relevant 
legislative requirements  

All approvals visits made and 
full approval issued for 1 
premises in 2021/2022.  

Proactive surveillance to 
obtain an accurate 
picture of the local 
business landscape and 
to identify  

- open/closed/recently 
re-opened/new 
businesses 

- change of operation, 
activities or FBO 

Ongoing  Consideration of registration 
information and intelligence 
on the food business 
establishment identified 
through surveillance  

Undertake appropriate onsite 
interventions where there are 
concerns around public 
health/consumer protection  

 

Basic surveillance conducted 
as part of LAEMS return.   

New food business 
establishments where 
consideration of 
registration 
information/intelligence 
indicates low risk 

Ongoing  Initial visits should be 
prioritised and undertaken in 
accordance with the Codes of 
Practice requirements 

Fed into the inspection 
programme.  All inspections 
assigned to officers and initial 
risk assessment conducted. 
From April 2021 until March 
2022 142 new businesses have 
been inspected. PPI 
contractors are assisting with 
clearing the backlog of new 
businesses. Those that remain 
outstanding have been 
assessed as low risk.  

Management of food 
incidents and hazards 
(including outbreaks of 
foodborne illness) 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 
Law Codes of Practice 

Business as usual 

Investigation and 
management of 
complaints 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 
Law Codes of Practice 

Business as usual 

Enforcement action in 
case of non-compliance 

Ongoing In accordance with the Food 
Law Codes of Practice and the 
local authority’s enforcement 
policy 

Business as usual 

FHRS requested revisits  Ongoing  Within three months of 
request if a charge is made 
and within six months of no 
charge but with use of remote 
assessment in place of onsite 
visit in limited circumstances 
on a trial basis (with 
evaluation in place) 

Business as usual 

Page 55



33 
 

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 
March 2022  

Sampling  Ongoing In line with local authority 
sampling programme or as 
required in the context of 
assessing food business 
compliance 

Participation in Study 73 
undertaken in March 2022.  

The food team are aiming to 
patriciate in STUDY 74: 

 Hygiene in Takeaway 
Sandwich and Salad bars. 
This survey is running 
between April and October 
22.  

Category A for hygiene  Over the 
period to 
end of 
March 
2022 

All establishments should have 
received an onsite 
intervention and thereafter be 
back in the system for 
interventions in accordance 
with the Codes of Practice  

Target met February 2022.   

Category B for hygiene 

 

Over the 
period to 
end of June 
2022 

All establishments should have 
received an onsite 
intervention and thereafter be 
back in the system for 
interventions in accordance 
with the Codes of Practice  

Dacorum inspected all B 
rated premises except one 
that was temporarily closed 
(Retirement Village Café) by 
the end of March 2022 
ahead of the recovery plan.   

Category C for hygiene – 
less than broadly 
compliant (FHRS 0, 1 or 
2) 

Over the 
period to 
end 
September 
2022 

All establishments should have 
received an onsite 
intervention and thereafter be 
back in the system for 
interventions in accordance 
with the Codes of Practice  

Target met before deadline.  
Dacorum inspected all 
Category C -less than  
broadly compliant food 
businesses by April 2022  

Category D for hygiene – 
less than broadly 
compliant (FHRS 0, 1 or 
2) 

Over the 
period to 
the end of 
December 
2022 

All establishments should have 
received an onsite 
intervention and thereafter be 
back in the system for 
interventions in accordance 
with the Codes of Practice  

This target will be met.  

Page 56



34 
 

Activity/Category Timeline Expectation Progress Made at the End of 
March 2022  

Category C for hygiene – 
broadly complaint or 
better (FHRS 3, 4 or 5) 

Over the 
period to 
the end of 
March 
2023 

For establishments with two 
consecutive food hygiene 
ratings of 5 (or equivalent 
stands if outside scope of 
FHRS) one intervention may 
be missed and then the 
establishment put back in the 
system for interventions in 
accordance with the Codes of 
Practice 

For other establishments – 
those with hygiene ratings of 3 
or 4 (or equivalent of outside 
the scope of FHRS - should 
have received an onsite 
intervention and thereafter be 
back in the system for 
interventions in accordance 
with the Codes of Practice 

At the time of writing All 
outstanding C rated premises 
have been inspected except 
for 3 premises: 

1. Public house closed 
for refurbishment. 

2. Sports club  
3. Church Lunch Club.  

 These are all compliant food 
businesses with a rating of 3 
or 4. Dacorum will meet this 
deadline ahead of the 
recovery plan target.  

 

Category D for hygiene – 
broadly complaint or 
better (FHRS 3, 4 or 5) 

Ongoing No interventions will be 
required unless intelligence 
suggests that risks have 
increased  

Dacorum will carry out 
inspections in D rated 
premises if capacity allows it. 
If a complaint is received 
regarding a D rated premises 
it will be investigated 
appropriately. This is 
ongoing in house and with 
the assistance of PPI officers.  

Category E for hygiene Ongoing No interventions will be 
required unless intelligence 
suggests that risks have 
increased  

As above, Dacorum will 
follow up any complaints 
received regarding premises 
that are E- rated if received. 
Recovery funding has 
enabled a support officer to 
start working through our 
AES premises at the time 
writing this service plan.  

 

 

Page 57



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Biodiversity Net Gain within Planning  

Date: 10th January 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A Community Impact Assessment 

Background papers: 

 

1. Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted September 2013) 
2. Dacorum Borough Council Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy September 

2022 
3. Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy 
 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

BNG: Biodiversity Net Gain 

Defra: Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 

LPA: Local Planning Authority 

SANG: Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 

SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

TCPA: Town & Country Planning Act 

 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Alex Robinson, Assistant Director (Planning)   

 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext. 2002)  

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Climate and ecological emergency 

 

 

 
   

Strategic Planning & Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 58

Agenda Item 8

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To update members on the expected legislative 

requirements for biodiversity net gain.  

2. To seek SPAE views on the opportunities 

available within planning to increase biodiversity 

to inform future policy development. 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. The report is noted.  

 

Period for post policy/project review:  

 

1 Introduction/Background:  

1.1. Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is an approach to development that leaves biodiversity in a measurably 

better state than in which it was found. It aims to halt the current loss of biodiversity resulting from 

development and help restore ecological networks to enable nature to recover.  

 

1.2. In November 2021 the Environment Act gained Royal Assent and will subsequently amend the Town & 

Country Planning Act (TCPA) to make biodiversity net gain mandatory, expected from the end of 2023. 

The main provisions of the requirement will be as follows: 

 a minimum of 10% gain will be required; 

 gain to be calculated using an nationally approved biodiversity metric;  

 LPA approval of a biodiversity net gain management and monitoring plan required; 

 net gain may be delivered on-site, off-site or via statutory biodiversity credits; and 

 habitat must be secured for at least 30 years via obligations or a conservation covenant. 

 

1.3. The requirement will apply to all development, with a limited number of exemptions expected such as 

householder applications.  

 

1.4. It is expected that LPA’s will only be able to approve a planning application once the following steps are 

complete: 

 Biodiversity metric calculation submitted and show a minimum of 10% net gain between pre-

development and post-development values; 

 Biodiversity gain plan is completed and meets statutory requirements; 

 Any claimed gains (both on-site and off-site) are appropriately secured and allocated, including the point 

in the development process that these gains are to be delivered; and 

 Description of management and monitoring arrangements provided. 

 A pre-commencement condition will then apply to discharge the biodiversity net gain plan at 

determination.   

 

1.5. The Act also introduced Local Nature Recovery Strategies to be prepared for all areas of England. These 

will establish priorities and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide 

wider environmental benefits. The areas covered will be set by Defra, with Hertfordshire County Council 

expecting to prepare a Local Nature Recovery Strategy in 2023. The biodiversity metric for calculating 

net gain places a higher value on habitat units delivered at preferred locations within the nature 

recovery network, helping to target offsite BNG to areas where it will deliver the most benefit.  

 

Page 59



1.6. Locally, the Council’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy launched in September 2022. ‘Support 

the borough in improving biodiversity’ is one of the five key objectives. The ‘Improving biodiversity’ 

theme underpins a range of activities taking place across the Borough, both directly by Council services, 

and through supporting the work of stakeholders and local communities. The Strategy proposes 

introducing a Biodiversity Net Gain Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).   

 

1.7. Saved Local Plan policy on biodiversity can currently be found in the Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted 

September 2013), which sets a clear strategic policy framework through Policy CS26 Green 

Infrastructure.  

 

1.8. Once the TCPA is amended to include the requirement for biodiversity net gain, there is no need for the 

delivery of 10% to be included within Local Plan policy. However, the Council could consider developing 

measures within planning and planning policy to maximise the benefit arising from the legislation to the 

Borough. The opportunities available are set out within section 2 for this Committee to consider.   

 

2 Key opportunities:   

    Plan policy 

2.1 LPAs can set a net gain target higher than 10% either at a local or site level. Once the 10% BNG 

requirement becomes mandatory there is no scope for LPAs to allow a reduction on viability or other 

grounds.  

 

2.2 Any higher target would need to be made clear at an early stage in the planning or development 

process and careful consideration would be needed to the feasibility and achievability of net gain 

above 10%. Some local authorities are viability testing a higher requirement of 20% for their future 

policy. Officers will monitor whether these progress to formal adoption and delivery on-site.  

 

2.3 A more flexible approach would be to use Local Plan policy to encourage applicants to deliver above 

the 10% requirement, linking this with delivering biodiversity targets set within local strategies. The 

Council could consider this approach for greenfield sites or those located near to important 

ecological networks.  

 

2.4 Local policy can also be used to identify any specific local priorities and strategies that developers 

should consider when delivering biodiversity net gain, aiming to direct offsite delivery to locations of 

strategic significance. Within Dacorum, the Herts Ecological Network Map is one such strategy that 

could be used to identify priority areas for biodiversity improvement up until the Hertfordshire Local 

Nature Recovery Strategy is available.      

 

2.5 Local Plan documents can also be used to set an appropriate number of biodiversity units to be 

delivered on sites where the biodiversity baseline is negligible. This may arise on a small site or on 

one where there is no existing biodiversity value such as on previously developed land.  

 

2.6 This option could be taken forward through the next phase of work on the new Dacorum Local Plan 

for brownfield sites within urban areas that have recently been designated.   

 

Biodiversity gain delivery  

2.7 Once the number of habitat units for a development are calculated, developers have three 

mechanisms for delivery that follow a spatial hierarchy.  

(i) Delivery on-site – the preferred option; 
Page 60



(ii) Delivery off-site through habitat creation/enhancement including via habitat banks, with public and 

private landowners – here local enhancements are preferred before alternative sites are considered; 

and 

(iii) Purchase of National Statutory Credits that will support the delivery of large-scale habitat projects. 

These are intended as the last resort where BNG cannot be delivered on-site or off-site.  

 

2.8 Under the guidance released to date, once biodiversity net gain becomes mandatory a developer 

would not be able to make a compensatory financial payment to the LPA in lieu of securing the 

required habitat units via one or a combination of these three methods.  

 

2.9 Any off-site land used for the purposes of achieving BNG will need to be registered on the digital 

Biodiversity Gain Sites Register, currently being developed by Natural England. This national register 

will help users record and verify off-site habitats they are creating, and will enable the gains to be 

verified by Government and the LPA. Landowners can start to create habitat units now, in advance of 

BNG becoming mandatory. These are referred to as habitat banks.  

 

2.10 Land on the register must be secured for the required habitat units via a conservation covenant 

or planning obligation and be maintained for a minimum of 30 years.  

 

2.11 Local authorities will be able to offer their own land for biodiversity gain, with habitat units 

available for developers to purchase if they are unable to deliver the required units on site.  Local 

authorities can also act as a local broker, this would involve selling habitat units on behalf of a third 

party landowner.  Developers cannot be directed to purchase local authority habitat units in 

preference to other ecologically equivalent suppliers.   

 

2.12 Much of Council owned open space is already in active use for recreation, play, formal sports or 

general amenity, limiting scope for sites to provide habitat units to a development and be entered 

onto the register as they would need to be maintained and managed solely as habitat units for a 

minimum of 30 years.  

 

2.13 In recent years Clean, Safe and Green has created more wildflower-rich and biodiverse grassland 

across the Borough and this winter will be continuing with year three of a five-year tree planting 

programme. These local biodiversity initiatives are a key element of the Council’s Climate and 

Ecological Emergency agenda, but would not meet the requirements of biodiversity net gain.  

 

2.14 Officers are not currently aware of any Council owned land that could be enhanced and managed 

as habitat units. Further investigation through the Local Plan making process and the Council’s 

Climate and Ecological Emergency work, may identify potential sites where habitat units could be 

created and made available for developers to purchase. It is expected that this process would be co-

ordinated through the Climate and Ecological Emergency programme.      

 

2.15 Discussions will also take place with Hertfordshire County Council on their approach to creating 

habitat units on their landholdings.  

 

2.16 Further guidance is also expected from Defra on how biodiversity net gain will work alongside 

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG). Currently, it is considered that sites identified as 

SANG can also deliver biodiversity net gain provided that ‘additionality’ can be proven. As the 

Council continues to develop its approach towards SANG delivery to support the Chilterns 

Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy, opportunities for identifying and 

evaluating BNG habitat units on SANG sites could be progressed.  

 

Page 61



2.17 Any sites taken forward on Council owned land for biodiversity net gain would need an 

assessment of the baseline biodiversity value by an ecologist, preparation and delivery of a net gain 

management plan and ongoing management, maintenance and monitoring for 30 years. The 

associated costs would be recovered by developers purchasing the associated habitat units from the 

Council, however some upfront costs would need to be initially covered.      

 

Planning processes 

  

2.18 Development management will need to be ready to receive and determine planning applications 

and check that the associated biodiversity gain plans are legally complaint when net gain becomes 

mandatory. While officers have experience of sites delivering biodiversity improvements, the new 

systems needed will be much more rigorous and will require systems and processes to be developed 

in advance.   

 

2.19 The processes required include: 

 Application – checking of pre-development biodiversity value and proposed approach to on-site 

delivery, plus any proposed off-site biodiversity enhancements. A pre-commencement condition will 

be applied at determination to discharge a biodiversity net gain plan. 

 Pre-commencement – submission and approval of biodiversity gain plan. Any off-site habitat units 

will need to be secured through a conservation covenant or planning obligation and registered prior 

to final approval of the biodiversity gain plan.  

 Commencement and management – ongoing management, monitoring, reporting and appropriate 

enforcement of biodiversity gains for the agreed maintenance period.  

 

2.20 Similarly, the Council will also need to be prepared to comply with new duties on authorities 

regarding BNG reporting. Biodiversity net gain obligations will be secured via a S106 legal agreement 

for each development meeting the criteria. It will be the responsibility of the developer to identify 

and fund the future management and monitoring of the enhanced habitat for a 30 year period. The 

Council or its appointed agent will be required to ensure that measures are being implemented in an 

appropriate way and that the BNG monitoring reports received from the developer are an accurate 

reflection of BNG progress on site. An appropriate fee will be charged by the Council to the 

developer to cover these costs. The Council will have duties to report on BNG delivery under the 

Environment Act. Further information on reporting requirements is expected to be set out in the 

forthcoming Defra consultation and secondary legislation.  

 

3 Options and alternatives considered 

 

3.1 The development of a biodiversity net gain SPD has been considered. If adopted prior to BNG 

becoming mandatory it would bring forward the requirement on development to deliver a 

measurable net gain and could be used to set out the Council’s processes. During this interim period 

the Council would also have more flexibility in how biodiversity was delivered through the SPD.  

 

3.2 However, it is uncertain how much of the content of a local biodiversity net gain SPD would remain 

valid after 2023 as information on the documentation and process to support the Environment Act 

has yet to be released via secondary legislation. As a result, the benefits that an early adoption of an 

SPD would deliver are likely to be limited and preparation of the SPD could be abortive work.  

 

3.3 Officers therefore recommend that Planning do not progress with an SPD and instead focus 

resources on developing a biodiversity approach through the new Local Plan and preparing the 

Planning Service for BNG becoming mandatory later in 2023, to reduce the risk of applications being 

delayed.   Page 62



 

3.4 Setting local requirements for particular allocated sites and naming strategies that measures should 

support in future Plan policy would be a much stronger and enforceable position for the Council, 

compared to SPDs that are material consideration in planning decisions and cannot supersede 

development plan policy.  

 

3.5 The Environment Act is a complex legal document, and a Dacorum developer guidance note would 

help agents to submit the correct information to reduce the risk of a delay to applications at 

validation and/or commencement. 

 

3.6 There are also types of habitats within the biodiversity metric where a Hertfordshire specific 

definition would result in a better result for local biodiversity. This particularly relates to ‘other 

neutral grassland’ where a local definition would avoid these units being classified as ‘modified 

grassland’, which has a much lower biodiversity value in the metric. 

 

3.7 A biodiversity advice note would provide additional technical advice and information to developers 

on local expectations for biodiversity delivery. This could be used to clarify the Council’s process and 

considerations when assessing proposals for biodiversity net gain.  

 

4 Consultation 

 

4.1 Discussion on approaches to biodiversity net gain has taken place with the Council’s Development 

Management, Clean, Safe and Green and Climate Change and Sustainability sections.  

 

5 Financial and value for money implications: 

 

5.1 Once the delivery of 10% biodiversity net gain becomes mandatory, Development Management will 

require additional ecological advice to assess biodiversity net gain plans. It is expected this would be 

provided by Herts Ecology via a service level agreement. 

 

5.2 It will be the responsibility of the developer to identify and fund the future management and 

monitoring of the enhanced habitat for a 30 year period, which will be secured through the S106 

agreement. Monitoring proposals should be submitted within a biodiversity gain plan at application. 

 

6 Legal implications 

 

6.1 The delivery of 10% biodiversity net gain by development will be a legal requirement under the 

TCPA.   

 

6.2 Local authorities will also have responsibilities under the Environment Act to report on BNG delivery. 

A specific BNG report must be published setting out the authority’s actions to comply with the BNG 

duty alongside quantitative data for the gain delivered. The initial report must be completed within 3 

years of the Act coming into force. 

 

6.3 More legal resources are likely to be required as all developments meeting the criteria will require a 

full S106 agreement.  

 

 

7 Risk implications: 

 

Page 63



7.1 Biodiversity net gain is a new requirement that the Council will need to be prepared for from the day 

it becomes mandatory. Systems and processes will be needed in advance to ensure applications can 

continue to be processed and assessed.   

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1 A Community Impact Assessment is annexed to this report as Appendix A. The types of positive 

outcomes to be delivered by biodiversity include: 

 More access to natural green spaces within the Borough’s communities; 

 Positive social, physical and mental health and wellbeing impacts for people of all ages and 

abilities. 

 

8.2 Human rights – There are no Human Rights implications arising from this report. 

 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 

9.1 Improving biodiversity is a key objective of the Council’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy.   

 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 

10.1 None arising from this report.  

 

11 Conclusions:   

11.1 Through biodiversity net gain development will have a positive ecological impact, delivering 

improvements through habitat creation or enhancement.  

 

11.2 There is a considerable amount of preparation required by the Council as LPA to be ready to 

determine applications against the requirement once it becomes mandatory. This will need to be 

developed during the course of 2023 in liaison with Hertfordshire County Council’s LEADS 

(landscape, ecology, archaeology, and design sustainability) service.  

 

11.3 Emerging Plan Policy can help secure biodiversity benefits to the Borough by requiring 

development to take into account local strategies, identifying sites where a net gain percentage 

above 10% would deliver the greatest value and setting a required number of habitat units for sites 

where the metric calculates that the existing biodiversity is negligible.    

 

11.4 A search for sites with the potential to provide habitat units on Council-owned land, or that of its 

partners, could offer a local solution to developers unable to deliver 10% BNG onsite.  

 

11.5 An advice note on the Council’s processes and local habitat specifications would aid the 

application process for developers.  

 

11.6 Given the resources required to deliver 11.2-11.5 above, the timescale for the implementation of 

mandatory net gain and further detail on implementation requirements that is expected to be issued 

by secondary legislation, a local SPD will not be developed at this stage.   

 

 

 

Page 64



 

Page 65



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document  

Date: 10th January 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

 Appendices: Appendix A: Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning document 

Appendix B: Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document Consultation 

Report   

Appendix C: Community Impact Assessment 

Background papers: 

 

1. Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted September 2013) 
2. Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee Employment 

and Skills Supplementary Planning Document Report 16th March 2022 
3. Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan (2021) 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

APD: Approved Delivery Partner 

CIA: Community Impact Assessment 

SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 

SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Alex Robinson, Assistant Director (Planning)   

 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext. 2002)  

 

  

Corporate Priorities Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

 

 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 1. To consult the Committee on the adoption of the 

 
   

Strategic Planning & Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 66

Agenda Item 9

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


 Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD).  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That the Committee informs Cabinet of its views 

on the Employment and Skills SPD (Appendix A).  

 

Period for post policy/project review: 5 years 

 

1 Introduction/Background:  

1.1. The Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Appendix A) is a new tool that will 

enable the Council to ring-fence specific opportunities arising from a development to benefit the 

Borough’s residents, thereby generating additional social value.   

 

1.2. The SPD sits under Policy CS14 Economic Development of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) and will 

support the delivery of the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan, helping to tackle the economic challenges 

the Borough faces.   

 

1.3. The SPD is set out under the following sections: 

1) Introduction and explanation of what the document is and why it is needed; 

2) National policy and Legal Framework;  

3) Local policy background; 

4) Justification and context; and 

5) Implementation and monitoring.  

 

Summary of Employment and Skills SPD Process 

 

1.4. Development Management Officers will make applicants aware that the Employment and Skills SPD will 

be applicable for residential development of 30 or more homes and building(s) of 1,000m2 or more for 

non-residential development. The applicant will be issued with a social value forecast that will set a 

target for the number of social value weeks the development will be expected to deliver.  

 

1.5. A Social Value Strategy will then be prepared setting out the training and employment weeks to be 

delivered by the developer, which will be included within the development’s S106 agreement.  

 

1.6. At commencement, a Social Value Delivery Plan will be agreed detailing the delivery options that will be 

used and the Social Value outcomes that will be generated by the development to achieve the social 

value target.  

 

1.7. During construction, regular monitoring reports will be submitted to the Council, showing progress 

against the agreed social value target.  

 

1.8. The Council will provide support to developers and help them access local networks, providers and 

schools in order to successfully implement the SPD.  

 

2 Consultation on the Draft Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (the Draft SPD):   

 

2.1 The Draft Employment and Skills SPD was reviewed by the Strategic Planning and Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee in March 2022. The views of this Committee and the SPD 
Page 67



documents were subsequently reported to Cabinet for consideration at their meeting on 19th April, 

where Cabinet approved the Draft Employment and Skills SPD for public consultation.  

 

2.2 Public consultation on the draft document took place over a period of more than four weeks from 28 

October up until the 28 November 2022. This is in line with the Council’s Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) that stipulates a requirement to consult on a supplementary planning document 

for at least four weeks.  

 

2.3 The Council received 16 responses in total from 16 consultees, which are summarised in the 

Employment and Skills SPD Consultation Report, attached as Appendix B. Each response received 

was individually reviewed and collated into tables, and an officer response added to the points 

raised. The tables also identify where the SPD has been revised as a result of the consultation 

comments received.  

 

2.4 The revised SPD is attached as Appendix A for this Committee to consider. The main differences 

between this document and the previous draft SPD presented to this Committee in March 2022 are 

summarised below. 

 

Section of document Subject Change 

3  New Dacorum Local Plan Paragraph added on progress on the 
preparation of the new Dacorum Local Plan. 

3 Hemel Garden Communities Information added on Hemel Garden 
Communities and the Spatial Vision 
document. 

3 Wider Strategic Context Content added on key Hertfordshire 
documents: South West Hertfordshire 
Economic Studies; Hertfordshire Strategic 
Economic Plan 2017-2030; Hertfordshire Skills 
and Employment Strategy 2021-2024; and 
Hertfordshire Local Skills Improvement Plan.  

4 Dacorum district data 
comparison 

Data on the number of economically inactive 
residents, level of qualifications attainment, 
and average wages updated to latest ONS 
data available, or latest and previous years 
data shown.   

4 Impact of COVID-19 Explanation added on the impact of COVID-19 
on young people’s employment and training. 

4 Social Value Strategies Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
added to the list of organisations and bodies a 
developer could liaise with during the 
preparation of a Social Value Strategy.   

 

 

3 Options and alternatives considered 

 

3.1 Do not proceed with formal adoption - there will be no additional benefit to residents secured from 

future housing and commercial development, some opportunities may be delivered at the discretion 

of the developer, however these would not be targeted, measured or recorded. 

 

3.2 Publish the document as discretionary guidance without formal adoption – this would encourage 

applicants to submit a Social Value Strategy with the developer determining the need and 

requirements. This would deliver some additional benefit to residents, however there would not be 

Page 68



measures in place to ensure it was proportionate to the scale of development and tailored to meet 

local needs. 

 

3.3 Take forward the SPD with the adoption of the new Local Plan – the timetable for adoption would 

follow the Local Development Scheme, and no additional benefit to residents would be secured from 

housing and commercial development in the short term.  

 

4 Consultation 

 

4.1 The following sections have been consulted on the work undertaken to date:  

 Development Management; 

 Strategic Planning; 

 Economic Development; 

 Hemel Garden Communities; 

 Community Partnerships; 

 Housing Development; and 

 Housing Strategy and Policy. 

 

5 Financial and value for money implications: 

 

5.1 The Council received a grant of £15,000 from the Hertfordshire Community Wealth Building Fund to 

prepare the draft SPD.   

 

5.2 The SPD will enable the Council to secure employment and skills opportunities for local residents 

from development that meets or exceeds a set commercial building area/number of residential units 

threshold. Requiring development to invest in the current and future workforce will have a direct 

impact on individuals, will improve the overall skills level of the Borough’s working population 

enabling businesses to flourish and will in turn bring wider social and economic benefits to Dacorum. 

 

5.3 The requirement for developers to prepare a Social Value Strategy will include the payment of a 

financial contribution (Social Value fee) to cover the Council’s costs of providing advice and support 

to the applicant and undertaking the delivery, monitoring and reporting of social value. 

 

5.4 Officers are considering the most appropriate model to deliver the SPD. The Council can choose to 

provide the resource to support developers directly or procure an external body (an Approved 

Delivery Partner) to manage the process. If the Council were to undertake this in house then it would 

most likely be delivered by the Economic Development Team. This could not be absorbed through 

current resources and would require an expansion of the existing service and to be self-funding 

through development contributions. If undertaken by an external partner the Council would need to 

procure this. It is important that an arrangement is in place by the time the Council formally adopts 

the SPD to ensure the measures can be delivered. 

 

6 Legal implications 

 

6.1 The Social Value Act (2012) requires public bodies to consider how the services they commission and 

procure might improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of their local community. 

The Council has incorporated this objective into the Commissioning and Procurement Strategy 

(2019-2024) that seeks to deliver additional value to the community through the Council’s contracts. 

Nationally, the range of activities that deliver social value is now widening and a growing number of 

Councils are looking to capitalise on this by integrating social value into their planning process. The 

most practical opportunity to achieve this is for a development to produce a Social Value Strategy. 

 Page 69



6.2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 do not require a 

Sustainability Appraisal to be carried out on SPDs. However, the potential requirement for a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA) and / or Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) based upon any 

environmental concerns introduced or influenced by the SPD must be considered. In response, an 

SEA / HRA screening assessment is underway. Once this process is complete, the SEA/HRA Screening 

Reports and responses from Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England will be 

published as supporting documents alongside the SPD, and the conclusions added to the SPD 

document.  

 

7 Risk implications: 

 

7.1 Given the long-term changes in employment and retail expected because of the pandemic and future 

automation, it is important that the Council has planning guidance in place to enable the local 

workforce to adapt and develop skills that will meet future needs. The SPD will ensure that residents 

gain additional benefits from major development and will help support the Borough’s long-term 

prosperity. 

 

7.2 Without these measures, there is the risk that jobs created through the construction and operation 

of new buildings are taken by workers from outside the Borough, and that the skills of the local 

workforce become misaligned with emerging employment sectors. 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1 A Community Impact Assessment is annexed to this report as Appendix C. The types of positive 

outcomes to be delivered include: 

 Social Value Strategies will be expected to demonstrate opportunities aimed at young people 

to help alleviate unemployment and build skills, such as through targeted recruitment, 

apprenticeships and work placement opportunities. 

 Developers will be encouraged to set out how they would engage with local schools and 

support them to promote the skills and qualifications needed for employment amongst 

young people aged 11 to 16 years, and also to support the transition between school and 

work. 

 The Social Value Strategy should consider providing opportunities for social enterprises, 

which have explicit social, economic or environmental aims. 

 The activities of the Social Value Strategies will improve the economic wellbeing of individual 

residents in the Borough who may currently be impacted through having a low income, 

holding lower qualifications or being economically inactive.  

 

8.2 Human rights – There are no Human Rights implications arising from this report. 

 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 

9.1 The SPD will enable additional social benefits to be secured from planned growth through the 

delivery of skills, training and employment outcomes targeted at local residents, education providers 

and businesses. Given the likely level of growth expected over the new plan period and initiatives 

such as the Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter and Hemel Garden Communities, the impact of this 

new policy could be transformative to both individuals and the local economy. 

 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 

Page 70



10.1 None arising from this report.  

 

11 Conclusions:   

11.1 Dacorum is likely to see growth and investment over the coming decades, particularly in housing 

and employment development. There is the opportunity to draw added value from these 

developments to directly benefit the Borough’s residents and economy by requiring development 

above a set threshold to prepare and implement a Social Value Strategy. 

 

11.2 By introducing the SPD requirement, the Council can act on its crucial role in the social value 

agenda and create opportunities for skills and apprenticeships, delivering on the priorities of the 

Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan.  

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
  

   

COUNCIL 

Employment and Skills 
Supplementary Planning Document 

January 2023 

Page 72



  
  
  
   
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

    

     

   

    

    

    

   

    

    

   

    

   

   

   

   

    

    

    

   

    

    

     

    

    

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................... 2 
What is this document and why is it needed?........................................................ 2 
Procedural matters ................................................................................................ 3 

2. National Policy and Legal Framework .......................................................... 4 
National Planning Policy Framework ..................................................................... 4 
Legal framework: Public Services (Social Value) Act ............................................ 5 
Levelling Up........................................................................................................... 5 

3. Local Policy Background............................................................................... 6 
Dacorum Borough Council Corporate Plan 2020 - 2025 ....................................... 6 
Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050 ........................................... 6 
Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan................................................................... 7 
New Dacorum Local Plan ...................................................................................... 8 
Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan ....................................................................... 8 
Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 2020................................................ 10 
Wider Strategic Context....................................................................................... 11 

4. Justification and Context............................................................................. 12 
The need for Social Value Strategies .................................................................. 12 
Circumstances in which a Social Value Strategy will be requested..................... 15 
Content of a Social Value Strategy...................................................................... 15 

5. Implementation and Monitoring .................................................................. 18 
How will Social Value Strategies be implemented?............................................. 18 
How will Social Value Strategies be monitored?.................................................. 19 

Appendix 1: Delivery Options ............................................................................... 20 
Appendix 2: The Process ...................................................................................... 21 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 Page 73



1.  Introduction    

What is this document and why is it needed? 
1.1 This document has been prepared by Dacorum Borough Council (the Council) 

as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

1.2 The SPD is driven by the Council’s aspiration to see additional benefits (known 
as Social Value) incorporated into the delivery of housing and other types of 
development. Social Value is the additional economic, social and environmental 
benefits that can be created as part of development. By seeking to capture 
Social Value from major developments, whilst such schemes are at the planning 
stage, the Council can achieve added value for Dacorum, particularly in the 
area of employment and skills, to which this SPD relates. 

1.3 Ensuring growth and prosperity is one of the six priorities of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan (2020-2025) which seeks to create a diverse choice of 
employment opportunities and a strong and thriving local economy where 
unemployment is low. Working with the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (Herts LEP) and local colleges to develop skills for emerging growth 
sectors is a particular focus. 

1.4 The Corporate Plan sits alongside the Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure 
Strategy to 2050 “Shaping the future of Dacorum” which sets out a commitment 
to facilitate good, high value jobs based on the skills that will sustain and 
develop new and emerging growth sectors. 

1.5 These documents add impetus to the need for new development to contribute 
towards delivering skills and employment opportunities in the Borough. 

1.6 The Local Plan policy context for this can be found in the Core Strategy 
(adopted 2013) where policy CS14 states “Initiatives that help the local 
workforce adjust to change and develop their skills will be supported”. 

1.7 This Supplementary Planning Document adds detail and further guidance to 
how this policy should be delivered on the ground by requiring developers to 
prepare and implement a Social Value Strategy for schemes that meet or 
exceed a certain threshold; such strategies will help to develop the skills of the 
resident workforce and provide a route to employment for local people. 

1.8 In particular, this SPD provides detailed guidance in respect of: 

• The circumstances in which Social Value Strategies will be expected; 

• The types of development it would apply to; 

• The development thresholds that would trigger a requirement for a Social 
Value Strategy to be submitted with a planning application; 

• The content required in Social Value Strategies; 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 2 Page 74



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
   

 
 

 
  

 
    

 
 

  
 

    
 

    
 

  
  

 
  

    
   

 
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

• Initiatives the Council would support; and 

• The process involved in requesting, preparing and implementing Social 
Value Strategies and the expected outcomes.  

Procedural matters 
1.9 Once adopted, the SPD will be a material planning consideration, which means 

it will assist Council officers and Elected Members in reaching a decision during 
the determination of applications concerning major development. It will also 
guide applicants and their agents in drawing up appropriate Social Value 
Strategies.  

1.10 The successful implementation of the SPD will: 

• Result in increased local employment opportunities by helping 
businesses to improve, grow and take on more staff; 

• Help businesses to find suitable and (especially) local staff and 
suppliers; and 

• Improve the skills of local people to enable them to take advantage of 
the resulting employment opportunities. 

1.11 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
do not require a Sustainability Appraisal to be carried out on SPDs.  However, 
the potential requirement for a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and / 
or Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) based upon any environmental 
concerns introduced or influenced by the SPD must be considered.  In 
response, an SEA / HRA screening assessment is underway. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 3 Page 75



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
    

 
 

   

     
   

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
   

  
    

  
 

          
    

 
  

  
    

 
  

    
 

 
  

   
 

     
  

  
  

   
  

                                  
 
 
   

2. National Policy and Legal Framework 

National Planning Policy Framework 
2.1 National advice on planning’s role in promoting economic development is 

provided through the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)1. The 
sections of the current NPPF, which was revised in July 2021, most relevant to 
this SPD are summarised below. 

2.2 NPPF paragraph 8 sets out three overarching objectives contributing to 
sustainable development: building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities and protecting 
and enhancing the environment. The wording of the economic development 
objective is as follows: 

“a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure” 

2.3 Section 6 in the NPPF provides guidance on ‘Building a strong, competitive 
economy’. The main guidance is contained in paragraphs 81-83: 

“81. Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed 
on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account 
both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. The 
approach taken should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any 
weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. This is particularly 
important where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation, and in 
areas with high levels of productivity, which should be able to capitalise on their 
performance and potential. 

82. Planning policies should: 
a) set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively 

encourages sustainable economic growth, having regard to Local Industrial 
Strategies and other local policies for economic development and 
regeneration; 

b) set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to 
match the strategy and to meet anticipated needs over the plan period; 

c) seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate 
infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor environment; and 

1 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 4 Page 76

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
  

  
 

   
  

   
   

 
 

    
    

    
  

  
  

  
     

 
   

 
      

   
  

 
    

    
  

    
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

      
  

    
 

d) be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow 
for new and flexible working practices (such as live-work accommodation), 
and to enable a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances. 

83. Planning policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific 
locational requirements of different sectors. This includes making provision for 
clusters or networks of knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology 
industries; and for storage and distribution operations at a variety of scales and 
in suitably accessible locations.” 

Legal framework: Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2.4 There are a variety of definitions of Social Value already in existence, many of 

which stem from the Social Value Act (2012), which highlights the additional 
benefits available from thoughtful commissioning of public services. Because 
of this, existing definitions largely consider Social Value in relation to services, 
rather than goods or works. This overlooks the possibility that Social Value is 
the broader social, environmental and economic benefits, which enrich society, 
rather than just the social capital of a locality. 

2.5 Although the 2012 Act applies to contracts beyond a certain minimum value 
only, there is evidence that it has been applied by Councils to the procurement 
of goods and works, as well as services. This is perhaps a reflection of the 
growing recognition that the Act can be used to capitalise on the broader Social 
Value Agenda. 

2.6 The scope of potential outcomes that deliver Social Value is therefore widening 
and a growing number of Councils are looking to capitalise on this by integrating 
Social Value into their planning process, albeit with different approaches. The 
most practical opportunities, however, include the requirement for development 
to produce a Social Value Strategy. 

Levelling Up 
2.7 The Levelling Up agenda put Councils at the heart of delivering the 

Government’s programme to improve opportunities and outcomes in all parts 
of the country.  Dacorum is a divided Borough with areas of deprivation sitting 
alongside areas of wealth and prosperity. This SPD emphasises the Council’s 
ambition to support the national Levelling Up agenda, working alongside local 
stakeholders to build forward for a prosperous and resilient future. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 5 Page 77



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
 

  
 

      
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
   

 
   

  
  

   
 

  
   

  
   

  
    

    
 

  
     

  
  
     

 
 

3. Local Policy Background 

3.1 The following local documents provide the policy framework for this SPD; 
Dacorum Borough Council Corporate Plan 2020 - 2025; 
Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050; 
Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan; 
Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan; and 
Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 2020. 

Further studies across the Hertfordshire area provide a wider strategic 
context. 

Dacorum Borough Council Corporate Plan 2020 - 2025 
3.2 Ensuring economic growth and prosperity is one of the six key priorities of the 

Council’s Corporate Plan, which will drive service delivery over the period of the 
plan. The outlined activities seek to achieve a future where “employment 
opportunities will be diverse and offer good choice, and unemployment is kept 
low, with the local economy strong and thriving”. 

Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050 
3.3 The Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy ‘Shaping the Future of 

Dacorum’ was prepared to help steer service delivery over the coming decades 
to enable the Borough to maximise on the benefits from growth, address the 
challenges it faces and anticipate the changes ahead. For theme 2 ‘Generating 
a vibrant economy with opportunities for all’ the Strategy’s vision for the 
economy is “A vibrant economy that makes the most of its location and its 
transport links, as well as offering varied high-value jobs. One that attracts 
businesses in emerging growth sectors, keeps unemployment low and 
continues to attract high levels of investment by working with the business 
community”. 

3.4 The Strategy continues by setting out the challenges the Borough faces, these 
are summarised below: 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 6 Page 78

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocs%2Fdefault-source%2Fcouncil-democracy%2Fcorporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf%3Fsfvrsn%3Dba6f089e_8&clen=3417388&chunk=true
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocs%2Fdefault-source%2Fstrategic-planning%2Fdacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf&clen=7006699&chunk=true
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-plan
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs30987%2FFINAL%2520-%2520Economic%2520Recovery%2520Plan%2520Cabinet%2520Oct%252021.pdf&clen=248483
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs26599%2FSPAE-01-12-20-Appendix%25202-Hemel%2520Garden%2520Communities%2520Spatial%2520Vision.pdf&clen=10775903
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocs%2Fdefault-source%2Fstrategic-planning%2Fdacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf&clen=7006699&chunk=true
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.dacorum.gov.uk%2Fdocs%2Fdefault-source%2Fstrategic-planning%2Fdacorum-growth-and-infratstructure-strategy-to-2050.pdf&clen=7006699&chunk=true


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
  

   
  
  

  
    
   

 
  
    

 
 

      
     
    

 
  

 
 

   
 
 

  
   
  

 
    

   
 

   
 

  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
   
   

     
 

 

• Fostering a strong economy with a good range of employers and well-
paid secure jobs for local people; 

• Ensuring land is available to build businesses; 
• Making town centres attractive and resilient to changes in retail patterns; 
• Preparing the local economy to take advantage of growing business 

sectors such as enviro-tech; 
• Creating the right employment base through skills and training; 
• Extending and improving digital connectivity to attract employers and 

enable agile work practices; 
• Creating conditions that encourage ongoing business investment; and 
• Developing Dacorum as a tourism destination. 

Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan 
3.5 The Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan comprises: 

• Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted September 2013); 
• Dacorum Site Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted July 

2017); and 
• Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1991-2011 (adopted April 2004) (saved 

policies). 

3.6 Dacorum Core Strategy contains the Council’s strategic policy framework for 
delivering development and change over the plan period (2006-2031). 
Strengthening economic prosperity is one of the central themes of the 
document beneath which sits a strategic objective to promote a vibrant and 
prosperous economy and supporting local objectives. Section 11 sets out the 
Plan’s approach to creating jobs and full employment. 

3.7 Policy CS14 seeks to support economic development in terms of ensuring 
sufficient land for jobs growth and guiding new development to key locations: 

“Policy CS14: Economic Development 
Sufficient land will be allocated to accommodate growth in the economy of 
approximately 10,000 jobs between 2006 and 2031. 
Development that supports the knowledge-based economy, the transition 
to a low carbon economy, the rural economy and sustainable tourism, will 
be particularly encouraged. 
Most employment generating development will be located in town and 
local centres and General Employment Areas in accordance with Policies 
CS1 and CS4. Hemel Hempstead will be the main focus for new economic 
development uses, which will be used to support the regeneration of the 
Maylands Business Park and Hemel Hempstead town centre. 
Employment levels elsewhere within the borough will be maintained to 
ensure a spread of job opportunities. 
Initiatives that help the local workforce adjust to change and develop their 
skills will be supported.” 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 7 Page 79

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-plan
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/local-planning-framework/core-strategy
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/local-planning-framework/site-allocations
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/local-plan-1991-2011


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

  
     

 
   

 
   

  
 

 
 

  
   

    
  

      
    

   
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

3.8 The Council seeks contributions from developers towards the provision of 
infrastructure required to support growth in Dacorum via the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Where applicable, the Council may also enter into an 
agreement (known as a Section 106) with the developer and/or landowners to 
mitigate the direct impacts of developments on local communities under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

New Dacorum Local Plan 
3.9 Public engagement on the Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy 

for Growth (Regulation 18) took place over autumn/winter 2021-2022. The 
Employment and Skills SPD may need to be updated to incorporate relevant 
local policy post adoption of the new Local Plan. Further information on the 
timetable for Plan preparation can be found in the Council’s Local Development 
Scheme. 

Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 
3.10 Giving local people the opportunity and responsibility to develop new and 

existing skills, to ensure that they are equipped to take advantage of growth, is 
a key output of the work currently being undertaken by Dacorum Borough 
Council. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 8 Page 80

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/local-development-scheme.pdf?sfvrsn=fb48079e_4
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/local-development-scheme.pdf?sfvrsn=fb48079e_4


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

    
 

   
  

  
   

 
 

  
   

    
 

 
    

   
 

 
   

 
   

 
    

  
  

  
 

   
    

     
 

    
  

  
  

   
 

   
       

 
 

   
 

  
  

 
 

  
 

3.11 In October 2021, Dacorum Cabinet approved the Dacorum Economic Recovery 
Plan, supported by a multi-partner Economic Recovery Board. The Board has 
brought together local and regional stakeholders including the Herts LEP, Herts 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry, social enterprises, West Herts College, 
Hertfordshire University and local businesses, to focus on six key priorities set 
out within the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan. These are: 

1. Ensuring a current and future workforce has the skills and opportunity to 
take advantage of new high skills technology employment. 

2. Engaging with and supporting businesses and develop social 
enterprises’/community interest companies’ capacity to facilitate growth, 
investment and ensure longer term strategic plans meet the needs of the 
businesses. 

3. Supporting the growth of the existing Information, Science, Technology and 
Professional Services clusters and developing the growing Enviro Tech 
sector, linking closely with Herts Innovation Quarter (Herts IQ) and Hemel 
Garden Community. 

4. Identifying Dacorum’s Unique Selling Point (USP) and develop the 
engagement with inward investors, regional and national partners to 
promote the opportunities in the district and lobby for funding and 
investment. 

5. Repurposing Hemel Hempstead town centre and introduce new work 
spaces and employment opportunities. 

6. Developing the International Dacorum brand, promoting export and 
developing international partnership links. 

3.12 The Dacorum Economic Recovery Board have commenced work on delivering 
actions to achieve access to opportunities for all residents in Dacorum. 
Activities under theme 1 of the Recovery Plan, Skills and Employment include: 

• Develop an Employer Engagement Plan (to be linked with the Business 
Growth proposed Employer Engagement Plan and the Herts Local Skills 
Improvement Plan) aimed at using employers as consultees when 
developing the skills offer. 

• Create Social Value from development and developer’s Employment and 
Skills Plans. Develop a process to attract skills and employment 
opportunities from large developments and procurement. 

• Track destinations from Further Education and Higher Education to identify 
student’s successes and challenges when taking up employment after 
study. 

• Work with Herts Innovation Quarter (Herts IQ) and others to investigate 
skills gaps and to identify opportunities to address them across existing 
and new provision. 

• Target young people not in education or employment (NEETS) to ensure 
access to Traineeships and Apprenticeships. 

3.13 These activities aim to deliver the following key outcomes: 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 9 Page 81



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
 

    
 

    
   

   
     

 
   

  
  

 
   

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
   

   
 

    
 
 

   
 

   
 

  
   

 
    

   
   

   
     

 
  

 
 

 
      

   
    

 

• Increased number of apprenticeships across key employment sectors 
(targeting skills shortages within the Borough of Dacorum). 

• Increased inclusion of hard-to-reach groups such as long term 
unemployed, residents with disabilities and ex-offenders. 

• Dacorum has a flexible and highly skilled workforce to enable future 
economic growth and economic wellbeing of its residents. 

• All residents have access to and knowledge of a coordinated skills offer 
and available career paths to enable them to take advantage of future jobs. 

3.14 The implementation of attracting Social Value in the form of skills and 
employment opportunities from developments, will contribute greatly towards 
achieving the aims of the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan. 

3.15 The Council is also in the process of developing a Dacorum Social Value 
Framework as a tool to support the development of skills and increase in 
residents’ economic wellbeing. 

Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 2020 
3.16 Hemel Garden Communities (HGC) is a collaboration of three authorities: 

Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council and 
Hertfordshire County Council, supported by the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership, set up to enable sustainable local growth through new housing and 
jobs in the area to the north and east of Hemel Hempstead. 

3.17 Supported by Garden City Principles, Hemel Garden Communities will take the 
best of the New Town heritage into the 21st century with up to 11,000 homes, 
10,000 jobs and Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter at its heart, anchoring the 
transformation of Hemel Hempstead and the wider area. 

3.18 The HGC programme area covers the whole town of Hemel Hempstead, within 
the borough of Dacorum, as well as proposed growth areas straddling both 
Dacorum and St Albans District to the north and east of the town and wider 
movement routes beyond. 

3.19 Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, Hertfordshire 
County Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership and The Crown 
Estate are working together to deliver this ambitious development programme 
which will transform and grow Hemel Hempstead and create attractive, 
sustainable new neighbourhoods to its north and east by 2050. 

3.20 The HGC proposal has been recognised by Government, which awarded 
Hemel Hempstead ‘Garden Town’ status and a grant in 2019 to help develop 
garden communities of the future. 

3.21 The Spatial Vision (2021) is a high-level document that provides a series of 
aspirations for the future of HGC. It is made-up of an overarching vision, which 
is organised into four thematic pillars, all of which reinforce the aspirations to 
promote healthy lifestyles and respond to the climate crisis. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 10 Page 82

https://www.hemelgardencommunities.co.uk/media/3hknvayj/hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
  

   
  

  
 

 
  

 
      

   
 

     
  

 
    

  
    

 
    

   
  

 
      

   
 
 

  
 

   
  

  
    

 
  

Wider Strategic Context 
3.22 Along with the other South West Hertfordshire authorities (Dacorum, 

Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and Watford Councils), the Council 
commissioned the South West Hertfordshire Economic Studies (2016 and 
2019) to provide a comprehensive economic baseline and growth scenarios. 
These studies looked at employment land and floorspace requirements to 2036. 
They also reviewed some existing and potential future employment areas. 

3.23 One of the key economic messages arising from the study was the need to 
support the growth of established sectors to help address productivity 
challenges. South West Hertfordshire has established strengths in professional 
services, ICT and film and TV production, with significant growth potential. The 
need to support science-based industries was also highlighted. 

3.24 The Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership is responsible for a number of 
important initiatives and reports including the Hertfordshire Strategic Economic 
Plan 2017-2030 (2017). This document’s vision is that by 2030, Hertfordshire 
will be among the UK’s leading economies, helping to realise the full economic 
potential of the areas assets and opportunities. It identifies three growth 
corridors based on the M1 and M25 motorways, which Dacorum falls into, and 
around the A1 (M) and M11/A10. 

3.25 The Hertfordshire Skills and Employment Strategy 2021-2024 was produced by 
Hertfordshire LEP, Hertfordshire County Council and the Department for Work 
and Pensions and comprises a detailed action plan to help increase and 
develop the county’s existing and future workforce to be best equipped to meet 
employers’ needs. 

3.26 The Hertfordshire Chamber of Commerce is developing a Hertfordshire Local 
Skills Improvement Plan through a government-funded programme designed 
to bring together businesses and education providers to discuss the skills 
needed now and for the future. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 11 Page 83

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/south-west-herts-economy-study---february-2016.pdf?sfvrsn=a36f2f9e_0
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-planning/south-west-herts-economic-study-update---september-2019.pdf?sfvrsn=3594099e_6
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/s3xa5eye/hertfordshire-lep-sep-report-interactive-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/s3xa5eye/hertfordshire-lep-sep-report-interactive-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ouygszbz/hertfordshire-skills-and-employment-strategy-2021-2024.pdf


  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

  
 

 
     

   
 

 
  

  
 

   
 

 
   

 
   

  
 

 
  

  
 

    
  

 
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
      

 
      

 
      

 
      

 
 

      

 
 

      

   
     

 

                                  
 
 
   

4. Justification and Context 

The need for Social Value Strategies 
4.1 The Borough is likely to experience significant change and growth over the next 

15 years with plans for some of the most ambitious development programmes 
within Hertfordshire. 

4.2 This will create a period of unprecedented opportunity and it is important that 
local residents are able to access the jobs created by growth.  Doing so will help 
to address existing barriers to employment that are reflected in the current 
proportion of Dacorum residents who are not economically active and who lack 
any qualifications. 

4.3 In June 20222, there were over 18,000 economically inactive residents and in 
December 2021, 6,500 residents with no qualifications in the Borough. This 
represents a major untapped resource for the Borough of residents whose lives 
could be transformed through support and access to job opportunities that 
would increase their economic well-being. 

4.4 Low levels of educational attainment is an issue facing the Borough. A 
breakdown of the proportion of residents with various levels of qualifications is 
shown in Table 1 below.  This compares educational attainment levels in 
Dacorum Borough with that of the wider Hertfordshire County and across Great 
Britain over two consecutive years, and in doing so, it reveals that the Borough 
has a greater proportion of its workforce with no qualifications. 

January 2020 – December 2020 January 2021 – December 2021 
Level of 
Attainment 

Dacorum 
(%) 

Hertfordshire 
(%) 

National 
(%) 

Dacorum 
(%) 

Hertfordshire 
(%) 

National 
(%) 

NVQ4 and 
above 

42.8 47.2 43 38.3 49.0 43.6 

NVQ3 and 
above 

52.8 64.3 61.3 48.3 63.8 61.5 

NVQ2 and 
above 

76.6 79.9 78.1 73.9 81 78.1 

NVQ1 and 
above 

86.8 85.5 87.8 83.5 90.2 87.5 

Other 
qualifications 

7.9 5.8 5.9 10.0 5.5 5.9 

No 
qualifications 

5.3 4.7 6.4 6.5 4.4 6.6 

Table 1: Qualifications of Dacorum Borough Residents 
Source: Nomis Labour Market Profile Dec 2020 and Dec 2021 

2 Nomis Labour Market Profile 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 12 Page 84



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 

 
 
 

   
   

    
  

   
 

 
  

    
     

 
      

    
   

 
  

 

    
   

 

                                  
 
 
   
    

   
 

   

4.5 Compared to the Hertfordshire averages, Dacorum has fewer residents who 
have gained higher qualifications and more residents with lower qualifications. 
Figures from 20213 show that in Dacorum, 38.3% of residents had achieved 
NVQ4 and above compared to the Hertfordshire average of 49.0%, and 6.5% 
of residents in Dacorum had no qualifications compared to 4.4% in 
Hertfordshire. 

4.6 Failure to address this low skills base would inevitably slow the growth of the 
local economy adding more urgency to the need to maximise the development 
of skills and thereby improve the employment prospects of local people. 

4.7 There are pockets of deprivation throughout Dacorum, including wards that are 
within the 20% most deprived Super Output Areas4 in Hertfordshire in each of 
Hemel Hempstead, Tring and Berkhamsted. 

4.8 Average wages provide a further clear indicator that resident’s economic 
wellbeing is reduced, with workplace earnings averaging £30,992 in 2021, 
lower than the Hertfordshire average of £33,9785. This shows the challenge 
facing Dacorum’s residents in being able to access high skilled and high paid 
jobs in the Borough as well as the lack of access and career paths. 

3 Nomis Labour Market Profile 
4 Super Output Areas cover around 125 households. SOAs are built from groups of OAs and replace the 
previously used electoral ward/divisions as the standard geographic hierarchy for reporting small area statistics in 
England and Wales. 
5 ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 13 Page 85



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
  

 
     

  
    

    
   

  
  

 
  

   
  

 
 

     
 

    
   

    
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

  
 

    
 

     
 

  
    

 
 

                                  
 
 
  
   

       
 

 
  

     

4.9 In addition, many residents are employed within low paid sectors that have been 
affected by the pandemic and where future automation is expected. 

4.10 The recovery from the Pandemic will be slow as the change in the labour market 
will create mismatches with employees from affected sectors needing to retrain 
to access employment in sectors with job opportunities. This is particularly true 
for young people, aged 18 – 24, where across the UK 3 out of 5 have lost their 
jobs as a result of COVID-19. In July 2021, the youth claimant count 
(unemployment) in Hertfordshire stood at 605, representing 6.1% of all 18-24 
year olds in Dacorum6. 

4.11 Young people (aged 16 to 24 years) in the UK were the most affected by the 
pandemic, partly due to a higher proportion of this age group being employed 
in sectors of the economy impacted by lockdown restrictions such as the 
wholesale and retail trade, accommodation and food services, and health and 
social work. Young people at the start of their careers were also less likely to 
be in a type of role that could be done from home and are more likely to be on 
zero-hours contracts. As a result, during 2020, their employment declined the 
most compared with other age groups, and their unemployment and economic 
inactivity rates increased. As long-term unemployment amongst young people 
has risen7, this may have a significant impact on their future employment 
prospects and earnings.8 

4.12 While some areas of the economy might start to recover, young workers are 
under-represented in these sectors, and the industries that typically employ 
them are likely to be impacted more. Longer-term structural changes in the 
labour market such as automation and the introduction of new technologies are 
likely to reduce job opportunities for those young people who do not have 
support to improve their skills. Outside of COVID-19 there is a long-term slow 
downward trend in young people’s exposure to training.9 More young people 
have chosen to continue in full-time education, reducing the youth employment 
rate and making it difficult for employers to recruit into entry level jobs. 

4.13 These factors drastically reduce the likelihood of local residents being able to 
access opportunities to improve their economic wellbeing. As a result, 
intervention is now needed to ensure local residents can take full advantage of 
new opportunities and the changing needs of the labour market, through access 
to reskilling and new career paths. 

6 Economic Profile of Dacorum, Dacorum Borough Council 
7 A Better Future: Transforming jobs and skills for young people post-pandemic, Institute for 
Employment Studies Report, Williams J, Alexander K, Wilson T, Newton B (IES); McNeil C, Jung C 
(IPPR) 
8 Coronavirus and changing young people’s labour market outcomes in the UK: March 2021, Office 
for National Statistics 
9 How has the pandemic affected young people’s job skills? IOE Blog, UCL, 16 December 2021 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 14 Page 86



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
     

     
   

 
   

  
    

    

    

    

  
   

    

    

     

   
 

  
 

    
  

  
  

 
 

   
     

     
     

    
     

  
   

  
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

Circumstances in which a Social Value Strategy will be requested 
4.14 The Council will expect developments that meet or exceed the thresholds set 

out in Table 2, to submit a site-specific Social Value Strategy: 

Use Class Development Threshold for Social Value Strategy 

C3 Residential 
(Dwelling houses) 30 or more dwellings 

B2 General industry Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

B8 Storage and distribution Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

C1 Hotels Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

E Commercial, business 
and service Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

F1 Learning and non-
residential institutions Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

F2 Local Community Building(s) of 1,000m² or more 

Sui generis Building(s) of 1,000m2 or more 

Table 2: Thresholds for Social Value Strategy requirement 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Social Value Strategy should cover the 
construction phase of all residential and commercial development in the 
Borough that meets or exceeds the threshold. In addition, where appropriate, 
commercial development should also include a commitment to target local 
residents when recruiting for employment opportunities that will be created by 
the end-use occupation (see 4.21). 

Content of a Social Value Strategy 
4.15 The Council will provide prospective developers with a Social Value Forecast 

on request to enable the applicant to prepare a Social Value Strategy for 
submission with their application. The targets in the Social Value Forecast must 
be generated using an industry approved model that calculates Social Value 
requirements according to planning class uses and then applies regionally 
specific information, such as CITB Construction Skills Network Data. This 
approach ensures that Social Value targets are relevant to specific 
developments and allows flexibility for genuine and sustainable outcomes to be 
delivered which reflect the business needs of Applicants/Developers/ 
Contractors and their supply chain. 

4.16 Developers are strongly encouraged to work with the Council’s Approved 
Delivery Partner to draft and agree a Social Value Strategy.  Those applicants 
not involved in Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) discussions are 
required to check the Local Validation Checklist requirements in force at the 
time of making an application.  Contact details for the Council’s Approved 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 15 Page 87



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
 

 
    

 
  

 
 

 
  

   
 

  
 

 
  

 

   
 

    
 

 
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
  

  
   

 
 

      
 

 
    

   

Delivery Partner can be obtained from the Council’s Development Management 
Team. 

4.17 The Social Value Strategy must reference the Social Value Target generated 
by the Social Value Forecast and demonstrate a clear commitment by the 
Applicant/Developer to achieve the target during the construction phase of the 
project. Where appropriate, the Strategy should also include ‘end-use’ (see 
4.21). 

4.18 The Council will expect the Strategy to demonstrate clear links to the Borough’s 
needs, to include liaising with organisations and bodies such as the 
Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Hertfordshire Opportunities Portal, 
West Herts College and local schools. Measures within the Strategy must 
benefit local residents, with commitments made to as many of the following as 
is practicably achievable; 

• Targeted recruitment and training requirements, ensuring that 
apprenticeship and other work opportunities help to alleviate 
unemployment; 

• Work placements opportunities designed to support education and 
learning; 

• Targeted vacancy filling or maximising the use of employment support 
partners; 

• Supporting the integration of the local supply chain, helping to develop a 
wider business base both for the delivery of services and materials; 

• Provision of opportunities for social enterprises, which have explicit 
social, economic or environmental aims; 

• Participation in the promotion of education initiatives, supporting the 
transition between school and work; 

• Participation in forums created to promote sector development, sharing 
good practice to stimulate improvement; 

• Participation in forums created to promote community development, 
maximising the benefits of a strong voluntary and community sector. 

4.19 The above list is not exhaustive and discussion with the Council is 
recommended at pre-application and Planning Performance Agreement stage 
for all proposals requiring a Social Value Strategy, in order that the individual 
requirements for each Social Value Strategy are negotiated prior to the 
submission of a planning application. 

4.20 A wide range of other local employment and training measures can also be 
secured through the Social Value Strategy, as detailed in Appendix 1. 

4.21 End-use refers to the employment and skills opportunities that will be generated 
once the development is complete. For the avoidance of doubt, this will apply 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 16 Page 88



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

  
    

   
   

   
  
       

  

 
 

 
  

to all developments other than residential developments. All such non-
residential developments must include in their Social Value Strategies a 
commitment to provide the Council with details of the end-user. The Council’s 
Approved Delivery Partner and Economic Development Team will then liaise 
with the end-user as the project nears completion to support them with their 
immediate recruitment requirements. Any outcomes generated during the end-
use phase of the project will be counted as additional to the Social Value Target. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 17 Page 89



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

   
 
 

   
   

  
 

   
  

  
  

   
  

 
  

     
 

     
 

     
   

   
    

    
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

5. Implementation and Monitoring 

How will Social Value Strategies be implemented? 
5.1 The process and typical procedures involved in the implementation and 

monitoring of Social Value Strategies are shown in Appendix 2. 

5.2 The Council’s requirement for a Social Value Strategy will be highlighted to 
applicants during their pre-application and Planning Performance Agreement 
discussions with the Planning Case Officer.  The Planning Case Officer will 
provide details for the Council’s approved Social Value Delivery Partner who 
will support the applicant to obtain a Social Value Forecast and draft and agree 
the content of a Social Value Strategy. 

5.3 The finalised and agreed Social Value Strategy will thereafter be submitted with 
the planning application. Its content will then be considered as part of the 
application’s assessment and a planning obligation (under S106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990) secured where it satisfies the relevant tests. 

5.4 During the construction phase of a development, delivery of Social Value 
Strategies will be supported by the Council’s Approved Delivery Partner. The 
Delivery Partner will support the developer and/or main contractor to agree a 
Social Value Delivery Plan detailing the Social Value outcomes that will be 
generated by the project with the ultimate aim of achieving the Social Value 
Target set out in the Social Value Strategy. The Approved Delivery Partner will 
provide an end-to-end service for each development supporting delivery as well 
as monitoring and reporting of all outcomes. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 18 Page 90



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

  
   

  
     

  
      

  
  

 
   

  
   

   
 

     
 

   
 
   

  
 

  
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

   
    

How will Social Value Strategies be monitored? 
5.5 Delivery of the Social Value Strategy will be monitored via the Council’s S106 

monitoring process and it will be the responsibility of the developer to ensure 
that the Strategy (including any monitoring requirements on the developer) is 
delivered in accordance with the S106 agreement. Any non-compliance relating 
to the delivery of the Social Value Strategy by the applicant or the appointed 
contractor will be reported to the Council by the Approved Delivery Partner, the 
Council will then take the appropriate action to ensure compliance. 

5.6 The Council’s Approved Delivery Partner will routinely monitor the delivery of 
all Social Value Strategies and will regularly up-date the Council on 
performance and progress. The Approved Delivery Partner will submit a final 
report at the end of each development detailing the outcomes achieved. 

5.7 A financial contribution to enable the Approved Delivery Partner to deliver their 
end-to-end service will be collected via Section 106 agreements, specifically 
relating to the delivery, monitoring and reporting of Social Value. 

5.8 It will be important for the Council and the development industry, as well as its 
delivery partners, to evaluate the outcomes of Social Value Strategies once 
they have been completed. Successful examples in Dacorum Borough and 
elsewhere will be shared with applicants for planning permission, in order to 
ensure that they can be used again for the benefit of local residents. 

5.9 The number of Social Value Strategies in operation and the opportunities 
provided will be reported in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) published by 
the Council. 

5.10 Finally, the Council will monitor the effectiveness of this guidance and review 
as appropriate in the light of its performance and any future changes in planning 
law, national policy and guidance. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 19 Page 91



  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
   

 
 

  
 

   

   

    
 

    
 

    

  
 

   
 

 
  

    
    

 
 

  
 

   
 

  
  

 
  

  

   
 

  
 

   
  

  

   
 

 
  

Appendix 1: Delivery Options 

The range of local employment and training methods that can be secured through 
Social Value Strategies include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Recruitment through Jobcentre Plus and other employment agencies; 

• Creating new apprenticeship opportunities for local people; 

• Pre-employability Support e.g. mentoring, work trials and interview 
guarantees; 

• Work experience and work placements (14-16 years, 16-19 years and 19+ 
years); 

• Training e.g. Construction Skills Certification Scheme (CSCS) Cards; 

• Work with local education providers (e.g. schools, colleges and universities) 
to actively promote careers in development and construction; and 

• Community based projects. 

Where possible, opportunities should be offered to local residents who have 
traditionally been excluded from the employment and training cycle.  In addition to 
unemployment, this includes residents who would like to work but are unable to do so 
because of factors outside their control e.g. those with a disability, sickness, or caring 
responsibilities. 

Through their Social Value Strategies, developers are also encouraged to set out how 
they would engage with local schools and support them to promote the skills and 
qualifications needed for employment amongst young people aged 11 to 16. 

The Social Value Delivery Plan will contain more detail around how these outcomes 
will be achieved, for example: 

• Career inspiration: speakers provided to schools, role models to inspire and 
encourage career progression, work ‘taster’ events; 

• Employability: mentoring and support for specific cohorts of young people 
(e.g. under-achievers, high achievers, or young people from particular 
areas or estates), sessions on employer expectations, mock interviews and 
interview preparation; 

• Curriculum support: advice on curriculum design to bring construction 
opportunities to life and support to design curriculum-based interventions; 
and 

• Work-based learning: workplace visits to complement classroom-based 
learning, work experience placements etc. 

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 20 Page 92



Appendix 2: The Process
DBC = Dacorum Borough Council 
ADP = Approved Delivery Partner 
SVS = Social Value Strategy 
PPA = Planning Performance Agreement 
S106 = Section 106 agreement of the Town and Country Planning Act 

Pre-Application/PPA Direct Application 
The requirement for a SVS will be 
highlighted to applicants as part of 

pre-application discussions 

Applicants not involved in Pre-App/PPA 
discussions are required to check the Local 
Validation Checklist requirements in force at 
the time of making an application to confirm 

the requirement for a SVS 

Planning/Business Support Officer 
passes details to ADP and 

requests a Social Value Forecast 

Applicant requests Social Value Forecast from 
the ADP via DBC 

ADP submits Social Value Forecast to Planning Officer, 
Economic Development Officer and Applicant 

ADP and Developer/Planning Agent prepare the content of a SVS. The Strategy is 
approved by the ADP and submitted by the applicant with the planning application 

Application is registered and validated by DBC 

DBC and Applicant agree S106 Heads of Terms to include the SVS and Social Value fee 

Pre-Commencement – payment of Social Value fees 

Commencement - ADP and Developer/Contractor agree a Social Value Delivery Plan 
setting out the range of delivery options that will be implemented in support of the SVS. 

ADP to support on-going delivery of the plan 

Construction - ADP submits regular monitoring reports to the Council, 
showing progress against the agreed Social Value Target 

As the project nears completion and where appropriate (see 4.21) the ADP and the 
Council’s Economic Development Team will liaise with the end-user to support them with 

their immediate recruitment needs 

Completion - Final monitoring report submitted by ADP. DBC issue Discharge Notice 

  
  
  
   
 

 
     

 

 
   

   
  
  

   
 

         
    

  
 

 
 

 
    

 
   

   
   

 
 

   

   
 

 
    

  
 

    
    

 
 

  
 

 
 

    
 
 

   
 

   
   

  
 

      
  

 

  
   

  
 
 

     

Employment and Skills SPD January 2023 21 Page 93



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

   

COUNCIL 

Employment and Skills 

Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) 

Consultation Report 

January 2023 

Page 94



 

 
 

    

    

   

    

   

     

     

     

    

       

 

  

Contents 

1. Introduction............................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Consultation Report.................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Background ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2.2 Engagement Methods ............................................................................................................ 3 

2.3 Making Representations ........................................................................................................ 5 

2.4 Level of Response.................................................................................................................. 6 

3. Analysis of Responses ............................................................................................................. 8 

4. Next Steps .............................................................................................................................. 24 

Appendix A: Supporting Information.............................................................................................. 25 

Appendix B: Full Text of Responses.............................................................................................. 34 

1 
Page 95



 

 

  
 
 

         

      

       

      

       

     

 

      

   

   

 

    

   

          

 

    

  

      

     

   

  

          

  

 

 
 

1.Introduction 

1.1 The Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is a tool that will 

enable the Council to ring-fence opportunities arising from development to benefit Dacorum’s 

residents, thereby generating additional social value. The purpose of the SPD is to increase 

local employment opportunities, help businesses to find suitable local staff and suppliers, 

improve the skills of local people, support businesses already located in Dacorum to grow 

and attract new businesses into the area. 

1.2 The Council are grateful for the time residents, businesses and organisations have spent 

engaging with this document. This Consultation Report sets out the engagement process in 

detail, summarises the main issues raised and sets out the Council’s response. 

1.3 This report is structured as follows: 

Section 2. Consultation Report: explains how we engaged in accordance with our 

Statement of Community Involvement, including the methods we used and the overall level of 

response. 

Section 3. Analysis of Responses: we expand on the points raised in the comments on the 

document or expand further on the points raised in the comments 

Section 4. Next Steps: sets out the adoption timetable for the SPD. 

Appendix A. Supporting Information: provides copies of the key materials used to 

advertise the consultation. This includes copies of the notification for the consultation and the 

public notice. 

Appendix B. Full Text of Responses: contains full copies of all the individual responses 

made to the consultation. 

2 

Page 96



 

 

  
 

  
 

      

   

   

      

     

 

    

      

     

      

  

    

   

 

       

     

     

 

     

 

  
 

    

         

     

   

 

       

      

   

 

          

      

   

                                                   

   
              

  

2.Consultation Report 

2.1 Background 

2.1.1 The consultation on the Employment and Skills – Draft Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) was undertaken in accordance with Regulations 12 and 13 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012. The consultation was 

also carried out in accordance with the requirements set out in the Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI), adopted by the Council in 2019. 

2.1.2 The consultation sought views and opinions from residents, businesses and organisations 

on a full draft version of the SPD. This follows internal engagement with the Council’s 

Economic Development and Development Management teams and Hemel Garden 

Communities. Development of the SPD was supported by Hertfordshire Community Wealth 

Building Project and ongoing progress was shared with the Project Steering Group (a sub 

group of the Hertfordshire Growth Board) and the Hertfordshire Planning Group, attended by 

planning officers representing the Hertfordshire local authorities. 

2.1.3 The statutory public consultation took place between 12pm on the 28th October 2022 and 

11:59pm on the 28th November 2022. This satisfies the requirement to consult for a four 

week period, which is specified in the SCI. 

2.1.4 The consultation draft document can be viewed on our online consultation portal1. 

2.2 Engagement Methods 

2.2.1 Everyone who was on the Council’s Strategic Planning consultation database at the time of 

the consultation start date was notified of the consultation by e-mail, or by post mail where no 

e-mail address was recorded. This included specific (statutory), general and other 

consultation bodies, alongside the wider community.2 

2.2.2 The Council sent a separate notification of the consultation by e-mail to; Town and Parish 

Clerks within the Borough, elected County Councillors for Dacorum, and all of Dacorum 

Council’s elected members and its Senior and Corporate Leadership Team. 

2.2.3 The Council used a variety of engagement methods to advertise the consultation. Full 

details of the methods and levels of engagement are listed below. The figures stated below 

refer to the documents provided in Appendix A: Supporting Information. 

1 https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 
2 As set out in Part A, Section 3: ‘Who We Consult’ of the SCI: https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-
development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement 

3 

Page 97

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement


 

 

 

    

   

   

 

 

   

  

     

 

 

    

 

      

 

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

    

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

  

  

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

Digital 

o Dacorum Current Consultation Website: 48 page visits. 

o Dacorum Additional Planning Document Website: 503 page visits. 

o Consultation Portal (figure 1): 560 views from 326 users. 

Notification 

o Consultation Database Notifications (figure 2 and 3): 

 7,002 E-mail (one to each registered consultee for each consultation). 

 2,096 Postal (one letter to each consultee covering both consultations). 

Public Notice 

o Public Notice in Newspaper published in the Hemel Gazette on 26th October 2022 (figure 5 

and 6). 

o Public Notice published online on the Hemel Today website on 26th October 2022 (figure 7). 

Press/Media 

o Media release sent to 359 media contacts for wider circulation. 

Publications 

o An article was published in the digital Dacorum Life Newsletter on the 3rd November 2022 

(figure 8): 12,337 subscribers. 

Social Media 

o The consultation was advertised to 4,573 connections on LinkedIn. 

Hard Copy Documents 

o Hard copies of documents were made available for public inspection throughout the whole 

consultation period at the three deposit points listed within the SCI: 

o The Forum. 

o Berkhamsted Civic Centre. 

o Victoria Hall. 

o Hard copies of documents were also made available for the public in the reference section of 

the seven libraries located in Dacorum during their normal opening hours: 

o Adeyfield Library. 

o Berkhamsted Library. 

o Bovingdon Community Library. 

o Hemel Hempstead Library. 

o Kings Langley Community Library. 

o Leverstock Green Community Library. 

o Tring Library. 

o Hard copies of documents were made available to purchase from Strategic Planning. 

4 

Page 98



 

 

 

       

    

  

 

 

   

    

   

     

 

 

   
 

      

    

   

   

 

       

       

    

   

      

 

       

 

     

       

 

 

       

   

     

  

Town and Parish Councils within the Borough 

o The Council separately notified the 16 Town and Parish Councils in the Borough by e-mail 

(figure 4). This notification established that, if requested, the Council had made hard copies of 

the document available without cost to ensure that the town/parish council could hold their 

own reference copy. 

Dacorum Borough Council’s Elected Members 

o Notified 51 Dacorum Elected Members by e-mail. 

o Notified 10 County Councillors for Dacorum by e-mail. 

o Members’ news: Notified of consultation using the weekly e-newsletter on the 4th November 

2022. 

2.3 Making Representations 

2.3.1 Feedback on the Employment and Skills – Draft SPD was invited as a self-completion 

comments form. The form contained only one question, which simplified the process for 

consultees who wished to make general comments on the document, whilst allowing those 

who referenced specific sections/paragraphs within the document to do so. 

2.3.2 The comments form could be completed using our online consultation portal. The portal 

was advertised by providing a hyperlink in a variety of locations, including on the Council’s 
Additional Planning Guidance webpage, as part of consultation notifications and within other 

advertisements for the consultation. The portal provided the option of providing comments on 

the draft SPD, as well as supplementing that response with additional material. 

2.3.3 If it was not possible to make comments directly on the consultation portal, responses were 

also accepted: 

a. By e-mail: responses@dacorum.gov.uk; 

b. By post: Strategic Planning, The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 

1DN. 

2.3.4 For those making comments by e-mail or post, a downloadable and editable comments 

form (see figure 9) was provided on the Additional Planning Guidance web page. This could 

be completed as an online form and emailed, or printed out and posted as a letter. 

5 

Page 99

mailto:responses@dacorum.gov.uk


 

 

   
 

         

     

  

 

       

   

 

      

     

 

     

    

   

 

 

      

    

   

 

 

          

    

         

     

  

 

     

 

 

 

    

      

     

 

 

     

      

     

 

 

 

    

       

       

2.4 Level of Response 

2.4.1 The consultation received a total of sixteen comments from sixteen consultees. Out of 

these, eight consultees responded to the consultation stating that they had no specific 

comments to make. 

2.4.2 Eight of these responses were made directly within the online platform, and eight were 

made via e-mail. No responses were received via post. 

2.4.3 Detailed analysis of the responses can be viewed in Section 3 of this report, and the full 

text of all the responses submitted can be viewed in Appendix B. 

2.4.4 The following provides a high level summary of the main themes and issues emerging from 

the comments as a whole alongside the associated officer response, in no particular order of 

importance. 

Theme: 

Concern was raised that the Employment and Skills SPD would mostly benefit residents in 

Hemel Hempstead, when there is a need to promote and deliver employment opportunities 

across all of the Borough. 

Officer Comment: 

While most development is chiefly focussed on Hemel Hempstead, that is not to say that only 

those residents will benefit. The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment and training 

opportunities for the benefit of residents across all of the Borough residents, it does not seek 

to restrict this by the location of the development. 

Theme: 

Points were raised on how the occupation/end-use phase commitment to recruit local people 

would operate and be enforced. 

Officer Comment: 

Operational stage outcomes generated by the end user phase are additional to the required 

activities to deliver the social value target. These will be discretionary, and the Council will 

liaise with the end-user to support them with their recruitment needs. 

Theme: 

A number of respondents noted that following planning permission, the construction of the 

development may be delivered by multiple developers and sub-contractors and they sought 

clarification on how will the SPD requirement would work or be apportioned in these 

circumstances. 

Officer Comment: 

At application, the developer/planning agent will prepare the overarching Social Value 

Strategy. The social value requirement will then be included within the legal agreement to the 

planning consent. At commencement, the Council will work with the relevant 

6 

Page 100



 

 

        

   

 

 

     

       

 

 

     

   

 

  

     

     

     

 

 

   

    

   

     

    

 

 

 

      

       

 

 

 

   

    

 

 

     

     

 

 

     

     

     

developer/contractor to agree the Social Value Delivery Plan that will detail the outcomes that 

will be generated across the lifetime of the project. 

Theme: 

It was suggested that more information was needed on both Hemel Garden Communities 

and the Hertfordshire wide context and strategies that the SPD will support. 

Officer Comment: 

Further information on relevant strategies, documents and action plans developed by Hemel 

Garden Communities and Hertfordshire organisations have been added to the SPD. 

Theme: 

The justification for enforcing the SPD was questioned, with a respondent noting that there is 

no relevant reference within the national policy and legal framework, the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act or the Council’s local saved policy. 

Officer Comment: 

The Employment and Skills SPD provides further guidance and clarity with respect to the 

effectiveness of Policy CS14 Economic Development. Creating social value through planning 

is an established practice within many local authorities and is consistent with the guidelines 

of the National Planning Policy Framework, its overarching ambition for achieving sustainable 

development and meeting local needs, and paragraphs for building a strong, competitive 

economy. 

Theme: 

Respondents requested more information on how the SPD will operate, either via an 

Approved Delivery Partner or other operator, and how the social value forecast will be 

generated. 

Officer Comment: 

Detail on the operation and processes to be used by applicants will be published on the 

Council’s website prior to implementation of the SPD. 

Theme: 

A landowner representation highlighted the potential costs of the SPD measures and the 

impact this would have on the delivery of other priorities. 

Officer Comment: 

The SPD seeks to direct measures that the developer would normally expect to undertake to 

target the Borough’s residents’, no significant additional financial contributions are expected 

that would impact viability or delivery of other requirements. 

7 

Page 101



 

 

  
 

       

   

 

    

     

   

     

  

     

      

 

      

     

 

       

3.Analysis of Responses 

3.1 The detailed responses below set out the actions that will be taken in response to individual 

comments, points and issues. 

3.2 The responses received were individually reviewed and collated within summary tables. 

Where several members of the wider community gave a similar response, this was 

summarised and included once within the table. Responses from a specific (statutory), 

general or other consultee were summarised individually, irrespective of whether similar 

comments had been received and previously noted. An officer response has been provided 

against each issue raised. This also identifies where the Employment and Skills SPD has 

been revised as a result of the consultation comments received. 

3.3 This is then followed by a list of all the consultees who responded to the consultation stating 

that they had no comment to make. 

3.4 Full text of the responses to the consultation can be found in Appendix B of this document. 

8 

Page 102



 

 

   

 
  

   
  

 
 

 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 

  
  

     
  

    
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

  
  

 
   

  
 

  

 
 

 

Question Text: Do you have any comments on the Employment and Skills– Draft SPD? 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

Tring Town Council  The opportunities delivered via the 
SPD should be available to all 
Borough residents, including Tring, 
regardless of where the planning 
application is made. 

 The policy should also help small local 
businesses through securing space 
and offering financial assistance. 

 The Council’s objectives for economic 
growth should be balanced with the 
need to tackle the Climate Change 
Emergency. 

 It is disappointing that a Social Value 
Framework has not yet been 
developed. 

 The SPD should be widened to 
include social and wellbeing 
objectives. 

 The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment 
and training opportunities for the Borough’s 
residents, it does not seek to introduce a 
further restriction that would limit the benefit 
to a particular location. 

 These comments are welcomed but are 
beyond the scope of the Employment and 
Skills SPD. 

 These comments are welcomed but are 
beyond the scope of the Employment and 
Skills SPD. 

 Social value projects that could form part of 
a future framework are being co-ordinated 
under the Economic Recovery programme 
and monitored by the Economic Recovery 
Board. 

 The SPD focuses on employment and 
training initiatives, opportunities for 
delivering on wider social and wellbeing 
objectives are beyond its scope. 

9 

P
age 103



 

 

 
  

 

 
 

    
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 

  
 

 

   
  

 
 

  
  
   

 
 

 

  
   

 
 

   
   

 
   

   
 

 

  

 
 

 

   
  

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Tring has lost employment 
opportunities through redevelopment 
for housing. 

 Clarity is needed on how developer 
contributions via the ‘Employment and 
Skills Plan’ might be achieved, as 
construction work is carried out by a 
succession of contractors. 

 How will the social value obligation be 
deemed to be discharged. 

 How many apprenticeships might be 
generated through the SPD? 

 How will the occupation phase 
commitment to recruit local people be 
enforced? 

 Who, or what sort of person or 
organisation is envisaged as being the 
Approved Delivery Partner? 

 The allocation and protection of land for 
employment uses is outside the scope of the 
SPD. 

 The developer and/or main contractor will 
agree with the Council a Social Value 
Delivery Plan detailing the range of delivery 
options that will be implemented. 

 The LPA will issue a Discharge Notice 
following submission of a final monitoring 
report. 

 This is currently unknown and will be 
dependent on the nature and scale of future 
development. The types of opportunities 
delivered will be recorded annually in the 
Authority Monitoring Report published by the 
Council. 

 Opportunities during the occupation phase 
will be discretionary, the Council will liaise 
with the end-user to support them with their 
recruitment needs. 

 The Council is aware of a number of 
organisations who offer these types of 

10 

P
age 104



 

 

 
  

 
 

   

 
 

 
   

 
 

 

  
 

  
 

 

  
  

 
 

  
 

     
  

  
  

  
 
 

   
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

  
  

 

   

 
 
 

 

 
 

  

 
  

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

services, a decision on how this is taken 
forward will be made in 2023. 

Hemel Garden 
Communities 

 A Hertfordshire-wide perspective is 
needed on growth and opportunity 
areas, and a comparison with national 
trends. 

 Further study on socio-economic 
(including skills) and demographics 
will help understand the skills gaps 
and future trends. 

 More statistics and evidence required 
to back up trends. 

 Further information needed on Hemel 
Garden Communities – including 
ambition, opportunity, and a synopsis 
of the spatial vision document (section 
3 page 7). 

 Sustainability and the Green Economy 
– how can this tie in with Dacorum’s 
Climate and Ecological Emergency 
Strategy (August 2022) and declared 
climate emergency (2019). 

 The document text will be updated to 
include Hertfordshire wide strategies and 
plans. Section 4 compares Dacorum district 
data with Hertfordshire and national figures. 

 The Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan 
(LSIP) is under way and will deliver findings 
in 2023. 

 The information in section 4 will be updated 
to reflect the latest issue from NOMIS. 

 The document text will be updated to reflect 
this comment through the addition of the text 
provided on Hemel Garden Communities. 

 Providing local employment opportunities 
and promoting local supply chains will 
reduce travel distances and associated 
greenhouse gas emissions from transport. 
The use of sustainable building techniques 
and promotion of the green economy is 
outside the scope of the SPD. 

11 

P
age 105



 

 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 
 

 
  

  
 

 

  
 

 
 
 

   
  

 
  

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

 

  
 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

  
  

 
 

 

    

   
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Opportunity to identify further partners 
and organisations. 

 Skills Gaps and change of work trends 
post-pandemic – planning and health 
and other trends? 

 Should trends regarding Creative and 
Film industries and Life Sciences be 
mentioned? 

 Section 3 page 7 Reference county 
wide or South West Herts ambition in 
Policy Background e.g. Herts 
Economic Plan 2017-2030 (2017), 
Herts Skills and Employment Strategy 
2021-2024, South West Herts 
Economic Study Update (2019). 

 Section 3.5 page 8. Caveat the 
ongoing Local Plan Process? Reg 18 / 
Reference to Local Development 
scheme (February 2022)? 

 The main organisations and partnerships 
are listed, the Council will provide further 
contacts relevant to a particular application 
as required. 

 Early evidence on the impact of COVID-19 
demonstrates more need for the training, 
employment and work experience measures 
that the SPD seeks to introduce. 

 The SPD applies to all employment uses 
development over the 1000m2 threshold 
including opportunities in the Creative and 
Film industries and Life Sciences sectors. 

 The document text will be updated to reflect 
this comment through the addition of 
paragraphs on the South West Hertfordshire 
Economic Studies, the Hertfordshire 
Strategic Economic Plan 2017-2030, and 
the Hertfordshire Skills and Employment 
Strategy 2021-2024. 

 The document text will be updated to reflect 
this comment. 

12 

P
age 106

https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/s3xa5eye/hertfordshire-lep-sep-report-interactive-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/s3xa5eye/hertfordshire-lep-sep-report-interactive-2017.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ouygszbz/hertfordshire-skills-and-employment-strategy-2021-2024.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ouygszbz/hertfordshire-skills-and-employment-strategy-2021-2024.pdf
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publications/planning-building-control/planning-policy/examination-library/EMP%20Sept%202019%20SW%20Herts%20Economic%20Study%20Update%20%E2%80%93%20Final_tcm15-68033.pdf
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publications/planning-building-control/planning-policy/examination-library/EMP%20Sept%202019%20SW%20Herts%20Economic%20Study%20Update%20%E2%80%93%20Final_tcm15-68033.pdf


 

 

 
  

      
 

 
 

    
 

  
 

   

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

    

  

 
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

  
  

   
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

  
 

 
 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Section 3.9.3 page 9 More information 
on Herts IQ, Hemel Garden 
Communities and Herts LEP. 

 Section 3.9.5 page 9 Reference 
Hemel Place, plus transformation 
projects and town centre opportunities. 

 Section 3.10 page 10 Explanation or 
further information required on Herts 
Local Skills Improvement Plan. 

 Section 4.1 page 10. Additional county 
wide information on ambitions, 
strategies and opportunities needed to 
feed into justification. 

 Section 4.10 page 11. Further 
evidence required around the change 
of employment sectors post-pandemic 
and skills gaps. 

 Section 4.11 page 11 Evidence 
required to highlight future 
opportunities of the job market and 
sectors, such as MedTech, AgriTech, 
Clean Growth and related job skill 
gaps and future skills required. 

 The text in section 3.9.3 is in line with the 
Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan’s key 
priorities. 

 The text in section 3.9.5 is in line with the 
Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan’s key 
priorities. 

 The document text will be updated to reflect 
this comment through the addition of the 
Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan. 

 The text in Section 3 will be updated to 
include the Hertfordshire wide strategies 
and plans referenced in later comments. 
Section 4 compares Dacorum district data 
with Hertfordshire and national figures. 

 The Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan, 
due in 2023, will provide further data 
regarding employment sectors and skills 
gaps. 

 The skills and training opportunities 
delivered will largely relate to those arising 
from each qualifying development during the 
construction phase, followed by end-use if 
applicable. 

13 

P
age 107



 

 

 
  

 

   
 

 
 

 

  

 
     

 

   
 

   
 

   
  

 

  
 

 
  

 
 
 

   

 
 

   
 

 
    

    
  

  

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Section 4.18 page 11 Identify further 
partners such as Herts LEP, Herts IQ, 
Maylands, Rothamsted Research. 

 The document will be updated to include 
Herts LEP, which through its programmes 
and partners covers the other organisations 
suggested. 

Thakeham – Bulbourne 
Cross 

 A Thakeham scheme at Bulbourne 
Cross would deliver around 1,100 
homes, a primary school and 24-acre 
site for sports pitches, changing rooms 
and facilities. 

 The scheme would include a social 
value delivery plan and would create 
employment and training opportunities 
in Berkhamsted and across Dacorum 
via the use of local supply chains, 
recruitment of local labour, facilitating 
apprenticeships and work experience 
across multiple industry disciplines 
and the provision of training and 
upskilling. These initiatives would 
benefit, in particular, those who are 
unemployed and disadvantaged or 
those that are neither in employment, 
education or training (NEET). 

 Bulbourne Cross would be zero 
carbon in lifetime use and achieve a 

 The SPD would require a qualifying 
development to prepare a Social Value 
Delivery Plan at commencement for 
approval by the LPA. 

14 

P
age 108



 

 

 
  

 

  

    
  

 
 

  
   

 
 
 

 

    

 
 

 

    

 
  

 
 
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
  

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

minimum biodiversity net gain of 20%, 
will support significant opportunity for 
local green job and green job skills 
development for the community. 

L&Q Estates Ltd  Social Value should be facilitated in a 
flexible manner to enable the 
development industry and operators 
within it to deliver efficiently and 
effectively, particularly given the 
urgent need for housing to be built. 

 The potential financial impact of 
additional development requirements 
is also an important consideration, 
particularly when there can be a 
number of competing priorities that 
need to be provided as part of the 
overall developer contribution. 

 The role of local Authorities in 
capturing social and economic 
benefits from growth is not set out in 
the national policy and legal 
framework or Public Services (Social 
Value) Act. 

 The preparation of a Social Value Strategy 
is important to delivering a number of 
Council initiatives regarding the 
development of local skills and knowledge 
across the borough. The strategy should be 
reasonably flexible taking account of the 
scale and nature of proposals being put 
forward. 

 The SPD will direct measures that the 
developer would normally expect to 
undertake to target the Borough’s residents’, 
no significant additional financial 
contributions are expected that would 
impact viability or the delivery of other 
requirements. 

 The SPD seeks to define how social value 
can be delivered via development, through 
opportunities within local planning policy. 
Creating social value through planning is an 
established practice within many local 
authorities and is consistent with the 
guidelines of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and its overarching ambition for 

15 

P
age 109



 

 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

   
  

  

   
  

 
 

   
 

  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   

 

  

 
 

  
 

 

 
  

  

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Policy CS14 that is used to underlie 
the SPD mainly relates to providing 
land to accommodate growth and a 
strategy for the direction of that 
growth. There is no reference to the 
Council’s intention to identify initiatives 
that will be imposed in the delivery of 
this policy and others, or prepared 
SPDs. This should have been made 
explicit if it was the Council’s intention 
to enable a discussion on whether it 
meets the tests of soundness in the 
NPPF. The foundation of the SPD is, 
therefore, considered to be extremely 
questionable. 

achieving sustainable development and 
meeting local needs. 

 The Council considers that the existing 
Policy CS14 offers a sufficient and robust 
policy framework to support the new SPD. 
CS14 Economic Development provides the 
scope for the Council to bring forward 
initiatives and contribute towards the 
delivery of the Economic Development 
Strategy Objectives (Table 4 of the Core 
Strategy). Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states 
that ‘Significant weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local 
business needs and wider opportunities for 
development. The approach taken should 
allow each area to build on its strengths, 
counter any weaknesses and address the 
challenges of the future.’ A shortage in 
appropriately skilled construction workforce 
is one such weakness and challenge. Case 
examples also demonstrate that training 
initiatives can be secured from development 
where there is need, relevant policy 
documents and economic development 
team support. 

16 

P
age 110



 

 

 
  

  
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

    
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

  
  

 
 

    
  

  
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

 

   
 

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

  
 
 

 
  
 

  

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 Policy CS14 suggests that initiatives 
are optional, it is presumed that the 
requirements in this SPD will follow 
and also remain an option, which will 
attribute additional weight in the 
decision making process. In which 
case, no criticism can be afforded to 
schemes that do not prepare Social 
Value Strategy as part of their 
planning application. This should be 
clearly set out in the SPD. 

 Section 4 – economically inactive 
should remove number related to 
Covid 19 to show true amount of 
people that are out of work but are 
able to participate. 

 Evidence should show what sectors 
the young people who have lost their 
jobs as a result of Covid would like to 
progress into, upskilling young people 
is currently being driven by the market 
without state interventions. 

 4.13 the threshold of 30 dwellings 
should be clarified and justified and 
delivery should take into account 
development being delivered by 

 Once adopted, the SPD will be a material 
consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. It will not carry the 
same level of weight as an adopted policy of 
the Core Strategy, however an SPD should 
build upon and provide more detailed advice 
and guidance on policies in the adopted 
Core Strategy, namely in this instance policy 
CS14 and initiatives that help the local 
workforce adjust to change and develop 
their skills. 

 The number of people within Dacorum who 
are economically inactive due to issues 
related to COVID-19 is not available from 
ONS. 

 The SPD focuses on the development 
sector, promoting employment opportunities 
in other sectors that young people may be 
interested in is beyond the scope of the 
document. 

 The 30 dwelling threshold has been 
successfully implemented by other local 
authorities. It sets a practical approach that 
will capture schemes that can deliver an 

17 

P
age 111



 

 

 
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

  

 
  

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

   
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

 

   
 

   
 

  
  

 

  

 
 

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

multiple parties or the site being sold 
onto a house builder post outline 
planning consent and how the 
requirement would work in these 
scenarios. 

 Further information on the model 
name, the industry it has been 
prepared for and the companies that 
have approved it and the proposed 
delivery partner should be provided so 
the implications can be understood. 
Examples of forecasts should be 
provided. 

 4.17 A master developer or promoter 
would not be able to deliver the 
proposal in its entirety. How should it 
be apportioned on sites where there 
may be multiple developers. What are 
the consequences if targets are not 
achieved. 

 4.18 Supporting the integration of the 
local supply chain may add further 
challenges to the supply of goods 
where there are existing issues and 
will further frustrate the ability to get 

education and training programme, and are 
more likely to be delivered in locations 
where education providers and supply 
chains are located, and not penalise smaller 
developments. 

 The Council is aware of a number of models 
developed by organisations such as the 
Homes and Communities Agency, National 
Skills Academy for Construction projects 
and the Construction Industry Training 
Board. Similarly, there are several 
organisations who offer delivery partner 
services, a decision on how this is taken 
forward will be made in 2023. 

 The legal agreement is entered into by a 
person with an interest in the land (be they 
landowner or developer) and the local 
planning authority. The important point to 
note is that such agreements and 
obligations continue to run with the land, 
and are legally binding and enforceable. 

 There is evidence within the construction 
industry that the use of local supply chains 
is more sustainable, flexible and cost 
effective. 

18 

P
age 112



 

 

 
  

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 
 

   

   
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
   

 
   

 
 

 

  
 

 
   

 

  
   

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

materials when needed and should be 
excluded. Plus volume house builders 
may purchase materials on a national 
scale to maximise competitive pricing. 
Higher costs may impact on 
Dacorum’s already higher than 
national average affordability ratio. 

 Overall there will be financial 
implications and SPDs should not ‘add 
unnecessarily to the financial burdens 
on development’. 

 An operational stage Social Value 
Strategy for non-residential 
developments would be particularly 
onerous and needs more clarity. 

 Section 5, more clarity is needed on 
how the third party delivery partner will 
be funded. 

 As the policy basis suggests that the 
Social Value Strategy ‘initiatives’ 

 The measures delivered via the SPD are 
likely to reduce recruitment costs, aid 
vacancy filling and overall help to improve 
the labour and skills shortage within the 
construction industry. 

 Operational stage outcomes generated by 
the end user phase are additional to the 
required activities to deliver the social value 
target. These will be discretionary, and the 
Council will liaise with the end-user to 
support them with their recruitment needs. 

 Section 5.6 explains that a financial 
contribution to enable the Approved Delivery 
Partner to deliver their end-to-end service 
will be collected via Section 106 
agreements. 

 There are many examples across the 
country where the preparation of such 

19 

P
age 113



 

 

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
    

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

  
 

  

   
    

   

 
 

 

  
  

    
  

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  
  
  

  
 

  
 

 
  

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

would be optional, as a result it is 
questionable as to whether providing 
for the requirements in the Social 
Value forecast are necessary to make 
the development acceptable in 
planning terms. Further clarity is 
required in relation to criteria b and c 
of paragraph 57, this will depend on 
what is requested and on a site by site 
basis.  

strategies has been enshrined through a 
mixture of specific Local Plan policies or 
Supplementary Planning Documents. Policy 
CS14 sets a requirement for “initiatives that 
help the local workforce adjust to change 
and develop their skills will be supported”.  
Therefore the request to have a Social 
Value Strategy is not an additional burden 
on development given that the policy 
already supports such initiatives.  The 
Employment and Skills SPD provides further 
guidance and clarity with respect to the 
effectiveness of this part of Policy CS14. 

Wider Community  Schools should focus more on 
vocational courses in practical work-
based skills, for pupils aged 14 years 
onwards. 

 This should include work experience 
for students aged 14-15 years to 
encourage them to be part of the 
future work force. 

 The Council should promote other 
types of employment and not just the 
building industry as shown in the 
images used to illustrate the SPD. 

 The SPD encourages developers to work 
with education providers to actively promote 
careers in development and construction. 

 The SPD encourages Social Value 
Strategies to include work experience and 
work placements for students from the age 
of 14 years. 

 The SPD seeks to secure employment and 
training opportunities during the construction 
phase of buildings, such as directly on-site 
or via the local supply chain. The Economic 
Development Service engages with local 
businesses and training providers and 

20 

P
age 114



 

 

 
  

 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

   
  

  
 
 

 
 

 

  
   

 
    

   
 

   
 

 
 

 

 

  
 

  
  

 
 
 

 

    
 

  
 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 More attention should be given to 
providing employment opportunities in 
towns and areas outside Hemel 
Hempstead. 

 Developers of large residential 
schemes should be made to include 
some element of commercial 
development. 

 Developers should also be made to 
fund public transport to towns and 
areas of employment. 

 Article 4 Directives should be used in 
key areas such as Maylands Avenue 
and the town centre, to prevent the 
loss of retail shops and employment 
land. 

 More is needed to stop the decline in 
shops and increase footfall such as by 
introducing periods of free parking. 

recruiters across all sectors and 
employment types. 

 The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment 
and training opportunities for the benefit of 
all of the Borough’s residents, it does not 
seek to introduce a further restriction based 
on the location of the development. 

 The allocation of sites and associated land 
uses is outside the scope of the SPD. 

 The requirements for developer 
contributions towards public transport is 
outside the scope of the SPD. 

 The use of Article 4 Directives is outside of 
the scope of the SPD. 

 Initiatives to encourage footfall to shopping 
areas and car park charges are outside the 
scope of the SPD. The Economic 
Development Service delivers events, 

21 

P
age 115



 

 

 
  

 
 
 

  
 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 

 
  

   
 
 
 
 

  

  
 
   

 

   
  

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

 

Comment ID and 
Consultee Name 

Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 

 More small scale start-up premises, 
manufacturing and other types of 
employment uses (including those 
considered ‘dirty’ or noisy) should be 
encouraged to broaden the range of 
jobs available. 

 More is needed to bring residents who 
are economically inactive and those 
without qualifications into employment. 

 Schools should improve career 
education, with pathways to 
apprenticeships and work based 
qualifications. 

activity trails and loyalty promotions to drive 
footfall into our towns. 

 The size and mix of businesses within 
allocated employment sites is outside the 
scope of the SPD. 

 The measures delivered via the SPD will 
help bring economically inactive residents 
and those without qualifications into 
employment, to include targeting young 
people not in education or employment. 

 Social Value Strategies will be expected to 
include measures such as liaising with 
education providers, participation in 
education initiatives, and promotion of 
careers in the development industry, 
alongside the provision of traineeships and 
apprenticeships. 

22 

P
age 116



 

 

        

  

    

  

   

  

    

    

   

   

 

There were a number of responses from statutory consultees confirming that they had no specific comments to make on the content of the draft SPD. 

These consultees are: 

1. The Environment Agency 

2. Historic England 

3. Natural England 

4. The British Pipeline Agency 

5. Hertfordshire County Council: Minerals and Waste 

6. Hertfordshire County Council: Property 

7. The Canal and River Trust 

8. Transport for London 

23 

P
age 117



 

 

  
 

         

  

    

   

 

     

    

     

 

      

 

 

 

4.Next Steps 

4.1 This Consultation Report, alongside the final version of the Employment and Skills SPD will 

be reported to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Strategic Planning and the 

Environment and the Council’s Cabinet for recommendations, before progressing to Full 

Council for approval to adopt. 

4.2 The adoption procedure will be completed in accordance with Regulation 14 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, and the 

Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (adopted 2019). 

4.3 Once adopted, the Employment and Skills SPD will be a material consideration in 

determining planning applications. 

24 

Page 118



 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dacorum Consultation Home 

Employment and Skills - Draft SPD IN FORMAL SUBMISSION . CLOSED 

Consuhallon on the new Employment and Ski lls• Draft SPD 

More lnfo,mat1on PRIVACY POLICY 

Strategic Planning & 
Regeneration 

Dacorum BorCKql Cooocil 

J 01 442228660 

II ~~02!..W! 

IO The Forum MarloWes Herne! 
Hempste.id Hefts HP1 10N 

SuppOfl ing Files 

i. Iml2!!:!mnmt and Skins. !>raft 

'""'"' 
Recent Comments 

"'--"""'--L 

Please note that y~ name and comments will De made publicly viewable as t imely as is 

pr-acticable once they have been checked fOf any ?C)tential offensive content and 1heref0f"e cannot 

be ueated as confidfflljal. 

PLEASE READ BEFORE STARTING THIS CONSULTATION 

What la the Employment and Skllls - Draft SPD? 

The Efrl>IOymenl and Skills - Oran SPO is a neN l ool that will enable-tl'leCOundl to rno-rence oppatU"lities arisll'IQ from llevelopmenl to 
tienefit Dacorum"s residents, lhereb'foerwrat1ng additooal social value. The SPD alms to Increase- local efflllO'lment opportUMJes, help 
bus1ne~ to find suitable local s1atl arld suppliefs. inprove the skl1s ol local peopt., support bUSIO@$$es atreaay located In Oacon.rn to 
lJI~ and k> attract new busi~s into the area OocE' ,tdopted. ttns SPO wm be a material consid«ation in detennning planning 
appllcatiQns 

The consuttatJOn starts at 12prnon Friday 28th October 2022 and closes at 11 59prnon Monday 28th N<:werrt>er 2022. OntJ ~ 
-=-hllddum;.._tin-canbeaocaptad. 

To vlew tha document; please ,erer to tne "Supponll'IQ Files" latl, ltlE(e you WII I» IDie to Sffll'le Errlploymenl and Skil ls SPO a5 8 POF. 

How do I comment uslno the Consultation Ponal? 

To make comments youwil be asked to Sion in or reQisler (P1eo1se see ... & ·•---notes below) 

To have y()l.l'" sar. please elicit on the ST.t.m button. This wll tak.eyoo to the form where you can leave 1'01,1' corm-,ents. 

You un also at1 aet1 fI1M 1oyoor comments 0y selfct!na 'Drop I f~e n«e or t>rOwSe' 

llnelerneath me convnents lomi 'JOU will see 1t1reeop11on,: 'SAVE ANO REVIEW', 'SAVE AS DRAFT lf'IO DISCARD. 

To Compiele 'JOUr response S!IK1 'SAVE ANO REVIEW 

OM'eyouhavl!S!IKte<1lhlsoptKW1 • atthe topnQl1.of llleoocumentpitgeyouW'lll see'REVIEWanctSUBMIT'blJ[tons REVIEWallowsyooto 
review lheoorrrnents you haw curent)y saved.once you are satisfied pl@.ase select SUBMIT 

Your resPQOses are no( received •.mt~ you hal'I! SUIMITTEO them. 

Appendix A: Supporting Information 

Digital 

Figure 1: Consultation Portal 

25 

Page 119



 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

ail subject: 

Dacorum Borough Council: New Consultation on the Employment and Skills - Draft SPD Consultation 

Email body: 

Dear l!lilml 

NEW CONSULTATION ON TliE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS - DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT. 

What Is this consultation about? 

The Employment and Skills - Draft SPD is a new tool that will enable the Council to ring-fence opportunities arising from development to benefit Dacorum's residents, 
thereby generating additional social value. The SPD aims to Increase local employment opportunities, help businesses to find suitable local staff and suppliers, 

Improve the skills of local people, support businesses already located in Dacorum to grow and attract new businesses into the area. Once adopted the SPD will be a 
material consideration in determining planning applications. 

How can I have my say? 

You can make your comments to the Employment and Skills - Draft SPD between the following dates: 

IF EVENT START DATE «EXISTS>> Start Dare: l;$JhJ-Ji-lui•i-Ui4 
IF EVENT END DATE «EXISTS» End D ate: la$U11Yfl.Jldi:j4 

Please click here to make your comments on our consuHatlon portal: .EmRll!yment and Skllls • Draft spp ConsuHatlon survey 

If you have forgotten your password please follow this link 

If you have forgotten your username please follow this link 

Please note that comments received cannot be treated as confidential and will be available to view publicly. However, published comments will exclude your personal 

contact details and include only your name. 

Where can I find more lnfonnatlon? 

All information and documents relating to both consultations are avai lable onllne: 

via the Council 's consultat ion ROrta l 
• on the Council 's ~ -

Hard copies of the documents are viewable: 

at public libraries within the borough (llll[iog.JlQilllllLQ~g.h2lfil); and 
at Borough Counci l offices (llll[iog.JlQilllllLQ~g.h2lfil). 

It is also possible to purchase hard copies of documents, please email lilillJ.ltg~fllanning@!lal;.oLwn.g~ for more information. 

Please do not reply to this email. If you have any questions or require further Information please contact the Strategic Planning and Regeneration team: 

Email: ~Rlann ing@lIB£0!l!!!l,!JQYJl!s 
Phone: 01442 228660 

Yours sincerely, 

Alex Robinson 
Assistant Director for Planning 
Dacorum Borough Council 

Please ~ if you wish to amend your user details or unsubscnbe from receiving notifications about Dacorum Borough Council planning consultations 

Notification 

Figure 2: Email Notification from Objective 

26 

Page 120



 

 

     

 

COUNCIL 

Dear (Consultee Name], 

NEW CONSULTATION ON THE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS - DRAFT 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT AND THE PARADISE DESIGN CODE -
DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT. 

What are these consultations about? 
Dacorum Borough Council is consulting on two draft Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs). 

The Employment and Skills - Draft SPD is a new tool that will enable the Council to ring
fence opportunities arising from development to benefit Dacorum's residents, thereby 
generating additional social value. The SPD aims to increase local employment 
opportunities, help businesses to f ind suitable local staff and suppliers, improve the skills 
of local people, support businesses located in Dacorum to grow and attract new 
businesses into the area. 

The Paradise Design Code - Draft SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for 
new development in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, 'M'lich is currently allocated for 
mixed-use development in the Site Allocations DPD adopted by the Council in 2017 
(Reference MU/3). These requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. The SPD aims 
to enhance the character of the local area and ensure future design quality of 
developments coming forward on the site. 

Once adopted the SPDs will become material considerations in determining planning 
applications. 

How can I have my say? 
The consultation begins at 12pm on Friday 28th October 2022 and closes at 11 :59pm 
on Monday 28th November 2022. 

We w:iuld request you submit your comments online by using the Council's online 
consultation portal: consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse. 

If this is not possible, your comments form can also be submitted: 
• By email to responses@dacorum.gov.uk ; or 
• By post addressed to: Strategic Planning, Dacorum Borough Council, The Forum, 

Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP11DN. 

The comments form for both consultations is available to 
from www.dacorum.gov.uk/supplementary-planning
documents. 

EMPLOYER 

Figure 3: Notification Letter sent by Post. 

27 

Page 121



 

 

 

 

note that comments received cannot be treated as confidential and will be available 
to view publicly. However, published comments will exclude your personal contact details 
and include only your name. 

Where can I find more information? 
All information and documents relating to both consultations are available online: 

• via the Council's consultation portal: consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse 
• On the Council's website: www.dacorum.qov.uk/supplementary-planning

documents. 

Hard copies of the documents are viewable: 
• at public libraries within the Borough (during normal opening hours): 

www.hertfordshire.qov.uk/services/libraries-and-archives/library-opening
hours/library-opening-hours-and-locations.aspx ; and 

• at Borough Council offices (during normal opening hours) 
www.dacorum.qov.uk/home/do-it-online/contact-us 

Please contact the Strategic Planning and Regeneration team if you have any questions or 
require further information: 

Email: strategic.planning@dacorum.gov.uk 
Phone: 01442 228660 

Yours sincerely, 

Alex Robinson 
Assistant Director for Planning 
Dacorum Borough Council 

28 

Page 122



 

 

    
       

 
 

 

28 October 2022 10:47 

Subject: Dacorum Borough Council: New SPD Consult ations available 

Dear Town Clerk/Parish Clerk, 

NEW CONSULTATION ON THE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS- DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT AND THE PARADISE DESIGN CODE- DRAFT 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT. 

What are these consultations about? 
Dacorum Borough Council is consulting on two draft Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). 

The Employment and Skills - Draft SPD is a new tool that will enable the Council to ring-fence opportunities arising from development to 
benefit Dacorum's residents, thereby generating additional social value. The SPD aims to increase local employment opportunities, help 
businesses to find suitable local staff and suppliers, improve the skills of local people, support businesses located in Dacorum to grow and 
attract new businesses into the area. 

The Paradise Design Code - Draft SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise and Wood Lane 
area, which is currently allocated for mixed-use development in the Site Allocations DPD adopted by the Council in 2017 (Reference MU/3). 
These requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. The SPD aims to enhance the character of the local area and ensure future design 
quality of developments coming forward on the site. 

Once adopted the SPDs will become material considerations in determining planning applications. 

How can I have my say? 
The consultation begins at 12pm on Friday 28th October 2022 and closes at 11 :59pm on Monday 28th November 2022. 

We would request you submit your comments online by using the Council's online consultation portal: consult.dacorum.qov.uk/kse. 

If this is not possible. your comments form can also be submitted: 
• By emai l to responses@dacorum.qov.uk ; or 
• By post addressed to: Strategic Planning, Dacorum Borough Council, The Forum, Martowes, Herne! Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP1 

1DN. 

The comments form for both consu ltations is available to download from www.dacorum.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents. 

Please note that comments received cannot be treated as confidential and will be available to view publicly. However, publ ished comments 
will exclude your personal contact details and include only your name. 

Where can I find more information? 
All information and documents relating to both consultations are available online: 

• via the Council's consultation portal: consult.dacorum.qov.uk/kse 
• On the Council's website: www.dacorum.qov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents. 

Hard copies of the documents are viewable: 
• at public libraries within the Borough (during normal opening hours): 

www.hertfordshire.qov.uk/services/libraries-and-archives/library-opening-hours/library-opening-hours-and-locations.aspx ; and 
• at Borough Council offices (during normal opening hours) 

www.dacorum.qov.uk/home/do-it-online/contact-us 

Hard copies of the consultation documents are avai lable to be sent to all Town and Parish Counci ls in the Borough to be held as 
reference copies. Please email stralegic.planning@dacorum.qov.uk for more information. 

Please contact the Strategic Planning and Regenerat ion team if you have any questions or require further information: 

Email: strategic.planning@dacorum.gov.uk 

Phone: 01442 228660 

Yours sincerely, 

Alex Robinson 

Assistant Director for Planning 

Dacorum Borough Council 

Figure 4: Notification sent to Town and Parish Councils in the Borough. Please note the small 
amendment to the text of the original notification in order to reflect that hard copies of documents 
were made available to Town and Parish Councils without cost, in order for these to be held as 
reference copies. 

29 

Page 123



 

 

 

       

 

 

 

 

erving Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted & Tr ing since 1858 
Wednesday, October 26, ZOZZ £1.30 

The top local 
music, theatre 
and more MMJ• 

SAVE MONEY BY 
WASTING LESS SEED! 

\\'e~tml.theptrfm~nn 
m.:IUII thtdlfkfftlltt.OwBQftof 

~lluMCW",,,..·prooiflmkrt~ 
~nhk:llaraldfmil~ """"~ 

~iltl.caoff1hefttdtf'poru. 
bbli,gaa:-e9tofood. 

--... Seed: £4-0 now £35 
Peanuts: f6S now £60...--

• .t• ,r,PJ#M'lkrl-Olkr £45 

■Dacorwn 
people face 
hj_ke in 
bid to save 
council 
£3.6mi1Jfon 
over next 
four years 

■Council 
tax is now 
expected 
togoupby 
'maximum 
permissible 
amount' 

Six pages 
of puzzles 

News 

Police officer 
jailed for 
crimes 
including 
child rape 

PAGES 

Public Notice 

Figure 5: Front Page of Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express, 26/10/2022 

30 

Page 124



 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

WANTED 

CARS&VANS 

WANTED 
CASH TODAY 

1/2 HOUR ANYWHERE 
£300 MIN• £20,000 MAXI 

MOT OI NOT • HIGH 01 LOW MIUMI 
GOOD CLUN OI DAMAGID • CWSIC CMS• MO

ALSO IOUGHT 
ADVERTISING WEEKLY FOR OVER 30 YEARS! 

® 07966 971208 
PUBLIC NOTICES 

PLANNING NOTICES 

This notice h. provided In accordance 
with Regulations 12 and 13 of the 

Town 11nd Country Ptsnnlr.g 
(Local Plannlngl (England) 

(Amond..,..,Q 
Rtgul,Uons 2012 

BOROUGH 
~ 

Whl1 _,. IM contlllt.ldons RCM.117 

OeooMnBotoughCouncllloonMllllngont-ocnfllStl~ --......(Sl'Os, 
Tl'lf'~ 9IICS Sloll1- Oralll SPOIi •ntWlltd lllal w,9_...,lhe 
Coundlllofflt"IMoe~•MWl!lftlffl~ lo beneftt 
OecoNm's~ . lhlflby~addliltionill:IOCIII...-.., TNSPD 
..,._ .,_,.. .. ioc.t~~~~ IOIW'ld 
~loclf_,,lnd~.imflttNllllll &lllttof~~.~ 
buW!fmes loc.-d In Dlloonwn IDV°"" and attJlld,.... tMllnoNM lnlo ... _ 
ThtPtttOliMOOtlQl'ICOOO-t>i-..SPOMttOVlf~Cf~ 
~ kif f'IN~ In the ParadiMand Wood LaM WNd 
Httnf)II HomptliMd Tow, C.,C,a, wlk:h If~~ for~ 
~intt.SilaAloc-..tionaDPOadi:lpYldbylN Coi.ndlonN 
1l9'.My201'1{R,dlranceMUl'3~ n.e~---e,pedftc. 
ci--...:t~ . hSPOMll91oenNn011 ... ~afhl!x-' 
~.....,..INir.Mutt~onNtil01$~HQit,~ 

Once lldq,ted.,,. 5'-'09 .. ba mn,riel ~In~ 
pll,rVllngllPPQliont,, 
Howunlh,..,.rnyNy? 

Tr.e«-d is ~~on the~ 111'11 Ska. -~ 
SPO' Ind ll'le 'ParadlM Oesl{r COOi - Dl'llft SPO', bel'#Nn t2pmon ll'le 
2"1~.,,011;5Qlpmonh28'1NoYlffll:ier20'22. 

'r'oulW9lrwilled»tcbril'pJlfCIOO'fflentltlectronlcaly. 

• Uta'!Q lh&~~portal 
~dec:ol\.lm.gov..ukilse. 

~~IM'(lol.tlfflit.yrMconmentl: 

By_,.. ID~- U11ing b ~ IDfm 
~ onowweblill&- ~-~:"' 

• Bypc,11, 8dcJr...o lo: ~~and~TNI!\ 
Otcorum BoroJg,1 Councl, Thi FOfUffl, ~ Hemlil 
Hwnp,11Nd.~.HPl 10N. 

Anycamtnenl& M0ltVed cannot be nMfld .. C0tlMentill and .. bi 
avallableto\<WWl)Utlkty. HowaYef. ~COrfln'Mlflla ........... ~ 
~(ll)f"q(;I ~Ind lndl.4'Cdr'/<# l\lfflt. 
Whef. a,. the do<;umefQ •"liable? 

Al~tl'l(ldoo,me,ntt~r,lht,~ ... .....,_ _, 
• Vie lhl eouncr, oomiultlltion pona1 

htlpa,:ilfoonl~.p . .Ji:J\M.W"ld 

• Ont.Coundl'"•weblilll- .~-~ 
Hard C0C)iea of.,. doctfflena .... wtWlibfe: 

A/.pA,lc: .... Mtlrl.,.bon;lugll(cuingf'l(lnnSl~IQq): 

- ~.p~ 
~.-px ; .-.di 

AI.Be,OU!jlh~ol!Qn(~nomi.r~hol,Q); 

- ,d1CON'n.QOW.~il0111\1~1taa--w 

Fvr1htiflntOfflWI~ 

PINMc:onlact hSlrMlglc P!Mnng,and ~ TNfflif!f'O't-... 
etr,QUedOMOJte,qulrtmor.WormtllOn: 

E.m,,l;~~.gov.lA; 

Pft<JM: 014412 22MO 

LOOKINCFOR 
A NEW HOME? 

'il(\lll~IIT'JQlll,l,i,IIW-0.-"°""'Uf.,I, 

_,..,.. 
~Yotl-• "1-,0,,:,COOfljlC 

PUBLIC NOTICES 

UC ENCE APPUCATIONS 

LICENSING ACT 2003 APPLICATION 
FOR GRANT OF PREMISES LICENCE 
SCQnCHIJhN~lo ~ 9otOUQl'I 
CCundlb ... s,Mtd•~t.JoMot.in 
MPK1 d h ~ l)fW'l'IINI; TlfE 
90YNG(X)H STUDIOS. OLD eovntGOON 
AJRF"IELD. CHESHAM ROAD. HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD. HP3 0NP 'IIINdl ~ 
.-#loriNIN~~adiVIIIN.: 
PROVISION 0, INDOOR $PORTING 
~IEHTS, PROVISION Of! lN£ MUSIC. 
PROVISION OF 11.ECORDEO MUSIC. 
PRO\ltSIOH Of Pf:RFORMAHCES Of 
DANCE, PROVISION Of NfYTIUNO OF A 
S4M11.AA. DE.SCRIPT~ TO LNE MUSIC,, 
RtcOADE.O MUSIC OR PER~CES 
Ot' DANCE. SU~ Y M ALCOttO... A.I o1 
... et,o,.,. ~ ~ .... fOr f'rkw)o, 
SMvtdly& Sunda-y-betweotft 13"' Januaty 

,z- Mlrd'i 2023 only ITom 15:00 unti 
23:51 , Ho..;ra p,.ffli ... an, Op«! 10 tM 
public - 1 $:OG Yl'ltil 2l:5t on $1.ntaya only, 
A.COfllol""lt~m.,,be~ 
ck.mg nom\11 oaioe llclln at ~Ing, 
Daconim 9otough ~ l. Thll Forum., 
Ma.1&wM, .....,_, ~d. HP1 10N, or 
lfllNliClenli'IQl~•~.81 
_,dacon.tm.p~ng. A 
rtspOnltit ~or_,,, oc,,.. PffliOII m.,, 
mcilel"l!p"...-i:i0rll0 .. ~~ 
ln,espectol .... lA)k;lltion.~ 
nwbemadetldna,...-~pottbh 
~ ...... orb)'tnllil~ 
lcMt~,p.uk and midi be 
~ no 1ae, INtl Tllul"ldt)' WI 
N~2022.lt!.anofttnotlo~ 
or~fNIIA•....,.~ln ~wlfl•~~...,, ... 
tnaul'll,lffi iM lot MliCn • pwa,on ii 1at,1a on 
iwmrNtY ~ for 1h11. ~ thal not 
al!CIN<I .. Sontt. ~ KMICS,000). 

TRUSTUS NOTICES 

SOUTH AFRICAN CO-OPERATIVE 
CITRUS EXCHANGE LIMITED PENSK>N 

AND U:E ASSURANCE SCHEME 
The Tn.$NS ol ille 5oiJt', African~ 
Cilnn~l..lniltO,,..,...,..-ldUft 
Auutanca Scheme (h •ScMtM~I hh-. 
,..., ~ .. bu,--Out •:dll'CiN ...... y 
lt-..~~~ben96a 
l)OlenCl,aly pa)'ICII) 10 mwnbln 9l'ldlOr OChef" 
~ol N ~.....,. MO.#'td 'Mtl 
MO~~~ 
NotiCe ii ,-.t,y Pft. punuanl to MCtion 
ff a« th• Trus:lff Act 1t25. that Iha whlinv
up~ tM ScMl'M'ril •Mf'tfy N co,nple4iN, 
N )IOU l'llveth8'1ybNnc:orua.d byot on 
btha'f ofhTI\IIAN$(or,,...Scfl9ffle 
~-XPS} ~ IN tlu)'-(M of 
... ~ ~ wilt! Wlir'lk.KlnOI 
oo,npariylhan)'OU00notnNd lo tell-..¥JY 
aalon. ttowev.-.l")'OUhaYtlnoll~COl"tlac:lacl 
lnll'lt~tndr(M,1~)'(11,1 _,.. .. dlim 
~orWlbtltmlinlto a C)lflSiOnor#'IJ 
benafit "°"',or~.-. .. Sctleffle you .,. 
llnby~~..,,d~ ... i,wni.,g 
by IN dNdh. of 2 monltltfforn ho.-,
noliOt iS ~. ol yo.,t dltll ot ~ 
~W1ilh)'OUl"U:,..,..pr9Mnt.,,.., 
dalilolt.Wl, Nlltia,lal.,_.ancarlllnbWandllMI 
U namt of tht ScNma) to N Tn..1-of Iha 
s.o-illt'I Afrlcl,11 Co.Ope,n,O,... Citrus Exd'I.,. 
LlrrliY<I Penalort and l lh .t.awrance Sctwnw 
do J'""" FDJ1•. XPS Pantlons Group, 
~Ix HovH, 1 SUltlon Hill, ~ RG1 
1N8 I JIIMUO& ... l)SO'"OUP,cotlli. MM lt'liil 
~. 119 , ,,,. ... ~ ~ u.. ~ 
olfl9Sdl91Mand,rl«-l1910,....;1 hawiN191td 
Otiy tof\OMpwtOM- of wftOMdlilMandklt 
~IN)'~noktosidWIIIIOtt>e 
lilt,lttowryolW~lorany_,.or 
enl:illiemedd voHdlildoet notNYtl"IOCiol. 

local 
information 
at your 
finger tips ... 

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL: 
(TUl'ORMYQDSICOfOl/lCOISfU.OICMO. 

IIIE. IEW'STUDI cmoa:zz 
MIJ111•,-1111t11""1llld!MICUIJOlll'lcf_....... 
-. .. Orcllr .. S..,1f111Jlfft1Aahfl:~ 
.IQlt$&10---·----hli(;IQIJllq1illl .... C, 
~--ltnll---ffl1pc,illS.WfOtl• 
d•VdltllillLM!ftlM'Wltlall__.b'adalfact 
___,,1Cfflrhl\ldl---Qaa. 
,_ ............... ~111:m.i..1.-, s...,-,,_~...,..,~,_.,. 
1'ht0.-•~---,..,...~~a1 
... 1) ............ . 
, .. O.OWSINOI.CNICON .. 1M:etw!ICltMtltl!ll20l2 
b'a~C,tpblll'l'IVftltM\c,flt~lpdtd :-:::·el!ICl'•11t--..__,.,, ... Ot .. 

, .,.. ........... lllllt .. JIICIC(IM----CD'a:t 
-~-(Bl)0,6t8!16•lillh'lc•S..C>ltte 
·-ll)oll)l7a,~~~ 

(t~Q.OSIJOOflBICi8IOII(~ 
GIIIWWUSCIOOOMOIIOJ:2W.Z ,c,na:.,...1111 ... ~~r...;,i...,.. 

..... ~ ... S.:..1fll1Jill .. ltiild'blt:~ 
kJliS' ----•lletielillWhlicM .. Mlliilfllcf 
~ln.Grw~ffllic,N1H1atol.e --••.,ao,•~------·· .-..<ll---,.47-('""'Wl,.__b..._ ,...,..-•11t-~UN.~ltiw. 
IINllmln.M40~blnfm:lrd~Llllt.. 
1'ht0:a•.ad-----w.bllOlb .. ~b -~------·•--•.badt.CHIOC1t11mtocton11~2022 
tltaPl'tdallCibllm!h.lb#Mt,l'lt.adin_., .... " .......... ~ ... ..,..Iii"_ ....... 
e,c,iihM--,..._m.t,.~OrOl(..,._arm 
S..,.._,.lllt.03005.l7ffl11Hlrllh'lt:.......,• 
8e1Cllttlt•030)123il0ol7■~c.ro,.,u 

(t91PORUYQ.OSIIGOfl&\ffl.Pf.~IEIWWl$TlOJ ..,....,,.,, 
l(ITl(l•,..,Mflt ........ Q),i,,IJOilla;:I...,.. 
., .. 0n111 ... Sec1Ca1"11I-•ltiild11111c___, 
1011M..b~•lilNcilllWnlcffllllt1flllllliglllal 
blllhlh.~W"n•~•08PIISRII; _,.._,_.., .. ,.,__,._..,..,.,MUrl ~3-rNIIOIO. ___ ___ 

kl ...... lCIM .. llt'119~ln,.AC2'11ti,'1StltC. 
l45all,litll'llm"~.._,,.._bdlbt\, 
-flrlaGft&MWI 
11110-..•lftdto----ltfw::it'IIIOlbn~b 
M..-d••iahllml. , ____ _,.,, ........... Ql14NMlltw2Q22 

•1~cfwio11---.~ .. .-....-
•o-trllkt1ecrll11tNW!8~itt,"t.:n"'°'.., .,_ 
lpllttl...,-~ltlelt .. .-Ol'dlr. ..... <lt.lUI 
Jmthmn:11111 CWOeGW•SUtelllllr.aClf 
8N lht:tillll<rllt IZJ 40f.7 &ltlrt::lf#WC.,c:ont 

lflW'OltM'f ClOSlllilOf PftASlal,~ -Clnct•--l'lt~C..,COllld..-oa• 
-..1r10rdlf .. Sdol,\flll)--ladlr.-:~ 
kJltM1:1~•~ihlltflcn9'9f111 .... d 
flprslll,~llilla(lli,ll:l)aft'.l'a.tlillltt•j,,,Jd:n ........ A:la:l«rll--•dlllla
....., ..... bl"). ... aa:a. ,.....,._..,.,._l'lf,IIIHl,!Nld!n,__,~ 
~lnlrtb:lrcl~ .. 
1'htO"OII•-------~---.. ~ 
blewoild0tarnw,_lll.a 
•-o.ow .... ,,...CIIJ!lt .... 1;11"..,....1= 
l'Jr'1pwl»cttC,b ll...,._....,__l'lt__.. ...... 
Md/lNIIIO_llt __ l'dcadt,ac,-.•«_. .. _ 
IP*91Jllalllltat .. ~OIOe(.IIIIIN<Dlla 
fiMO.,_•CGl$3S?ZID1• ...... ---•&.. 
(llt0tlll.0300l2loll)l1·~~Qwd. 

(1lWORMT C10SM Of .. fOOTl'Ull 51TI».ltD ll1WWr 
IIUl*lll.RliUShtSIIUO.tlOVIIGOOIIN 
8IONGXlll~roarMnlllO.b11)0IOUM:t 

flCIJICl•,...INl~~Wd--1:1_,. 
M0.u:dlts.tlell14j1flll6tltiildhle~kJ 

1914 b~•~------.--~!"'4,__1n~~c,ePlif;tt 
1 ......... ~ltt~IIIWIJlb.$!Aullf-.Mlld, ........ ,..,, ... ~_.,._.,... . ..,,.... 
b•VC-•~Nllc~MIJ11.tdlllla ·--TfMllno .... ,....-.u-----111 
-..n-.affllll-~PIOlltWIU..ID 
..... lb,i ... _. .,_.IM~"lll'IIJ...
patil,IMl.9')Allt~olhWCIM. 
1•-d~l'tblc:~N:>.011•1p:111 
flft_tie.,_.._..,_,.,Ndl~Mead_.., 
....,.._ftalW!Nlttll~-llal,lirp~ ~~0,,.--. .. ~21,. 
n...lQ ..................... .. 

..-.s .. """'~-~-----~tl:rll ... p#ie:l;iolpllidN ........... 
cm,t,ltfn11'1)JIWclnlblttft--
1he&O!l'•Hfdl!d--Nl'WWlb~....,_ .. 
Cl.-cltllll~••-fltkidDll,ft --... o.ow ........ _ ..... lJl14ro-bll'2022 
l',riPl'b:IOl•l)·"11Nl.~N....,.Nllifd 
._.O'"'Wllkt""°llllt"-nlmriilllf.-cmr.,_.,. 
~ftNkfqall. 
l,C.,,_MJ~DIL•.«o»ee1Cll'IW._«wa:1 
~-lllt15.2S?l1600•STDDibUilct8enCnltit 
lllCOQO 113 ~1,t~Om,Cwol 

(TDIIPOIWn'ClOSIIIGOFaatll lANE.Qa UMlff) -Clnct•IJ""M•~a...('oltld1a ... 
.. ._Ol'dl'.,.,..SIClnl4ll}cthlloldlllc~ 
ktlt&l.t:1~-..... hlcllorw.-.1111..,.,.c, 
OluOl.n.~~ll'OflaOdlt•llelliSlhwesl!t.l 
4itlldl'JOflb.lta.tlllNllilillliliMIWnlD"1..._d 
... t5m .... bfl. 

M~l)a""llf•Clriildll.lilt,il,01,..,$tftl!lt 
Wlaild,_..,IVMMMIIUf;,Slllalbld...,.LnR 

°""'ln-1"111(1,,iOir•,.----...-....-..... 
lll'tev1(l'toi:.1l ..... 1>11t___,•t1tllOl,l 
TIIIIOlrOII-.. Wfft_,.ftnlCOl'fleflbbc:IIOII 
?JbrMitlClf20Z2W1plllNd1-0•II--Mo.Mf.lbl 
~--ll'llil(riflllallllttll .. ._n:k:lllt .,..o,r.,,_ .. ,.., 
lp;1111t1tvt..,-_..mA1t40...PNMOIIIIIK1,_.,, 
ldeyllf.OMU0■1■~hlll:--.-.or 
BMeatt.itlllmoo 123Cll7•lllil'lb'1NID:anro:..td. 

(rfMP'OWYCUISIIIGOI-TtllK.IICW).Wl.STONQ ........... 
::.:c:. .. =1~-c:.i.~-~ 
,ldl .... ~ ......... lllifk,lm-W ... C, 
"ti,glllad, ..... knlll,rdmd ..... bd_. 

------·---------2Dl('h111Nf'► -~Aawtlt•Wtlpltbd.Mato.ww 
ttiflllldW,,Nlqbil n.o.r•ilffOfOba,,1111 ___ .,.. __ ~ 
ltMllllitWO<nr.,,_ .. ,_,, 
Tl'te0.-_t,ee,t __ ftNIQ)fl'ltt1blQaCll310cl:Oc, 
2!1ntsaplli:dol141btl..._ltiwaiill,N~ ~•crtr•eacc•11t-~llf..,.. 
~•--NA:lm 
.""',_.._,. ... allcdh0ltll(.-.alltld -,,o.rn .. (1154l50710•Ni0idtj,wq~• 
aeteratct•o:m1ut0t1•tltllfl:w'LWfto:..n,O).td 

(ltl,IPOW'f' Q..OSllCO,.CWIIO,l,Q, ICA~Ttot --:1:.:c:.r .. =:=-a1':t.~•,.:. ,ca1il84.•~•'lft;lla"~•-.•-...m •"------••,-.;n------.,.. ......... Jl,nCkin .... ax:a.~• 
._.ftnl"",1-.Ud----US.("f!tltiild). 
_.,_ 
,_....,. ... _.,_.,.lkMoflNd.a-.,.....W •""'~1,,._..w,..,.s.-. .... Llfll.G-W 
M.Thlc.-ain,.,_ANf•'lll•W
fiMM~O:lnlu--..,._ 
11110..-..... 11aa ........ ~ .. ,iq:GICI -~...,<:nO'•--
TlleOlcler ...... ~ ... W!"ieribll.Qoa310ctolr 
Z02'1Q1~0l1c,btll!'IOl1M.lt!Mwr.lhllltSll'ickll 
~nlarfit-lll!d■llt-lldalldt,f:lif1'WII 
..... Fad. 
IIOll._._,_l&ltuho.:JetPNIMmtUd 
9tfa0llcr'dll,1,j(Ot!35]2-I07,tAl!hfJ"W.t1 
!lellCQttt.(l:»:)123oll)l7at~~C(u'd 

('ITMPOlWT QOSIIG OI IIUCl0.1ftS lNll. IQIIGS lMGlEY) --ICllll il9"1"1hiil tltltdrilNtCDIIIJ0:ud,_an 
.. .._ llnls"Wd!r Seclol lf{IJOIINlblclWllc ~ ==-=='!"~i::=.-:=, Nlt~aOt9...-...... IICIIOllli__.b■ 
)l'dla•M2S1~bl1Mntt1~ 
, .. 1 ... l'fltfilDll').t:aplllGl".xa 
M ...... ~ .. N•AlcNtflL-.aMoolLn, --•o.•urcJ1tr•~--. unt-.d.\mllM(llll,ldbiil. 
ThlOIIOWIIINdldblOM .. ,.._Clf■lcdlgpa 
---•~t>tllNCl'9:l•t//lW"NltJN. 
n.o..-•ma-,.nn1-••• ,~mu,_..,,,..,,,...~._ 
~lr:,dtdlNl(rfylll:ltllilcl• .. ._hk:MN 
---O'lt//N91'1ffbld. 
l,c,11,_._,_..mt:la .. OdltPIMIUIMICI 
'UMrilfllla:l!O"ll,_MIIIJ'lAffr::a 
.. (Qtw.0));)123IO'?ll:~Cl:uw:,Cwd. 

{KWDl,l,lt'CUISNIMD ~IMIITIIG 
RESlllCTQIS• fCU:EIOII UM.tlMB. MlMPSTtAO 

MO ~Ullf..Klml910fOIIOEI 2m2 
Jl)ll(l119'1W'ltill~Cu-,Oi:Nidi.SIIOf11t 
a,i:,i,,tOlclerllClef~l4(1)<lllle!l:ll:l,-...... k;J 
11Mbll'dMll~nlttmllliltflt--. 
..,..d,..t"NA1a\-.1craxan1:1a,dltil!• .,_.,..... • ...,_O'l_tiiMd._...,_OI 
bdliHll.:rbniflllq'W:• 1.llltttegt,dPllll1Wl&ldl..a.__..__, __ 

JIQ(lt .. f!M(Jllllflli .......... ~ ....... 
tl.\fl ..... ftD.fl---.ltlll~d 
........ ldiltaraof~l730m. 
.,_ ..... 0.-llillll•fltu:MIEM~.~ 
fllli.Htil!!IOIIN91.Mw,I.Clie""-ln.M2:51LIIOYllbll .. _ .. 
lM: .. da.....,.lft,PaclllliC.Mltli-to'I 
.,..r119c:.-;....-~b1~i:II -·~ .An---~wl1it•Thlf.aMOl.l'l'M'f'II\~ 
i...A-0, .. ~~-~lJN. 
TlleO.,-allft'ONbecaAIIIIQt!S.nfftillO&HDCleNCaO 
tn•iw-hA:lldl. 
TM0i0tt•bttft-ftnla:t111NIIDlcfG1310ctolr 
2W2b-1;ndi:ll1111:111 ..... ~flt--=--
~-O'frl#;e:elll(l•fll-~~tv1• 
•rahlmdl. 
1,:.ii...., .... mihO.-fNillllcmllclllllll...,_ 
llllD!0123«>tl'll~O:ufJCINld, 

Figure 6: Public Notice in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express Newspaper. 

31 

Page 125



 

 

       
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SJnc:•1858 

PUBLIC NOTICES HOME IIGl<INOIIIIGl<lW 

Roadworks,plann1ngappl1catlons, - -
licensing apphcahons brought to you h} - - - --
the Hemel Today 

).1.ap tlldlide nobocs published m the b.st 30 ~ "S 

This notice is provided in accordance with Regulations 12 and 
13 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 

NOTIC DETAILS MAP ST1!£ETVIEW 

f Plh,notlce llp,oiridedl.-iaocor.s.-~~1,....,,1 0,1t1et- ..SCOUl'lll}~tloua 

Pwww!Q) (Engllnd)~RIIQutltjont 2011 

o-,,...."°'°"""eo,..,...-....... Ol'l~..-i~,....,..,..~(I~~ 

,... ~ - .._~en1;uo .... - ----- -c:.-•~~••....-.flloo9i• 
~ . ............ o-.. ,.-.-.,-~ .c.,.--•--n...s--:,-•-.. 11c
~~,...~-,... .......... ~~ ..... ~ . ....._ ... ~-__.~. '"'"°"---,~~,,.,~-~"·•--bi.---,.,.-· 
..... ,. ....... ~COO.-c..ll!S"'O_ .... ... __..{lf~_.... • .._ ............. lfl ... ~ 
.... WNll~-.. ...... ~....._.~...,.__,,.,.._._...._._~.__.~-

~ .... - 1,.. ,M,/201'(,_.....,_MU)). TNM- - ~tiu ,.,..W..,,,.,, TN-Sr.:>.-• --~-et-llcll ... 1ft-..'---MSO'~-.......,._....,,,._,,.,.,.D"IIM .. 
o-e.-.. .. s-o.-11a-.a1_#1,,__......_...~ 

1 Voice your concerns 

o Write to~ local MP or councillor 

U Find out more 

• Make Freedom ol lnfom,ation request 

~ Notify council of problem 

o Get it fixed : report it to council 

Figure 7: Public Notice on the Hemel Today online news, published 26th October 2022. The full 
text of the notice is viewable on the public notices web page. 

32 

Page 126



 

 

 

    

 

your say on our new Draft 
Employment and Skills SPD 

In Dacorum, there's real opportunity for new developments to, co1ntribute towards delrvering skills 

and employment prospects, directly beneitting residents and the economy. We would like your 

views on our new Employment and Skms Draft Suppleme1ntary Planning Document. Closing dale is 

Monday 28 November. 

Take part in the consultation 

Publications 

Figure 8: 'Dacorum Life' Digital Newsletter Article. 

33 

Page 127



 

 

 
 

           

 

 

                                                   

   

Appendix B: Full Text of Responses 

See the next page for the full text of all comments made. Alternatively, you can view all responses made on the consultation webpage, by visiting our 

consultation portal3. 

3 https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 

34 

P
age 128

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167


Appendix B: Full Text of Responses

Consultee Name mrs
jenny
McEntee

Consultee Organisation Details

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS1

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: 3.8 onwards
I think this is an interesting document. Education and opportunies are the
key. Secondary schools are focusing on GCSE and A level results these are
their focus due to Government and OFSTED pressures. BUT a strong
emphasis needs to be placed on vocational courses in more practical skills
that relate to work. ICT Skills, engineering skills, building skills e.g. bricklaying,
plumbing, etc. Learning Cooking Skills, leading to career in catering, metal
work, woodwork, Textiles sewing, designing etc. etc. Practical maths related
to real life situations etc etc. Art skills, drawing and designing. Although
there are college courses doing this at 16 + these courses could start at 14
in school. ICT courses that are up to date in school and taught in a relevant
way to young people.
More practical subjects taught in school from age 14 onwards would make
school feel more relevant to pupils who are less academic. These pupils need
to be up skilled so that they can get good well paid jobs in the future. They
could be future enginneers, mechanics, builders. Encouraging entrepreneur
skills and work experience in relevant jobs. More work experience for pupils
when they are 14 / 15 year olds to encourage them to be part of the future
work force. So often now pupils have to arrange their own work experience
and they might not know anyone who works in these fields that they are
interested in.
Pupile get turned off by school if they feel it is not relevant to their lives.

1

P
age 129



File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Paul
Orchard-Lisle

Consultee Organisation Details

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS2

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: I support the plan, but urge
1 employing dedicted staff who will WELCOME NEW EMPOLYERS and be
able to reassure them that Dacorum is a place to do business; access to
markets/security/quality of labour force etc
2 Dacorum should offer emplyers aGUIDE TOGOODPRACTICE - a checklist
of how to get the most our of the Borough and how to increase productivity
by being good employers

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Hertfordshire County Council
Property

Consultee Organisation Details Property Team

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS3

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: The Property Planning Team on behalf of Hertfordshire County Council as
a landowner has no comments to make on the Employment and Skills draft
DPD.

2

P
age 130



File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Danielle
West

Consultee Organisation Details

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS4

Subject

Include files LOUISE WALK PLAN - POTENTIAL LAYOUT.docx

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: RESPONSE TO THE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PLANNING SPD
HOW THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AT FOX MEADOW, LOUISE
WALK, BOVINGDON CAN IMPROVE THE SKILLS OF LOCAL PEOPLE,
SUPPORT BUSINESSES ALREADY LOCATED IN DACORUM TO GROW
AND TO ATTRACT NEW BUSINESSES INTO THE AREA.
Proposal:
To build 50 carbon net-zero homes, a Scout Hall and provide a Junior Football
Pitch for Bovingdon Football Club.
The site comprises a total of 2.5 hectares of Greenbelt Land (Land Registry
HD402884) and an access road named Louise Walk, located off Green Lane
Bovingdon (Land Registry HD375147). The site is wholly controlled by one
land owner. A plan of the proposal is attached.
Due to the size of the proposed development, it meets the requirement for a
Social Value Strategy (Page 12 - Use Class C3). The development proposal
at Louise Walk will provide Social Value by delivering much-needed
community assets on-site. It is this approach which sets Louise Walk apart
from other sites in Bovingdon.

Community issues specific to Bovingdon:
There is no Scout Hall in Bovingdon, since the original one was condemned
in 2016.

3

P
age 131

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167/peoplesubmissions//file/6095818


There is no dedicated indoor meeting place for youth in Bovingdon. Anti-social
behaviour is one of the most commonly reported crimes in the Village (39
recorded incidents between September 2021 to August 2022 –
UKcrimestats.com – Bovingdon Civil Parish).
There are very limited indoor spaces for local enterprises / clubs to meet and
run sessions.
The Under 14s football teams do not have their own pitch and as a result will
often have to travel to Hemel Hempstead for matches.

How Land at FoxMeadowwill provide Social Value, specifically in terms
of Employment and Skills
Long-term sustainable economic growth within Dacorumwill only be achieved
with attractive living spaces, embedded within a well-developed, sustainable
and modern infrastructure. Better standards of living through educational,
sporting and employment opportunities, start at grass roots level. The
Council’s aspirations for Dacorum apply to all aspects of the Socio-economic
structure, in conjunction with the built and natural environment.
The proposal for land at Louise Walk compliments DBC’s goals for delivering
Social Value on a variety of levels:
1 The provision of a multi-purpose Scout Hall will benefit current

and future generations of children, with exciting learning
experiences and activities (Page 8 "Giving local people the opportunity
and responsibility to develop new and
existing skills"). The Scouts’ extra-curricular activities and Duke of
Edinburgh Award Scheme work hand in hand with formal education to
enhance the lives of young people from the age of 4 upwards. The
skills and leadership training provided will, in many cases, endure
throughout adulthood, creating opportunities in the workplace. As a
community-based charity, the Scouts represent an invaluable asset to
Bovingdon (Page 17 - Appendix 1 - Delivery Options - Community
Based Projects). The Louise Walk proposal for a Scout Hall represents
a much-needed part of the community fabric. It will not only provide
the Scouts with a place to call their own, but it will also provide an
enduring means by which to generate revenue through giving other
local business initiatives a place to operate (Page 13 - 4.18 "Provision

4

P
age 132



of opportunities for social enterprises, which have explicit social,
economic or environmental aims" and "Participation in the promotion
of education initiatives, supporting the transition between school and
work").

1 As part of the Social Value approach, the proposal includes
installation of a football pitch in the southern part of the site. This
pitch will provide the junior teams with their own ground on which to
train and play matches. Again, Bovingdon Football Club is an essential
part of the community fabric, providing an outlet for people to work in
teams and stay healthy. Economic growth and prosperity literally start
at the grass roots. The pitch will maintain the current green character
of this part of the site, facilitating a strong greenbelt boundary and
preserving the rural feel. It will not only provide Bovingdon with another
needed community asset, but will also enhance the attractiveness of
the proposed residential area. (Page 2 - Section 1.2 and Page 4 -
Section 2.1 NPPF: "supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities
and protecting and enhancing the environment")

1 The development aims to provide 50 carbon net-zero homes,
offering a range of housing types, with emphasis on the family but also
including enhancements for the elderly and disabled. The proposal
takes into consideration that by 2030, one in five people in the UK will
be ages 65 or over (Office of National Statistics, 2017). The homes will
be built using environmentally sustainable methods and materials,
utilising solar panels, grey-water recycling and ground-source heating
in order to reduce future carbon footprint. The development will also
benefit from the installation of modern infrastructure such as fibre optic
broadband, facilitating work-from-home. By providing attractive homes
which meet modern expectations of build-quality and sustainability, the
residential development will not only retain but also attract new skills
and talent to the village and Borough as a whole. (Page 4 - Section 2.2
"82. Planning policies should: c) seek to address potential barriers to
investment, such as inadequate infrastructure, services or housing, or
a poor environment; and d) be flexible enough to accommodate needs

5

P
age 133



not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible working practices
such as live-work accommodation").

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here: 6095818

Consultee Name Anne
Denby

Consultee Organisation Details Area Planner
Canal & River Trust

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS5

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thank you for your consultation on the Employment and Skills Draft
Supplementary Planning Document. Having reviewed the document, the
Trust have no comments to make on the SPD.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Natural England

Consultee Organisation Details Consultations Team
Natural England

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS7

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Employment & Skills Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 28 October 2022, which
was received by Natural England on 28 October 2022.

6

P
age 134



Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose
is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and
managed for the benefit of present and future generations, thereby
contributing to sustainable development.
Our remit includes protected sites and landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity,
soils, protected species, landscape character, green infrastructure and access
to and enjoyment of nature.
Whilst we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic of the
Supplementary Planning Document does not appear to relate to our
interests to any significant extent. We therefore do not wish to comment.
Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact
on the natural environment, then, please consult Natural England again.
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in exceptional
circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance here
[http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal/sustainability-appraisal-requirements-for-local-plans]
. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on European
Sites, they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats Regulations
in the same way as any other plan or project. If your SPD requires a Strategic
Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are
required to consult us at certain stages as set out in the Planning Practice
Guidance.
Please send all planning consultations electronically to the consultation hub
at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Richard
Carr

Consultee Organisation Details TFL Planning Team
Transport For London

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS8

7

P
age 135



Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thank you for consulting Transport for London (TfL). I can confirm that we
have no comments to make on the draft SPD

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Land Department

Consultee Organisation Details British Pipelines Agency

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS9

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thank you for your Correspondence Refrence New Consultation on the
Employment and Skills - Draft SPD Consultation.
BPA Have no comment to make on this draft consultation.
Please be aware BPA operate High Pressure Under Ground Fuel Pipelines
in the Dacorum Area. BPA’s interest is only relevant on any intrusive works
within the easement of this pipeline.
BPA regularly monitor the pipelines and we ask that the following procedures
are observed:
• Before any work (including hand trial holes) starts in the vicinity, a BPA

Technician must locate and mark the pipeline(s) on site.
• All works within 6m of the pipeline require prior approval by BPA and

a BPA Technician must supervise all works within 6m of the pipeline(s).
The technician will determine whether a written method statement is
necessary before any works proceed.

• Heavy vehicle crossing points to be approved before use across the
easement.

• Any works involving the exposure of the pipeline/s requires a continuous
site presence until backfilled (this may mean a security arrangement
out of hours).

8

P
age 136



When planning works which involve crossing or working within the
easement of the pipeline, the following will be requested before works
can start:
• A confirmed or proposed programmed start date for the works
• A detailed description of the proposed works
• A plan of the work area
• Drawings and amethod statement for the written approval of BPA.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Billal
Qureshi

Consultee Organisation Details Planning Officer, Minerals & Waste Policy, E&I
Hertfordshire County Council

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS10

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thank you for consulting us on the Employment And Skills - Draft
Supplementary Planning Document. We have no comments to make as
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Andrew
Marsh

Consultee Organisation Details Historic England

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS11

Subject

Include files

9

P
age 137



ESG question - Please provide your comments here: RE: New Consultation on the Employment and Skills - Draft SPD
Consultation.
Thank you for consulting us on the Council’s Draft Environment and Skills
Supplementary Planning Document, October 2022. As the Government’s
adviser on the historic environment Historic England is keen to ensure that
the protection of the historic environment is fully taken into account at all
stages and levels of the local planning process, and therefore welcome the
opportunity to comment on this document. I can confirm that while we do not
have any specific comments to make at this stage, we will be interested in
receiving subsequent consultations on this and related documents. I would
be grateful if you would confirm receipt of this email.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Lydia
Housden

Consultee Organisation Details Town Clerk
Tring Town Council

Agent Name Lydia
Housden

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS12

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Tring Town Council has had the opportunity to review the draft supplementary
planning document on employment and skills and has the following
observations to make:
Although the Council supports the principle of the document, in particular,
the requirement to carry out targeted recruitment, create apprenticeships,
work placements and work alongside local schools the document does appear
to be geared more towards the larger towns i.e. Hemel Hempstead with Tring
only being referred to once. It is important that these opportunities are offered
to all Dacorum Borough Council residents including Tring and perhaps this
could be encouraged by ensuring that applicants are required to target all

10

P
age 138



nearby areas including the smaller towns and villages regardless of where
the planning application is made.
In our opinion, the policy should also aim at securing space and offering
financial assistance to small local businesses that could then offer employment
in the area and in many instances give the opportunity for new unique skills
to be taught.

DBC aspires to see additional benefits – known as Social Values -
incorporated into the delivery of housing and other types of
development.
It states that Social Value is “the additional economic, social and
environmental benefits that can be created as part of that
development”.
In the Foreword of the Corporate Plan 2020-25, DBC re-affirms its
acknowledgement in 2019 that we face a Climate Change Emergency.
It declares that this recognition of the Emergency will be a key
consideration in the delivery of each of its key objectives.
However if we are to take the Climate Change Emergency seriously
we need to modify some of those objectives. The UK, and the world
in general, is still emitting far too much carbon dioxide and is still using
up irreplaceable scarce materials at an alarming and unsustainable
rate. Perhaps it's no longer appropriate to plan for economic growth?
The UK economy is now contracting and a more realistic objective
might be to stabilise the size of our economy at the present level by
focussing on increasing productivity, including recycling of all sorts, to
conserve raw materials and improve security of supply.
The advice from the NPPF, especially in para 8 (a) as quoted and in
Section 6, para 81 is now looking like philosophy from a by-gone age
and the exhortation to provide land in advance in order to facilitate
antecedent growth targets – reflected in DBC’s Policy CS14 - appearing
particularly obnoxious. Moreover, the oft-repeated reference to potential
British global leadership that also features here, no doubt to encourage
us by titillating our vanity, simply undermines what might once have
been a legitimate aspiration by now appearing ill-informed and
unrealistic.

11

P
age 139



Within this context, however, it is actually encouraging that this SPD
is seeking to secure greater Social Value from developments and
perhaps even restore our over-stressed social and health services.
The way in which Social Value might be fostered by the use of the
2012 legislation and how it might be extended as a broader concept
to enrich society as a whole as well as adding to the social capital of
localities is both outward and forward-looking. It is disappointing
therefore to read in para 3.13 of the Draft that a Dacorum Social Value
Framework is to be used as a tool to support the development of skills
and an increase in residents’ well-being, has not yet been developed.
It might have been useful for councillors to understand better the
practicalities of how the SPD is expected to work in ensuring the
delivery of these objectives.
There are several areas that need clarification. The developer
contributions towards infrastructure via CIL are clear. Similarly, it is
clear how specific projects might be financed through S 106. What is
not so clear is how developer contributions towards Social Values
might be achieved. These are social benefits which, if they arise at all,
will arise indirectly and might well be very much contingent on the
activities of other agencies, such as public institutions or local
authorities. The idea that these might arise directly from a developer’s
“Employment and Skills Plan” is difficult to visualise, especially as
developers tend to be involved locally only during the design and
planning processes, with the actually construction work being carried
out by contractors. A developer as such would have within their own
organisation limited opportunities for the establishment of
apprenticeships or other forms of direct training. If it is instead to be
the simpler and more practical method of a financial contribution to
local schools or FE or HE colleges, then this, one imagines, could
indeed be achieved via an S 106 agreement – but the draft document
envisages a far more complex and detailed interaction between a
transient developer, who is only involved in the short-term, and local
colleges and local employers who will need to be involved in the
long-term. How and when would the developer’s “Social Values
obligation” be deemed to be discharged if it is different from a simple

12

P
age 140



cash transaction at a defined point in the project? There are some
incongruities here that need clarification.
In addition there are policy conflicts within the planning system itself
that act against the Social Values objectives. In Tring (and across
Hertfordshire), due to relaxations in obtaining Change of Use, there
has been a steady loss of the smaller, cheaper business/industrial
units often used by recently started companies. The Akeman
Street/Langdon Street Industrial Estate has now almost completely
been redeveloped as housing. This has deprived the town of significant
employment opportunities at the same time as increasing the number
of residents, thus increasing the pressure of long-distance commutes.
Furthermore, the Industrial units planned for on development site LA5
(Roman Park) are being put at risk by challenge to the current planning
designation in favour of more housing, which will be difficult for DBC
to withstand.
The developers and their building contractors are expected to draw up
Social Value Strategies to cover the construction phase of all
developments that exceed the set thresholds. Construction phases
however tend to have been well prepared in advance and the work
then proceeds relatively rapidly using a succession of differently skilled
workers, many of whom are present for only part of the process. This
limits the scope and duration for on-the-job training, as does the need
for security and safety consciousness. Does DBC have any estimates
of the number of apprenticeships that might be generated – taking into
account that apprenticeships could far exceed in duration of the entire
construction phase, depending on the particular skill under
consideration?
It is also noted for that for non-residential developments the Social
Value Strategy of the first occupant of the premises must include a
commitment to giving preference to local people in recruiting staff. How
will this be enforced, bearing in mind that the occupant is unlikely to
be the developers themselves and no developer is likely to wish to
have any obligation placed on the end-user of the premises they have
had constructed that might deter uptake?

13

P
age 141



And finally, who, or what sort of person or organisation is envisaged
as being the Approved Delivery Partner?

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Kate
Howard

Consultee Organisation Details External Affairs Manager
Thakeham

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS13

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thakeham is a sustainable, infrastructure-led placemaker with an
industry-leading focus on biodiversity and zero carbon community creation.
Thakeham is looking to work in partnership with Dacorum Borough Council
to deliver a new, sustainable community called Bulbourne Cross at
Berkhamsted and Dacorum’s Employment & Skills Draft SPD sets out a
number of focus areas that are closely linked with the social value and
opportunities that Thakeham delivers with the creation of its communities.
As a pioneer member of Social Value UK, we understand the positive impact
we can have on new and existing communities and will develop a cohesive
social value delivery plan that addresses Dacorum’s needs in accordance
with the Council’s wider strategy.
A Thakeham scheme at Bulbourne Cross would deliver around 1,100 of the
2,200 new homes needed for Berkhamsted as outlined in the Local Plan,
with 40% of these homes being affordable, a primary school and a 24-acre
site for the development of sports pitches, changing rooms and facilities, as
well as other community benefits.
Developing this scheme would also create employment and training
opportunities in Berkhamsted and across Dacorum via the use of local supply

14

P
age 142



chains, recruitment of local labour, facilitating apprenticeships and work
experience across multiple industry disciplines and the provision of training
and upskilling. These initiatives would benefit, in particular, those who are
unemployed and disadvantaged or those that are neither in employment,
education or training (NEET).
We are well placed to promote procurement from a local and diverse supply
chain for Dacorum projects and our distinctive partnership approach to this
allows us to use and support smaller local companies and SMEs which might
otherwise find it difficult to access opportunities akin to the scale of our
Bulbourne Cross proposal.
Where direct opportunities within our business are limited due to the
availability of suitable roles, we will work with our subcontractors to ensure
that, through them, there are opportunities for apprenticeships and work
experience on our site.
Thakeham also works with Employment Training Plans (ETP) and believes
it can make a valuable contribution to this process. We are currently delivering
an ETP with Lewes District Council and this formally monitored agreement
delivers a range of community jobs and skills benefits including all vacancies,
subcontracts and supply sourcing being advertised locally, targeted
apprenticeship delivery, work experience for schools and vulnerable adults
as well as charitable works.
The construction industry faces significant skills shortages and gender
diversity challenges and Thakeham aim to go some way in addressing these
social and economic issues via our recruitment processes and award-winning
in-house training academy.
In addition, we are proud to support service leavers via the Armed Forces
Covenant of which we are Silver Award holders, working with many ex-service
personnel.
We are committed to ensuring a skilled and resilient construction sector and
are keen to be involved with local careers events and employability skills
initiatives in Dacorum. We have previously supported many initiatives, from
DWP careers courses and talks to support for job clubs run by local
community organisations.
Finally, with reference to Dacorum response to the climate and ecological
emergency, our sustainability commitments, which mean that Bulbourne

15

P
age 143



Cross would be zero carbon in lifetime use and achieve a minimum
biodiversity net gain of 20%, will support significant opportunity for local green
job and green job skills development for the community. This will be a key
employment and skills growth area for the future and support Decorum’s
clear focus in this important area.
Our approach maximises the wellbeing benefits that our developments offer
those who build them, live in them and the communities around them, now
and in the future, and we believe that Thakeham and Dacorum Borough
Council are clearly aligned in their social value objectives.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Becki
Ingram

Consultee Organisation Details Environment Agency

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS14

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Thank you for consulting us on the Employment and Skills - Draft SPD.
I am writing to confirm that we have no comments to make on this document
as it falls outside of our remit.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Mrs
Anna
Barnard

Consultee Organisation Details

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS15

16

P
age 144



Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: Whilst I am in general agreement with the Strategy, there are comments I
wish to make.
Firstly, I would point out that 6 out of the 8 photos in the document relate to
the building industry - this is hardly giving the impression that the Council
wishes to promote other types of employment! In addition, more attention
should be given to providing employment opportunities in towns and areas
outside Hemel Hempstead which would reduce vehicular journeys. This
should be supplemented by improving public transport. This would help
those in lower paid jobs. If you can't afford a car then many people cannot
get to work in the first place.
Any large residential development should include some element of commercial
development and the developer should be made to provide this on land they
own and not rely on CIL money for the Council to find land and build
commercial premises. Developers should be made to fund public transport
to towns and areas of employment.
The loss of retail shops in town centres should be addressed with the use of
Article 4 Directives in certain key areas. This also applies to the loss of
employment land eg. Maylands Avenue where land has been diverted to
residential. The concentration on provision of very large commercial premises
(often which fail to boost employment eg. warehouses, storage facilities) has
reduced the number of small premises which encourage start-ups and small
businesses. The emphasis on office jobs should be redressed with more
small scale manufacturing and uses which could be deemed 'dirty' or 'anti
social' re. noise etc. should be encouraged in employment areas to broaden
the range of jobs available.
The decline in retail should be addressed by stopping the decline in shops
and encouraged an increase in footfall. This will not happen if there are no
shops to visit and high parking charges are imposed. (eg. reintroduce free
parking on Sundays and Bank Holidays or at least allow 1 hour free eg. as
provided in Tring. Too many coffee shops and not enough places to actually
buy goods.
It is very important to address the shocking statistics of the economic inactive
and those with no qualification. This is an indication of poor education in the

17

P
age 145



Borough. To bring people into employment is not only good for the economy
but also social behaviour. Improve career education in schools and encourage
more apprenticeships and work - not just for written qualifications.
Residential development without employment development will make the
Borough a poorer place!

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name Issy
Spence

Consultee Organisation Details Design and Planning Officer (SADC)
Hemel Garden Communities

Agent Name

Agent Organisation Details

ID EAS16

Subject

Include files

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: General comments and recommendations:
• Need for Hertfordshire County-wide perspective– Growth,

opportunities area.
• Further study on socio-economic (including skills) and demographics

will help understand the skills gaps and future trends
• More statistics and evidence required to back up trends
• Further information needed on Hemel Garden Communities– This

could include a few lines to explain the ambition, the opportunity and
the spatial vision document.

• Sustainability and the Green Economy– How this can tie in with
Dacorum’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy (August
2022) and declared climate emergency (2019)

• Opportunity to identify further partners and organisations
• Skills Gaps and change of work trends Post-Pandemic– Planning and

Health and other trends?
• Ambition of Hemel Garden Communities and the 2019 awarded Garden

Town Status - National trends, big ambitions to fulfil, national
considerations too

18

P
age 146



• Should trends regarding Creative and Filmindustries and
LifeSciences be mentioned?

Reference
Comment
Recommendation
3.0
Page 7
Each of these Documents has a synopsis, excluding the HGC Spatial Vision
- A paragraph on the purpose?
For example:
‘Supported by Garden City Principles, Hemel Garden Communities (HGC)
will take the best of the New Town heritage into the 21st century with up to
11,000 homes, 10,000 jobs and Hertfordshire Innovation Quarter at its heart,
anchoring the transformation of Hemel Hempstead and the wider area.
The HGC programme area covers the whole town of Hemel Hempstead,
within the borough of Dacorum, as well as proposed growth areas straddling
both Dacorum and St Albans District to the north and east of the town and
wider movement routes beyond.
Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, Hertfordshire
County Council, Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership and The Crown
Estate are working together to deliver this ambitious development programme
which will transform and grow Hemel Hempstead and create attractive,
sustainable new neighbourhoods to its north and east by 2050.
The HGC proposal has been recognised by Government, which awarded
Hemel Hempstead ‘Garden Town’ status and a grant in 2019 to help develop
garden communities of the future.
The Spatial Vision (2021) is a high-level document that provides a series of
aspirations for the future of HGC. It is made up of an overarching vision,
which is organised into four thematic pillars, all of which reinforce the
aspirations to promote healthy lifestyles and respond to the climate crisis.’
A paragraph explaining the HGC Spatial Vision – Pillars and overarching
themes and ambitions – Sustainability
3.0

19

P
age 147



Page 7

Reference county wide or South West Herts ambition in Policy Background
E.g
Herts Economic Plan 2017-2030 (2017)
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/s3xa5eye/hertfordshire-lep-sep-report-interactive-2017.pdf
Skills and Employment Strategy 2021-2024
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ouygszbz/hertfordshire-skills-and-employment-strategy-2021-2024.pdf
Hatch – South West Economic Study (2019)
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publications/planning-building-control/planning-policy/examination-library/EMP%20Sept%202019%20SW%20Herts%20Economic%20Study%20Update%20–%20Final_tcm15-68033.pdf
Add Policy Context from Hertfordshire (HCC)
3.5
Page 8
Caveat the ongoing Local Plan Process? Reg 18 / Reference to Local
Development scheme (February 2022)?
Caveat the ongoing Local Plan Process?

3.9.3
Page 9
Mention of Hemel Garden Community and Herts iQ could have more
information?
Include Herts LEP?
More information on HertsiQ, HGC and Herts LEP
3.9.5
Page 9
Town Centre opportunities – mention of Hemel Place? Transformation
Projects?
Reference Hemel Place
3.10

20

P
age 148



Page 10
Explanation or further information required on Herts Local Skills Improvement
Plan
Explanation or further information required on Herts Local Skills Improvement
Plan

4.1
Page 10

Opportunity to relate to County wide growth, Ambitions, Strategies and
Opportunities this will provide. More information needed. Statistics needed?
Additional Countywide information, opportunities and strategies to feed into
justification.
4.10 Page 11

Post-Covid - The shape of the employment market post Covid – and skills
gaps such as Health and Planning professionals
Further evidence required around the change of employment sectors
post-pandemic
4.11 Page 11

Expand on future opportunities of the job market and sectors? Such as
MedTech, AgriTech, Clean Growth
Evidence required to highlight job skill gaps and future skills required
4.18 Page 11

Identify further partners e.g Herts LEP, Herts iQ, Maylands, Rothamsted
Identify further partners for links with organisations

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Consultee Name LQ Estates Ltd

21

P
age 149



Consultee Organisation Details L&Q Estates Ltd

Agent Name Miss
Hanna
Mawson

Agent Organisation Details Pegasus Group

ID EAS17

Subject

Include files PEGASUS GROUP ON BEHALF OF L

ESG question - Please provide your comments here: See accompanying representations.

File Question - Please upload any supporting evidence here: 6101777

22

P
age 150

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167/peoplesubmissions//file/6101777


February 2022 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

The Draft Employment and Skills SPD is a new tool that will enable the Council to ring-fence specific opportunities arising from a 

development to benefit the Borough’s residents, thereby generating additional social value.  The SPD aims to increase local 

employment opportunities by helping businesses to improve, grow and take on more staff; help businesses to find suitable and 

(especially) local staff and suppliers; and improve the skills of local people to enable them to take advantage of the resulting 

employment opportunities. 

 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012), which came into force in England and Wales in January 2013, requires the 

commissioners of public services to consider how they can secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits from their 

activities. Initially this focussed on social value in relation to the procurement of goods, works and services, but many local 

authorities are now extending their scope to include gain from planning developments.   

 

The draft SPD will require residential development of 30 or more homes and non-residential building(s) of 1000m2 or more to 

prepare a Social Value Strategy. The Strategy must demonstrate a commitment to achieve a social value target (expressed in 

number of weeks) and to deliver as many of the following outcomes as is practically achievable: 

 Targeted recruitment and training requirements, ensuring that apprenticeships and other work opportunities help to 

alleviate unemployment; 

 Work placement opportunities designed to support education and learning; 

 Targeted vacancy filling or maximising the use of employment support partners; 

 Supporting the integration of the local supply chain, helping to develop a wider business base both for the delivery 

P
age 151



February 2022 2 

of services and materials; 

 Provision of opportunities for social enterprises, which have explicit social, economic or environmental aims; 

 Participation in the promotion of education initiatives, supporting the transition between school and work; 

 Participation in forums created to promote sector development, sharing good practice to stimulate improvement;  

 Participation in forums created to promote community development, maximising the benefits of a strong voluntary 

and community sector. 

 

The SPD will help support the delivery of the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan.  

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 
Economic Profile of Dacorum 
Dacorum Economic Dashboard 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) June 2021 
NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics (ONS) December 2020 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director for Planning 
Keeley Mitchell – Trainee Strategic Planning and Regeneration Officer 
 
 

P
age 152



February 2022 3 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age Social Value Strategies will be expected to demonstrate 
opportunities aimed at young people to help alleviate unemployment 
and build skills, such as targeted recruitment, apprenticeships and 
work placement opportunities.  
Developers will also be encouraged to set out how they would 
engage with local schools and support them to promote the skills 
and qualifications needed for employment amongst young people 
aged 11 to 16 and to support the transition between school and 
work.   

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

The Social Value Strategy should consider the provision of 
opportunities for social enterprises, which have explicit social, 
economic or environmental aims. 
 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 153



February 2022 4 

Gender reassignment No material impact on this protected group 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity No material impact on this protected group 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief No material impact on this protected group 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex No material impact on this protected group  
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation No material impact on this protected group 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

The activities of the Social Value Strategies will improve the 
economic wellbeing of individual residents in the Borough who may 
currently be impacted through having a low income, holding lower 
qualifications or being economically inactive. 
 ☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 154



February 2022 5 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

n/a Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

P
age 155



February 2022 6 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

n/a 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Claire Covington  

Date 12/12/2022 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

Alex Robinson  - Assistant Director for Planning 

Date 28 December 2022 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 156



1 
 

SPAE OSC: Work Programme 2022/23 

 

Meeting Date Report 

Deadline 

Items Contact Details Background 

information 

1 February  

2023 

23 January 

2023 

   

 OSC KPI Update James Wilson 

James.wilson@dacorum.gov.
uk  

 

Hemel Place 

Strategy 

James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk  

James Doe – Strategic 
Director  

 

Joint Budget Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov
.uk  

 

AQMA and AQAP 

update 

Environmental and 
Community Protection 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov

.uk 

 

 

14 March 

2023 

3 March 

2023 

   

 Budget 

Monitoring Report 
Claire Dempsey 

Claire.dempsey@dacorum

.gov.uk  

To review and 

scrutinise 

quarterly 

performance 

 Quarter 3 

2022/2023 

Planning, 

Development and 

Regeneration 

performance Q2 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 
Director for Planning  

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go
v.uk  

Quarterly 

performance 

report 

 Environmental 
Services 

Performance Q3 

 

Environmental 
and Community 

Protection 
Performance 

Report Q3 

  

TBC 

  
 

 

Group Manager for 
Environmental and 
Community Protection  
Emma.walker@dacorum.gov
.uk  
  

Quarterly 

performance 

report 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10

mailto:James.wilson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.wilson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk


2 
 

 Affordable 

Housing SPD 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk  

 

 Stewardship 

Supplementary 

Planning 

Document 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director for Planning  

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.go

v.uk 

 

 

Others to be programmed 

    

 Hemel Place Strategy James Doe, Strategic 

Director – Place 

James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

    

 

 

 

 

Page 158

mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Action Point from previous meeting
	7 Food Service Delivery Plan and Recovery Plan
	SPAE-10-01-23-Dacorum Food Safety Recovery Plan 2022-23
	SPAE-10-01-23-Food Service Plan 2022-23 Final

	8 Biodiversity Net Gain SPD
	9 Skills and Apprenticeships SPD
	Appendix A Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning document
	1. Introduction
	What is this document and why is it needed?
	Procedural matters

	2. National Policy and Legal Framework
	National Planning Policy Framework
	Legal framework: Public Services (Social Value) Act
	Levelling Up

	3. Local Policy Background
	Dacorum Borough Council Corporate Plan 2020 - 2025
	Dacorum Growth and Infrastructure Strategy to 2050
	Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan
	New Dacorum Local Plan
	Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan
	Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 2020
	Wider Strategic Context

	4. Justification and Context
	The need for Social Value Strategies
	Circumstances in which a Social Value Strategy will be requested
	Content of a Social Value Strategy

	5. Implementation and Monitoring
	How will Social Value Strategies be implemented?
	How will Social Value Strategies be monitored?

	Appendix 1: Delivery Options
	Appendix 2: The Process

	Appendix B Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document Consultation Report
	Consultation Report Employment and Skills SPD
	Structure Bookmarks
	P
	Figure

	Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
	Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
	Consultation Report January 2023 
	Contents 
	Contents 
	Contents 

	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Introduction
	...............................................................................................................................
	2 


	2. 
	2. 
	2. 
	Consultation Report
	.................................................................................................................. 
	3 


	2.1 
	2.1 
	2.1 
	Background 
	............................................................................................................................ 
	3 


	2.2 
	2.2 
	2.2 
	Engagement Methods 
	............................................................................................................ 
	3 


	2.3 
	2.3 
	2.3 
	Making Representations 
	........................................................................................................ 
	5 


	2.4 
	2.4 
	2.4 
	Level of Response
	.................................................................................................................. 
	6 


	3. 
	3. 
	3. 
	Analysis of Responses 
	............................................................................................................. 
	8 


	4. 
	4. 
	4. 
	Next Steps 
	.............................................................................................................................. 
	24 


	Appendix A: Supporting Information
	Appendix A: Supporting Information
	Appendix A: Supporting Information
	.............................................................................................. 
	25 


	Appendix B: Full Text of Responses
	Appendix B: Full Text of Responses
	Appendix B: Full Text of Responses
	.............................................................................................. 
	34 



	1.Introduction 
	1.Introduction 
	1.1 The Employment and Skills Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is a tool that will enable the Council to ring-fence opportunities arising from development to benefit Dacorum’s residents, thereby generating additional social value. The purpose of the SPD is to increase local employment opportunities, help businesses to find suitable local staff and suppliers, improve the skills of local people, support businesses already located in Dacorum to grow and attract new businesses into the area. 
	1.2 The Council are grateful for the time residents, businesses and organisations have spent engaging with this document. This Consultation Report sets out the engagement process in detail, summarises the main issues raised and sets out the Council’s response. 
	1.3 This report is structured as follows: 
	Section 2. Consultation Report: explains how we engaged in accordance with our Statement of Community Involvement, including the methods we used and the overall level of response. 
	Section 3. Analysis of Responses: we expand on the points raised in the comments on the document or expand further on the points raised in the comments 
	Section 4. Next Steps: sets out the adoption timetable for the SPD. 
	Appendix A. Supporting Information: provides copies of the key materials used to advertise the consultation. This includes copies of the notification for the consultation and the public notice. 
	Appendix B. Full Text of Responses: contains full copies of all the individual responses made to the consultation. 

	2.Consultation Report 
	2.Consultation Report 
	2.1 Background 
	2.1 Background 
	2.1.1 The consultation on the Employment and Skills – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was undertaken in accordance with Regulations 12 and 13 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012. The consultation was also carried out in accordance with the requirements set out in the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), adopted by the Council in 2019. 
	2.1.2 The consultation sought views and opinions from residents, businesses and organisations on a full draft version of the SPD. This follows internal engagement with the Council’s Economic Development and Development Management teams and Hemel Garden Communities. Development of the SPD was supported by Hertfordshire Community Wealth Building Project and ongoing progress was shared with the Project Steering Group (a sub group of the Hertfordshire Growth Board) and the Hertfordshire Planning Group, attended
	2.1.3 The statutory public consultation took place between 12pm on the 28October 2022 and 11:59pm on the 28November 2022. This satisfies the requirement to consult for a four week period, which is specified in the SCI. 
	th 
	th 

	2.1.4 The consultation draft document can be viewed on our online consultation portal. 
	1


	2.2 Engagement Methods 
	2.2 Engagement Methods 
	2.2.1 Everyone who was on the Council’s Strategic Planning consultation database at the time of the consultation start date was notified of the consultation by e-mail, or by post mail where no e-mail address was recorded. This included specific (statutory), general and other consultation bodies, alongside the wider community.
	2 

	2.2.2 The Council sent a separate notification of the consultation by e-mail to; Town and Parish Clerks within the Borough, elected County Councillors for Dacorum, and all of Dacorum Council’s elected members and its Senior and Corporate Leadership Team. 
	2.2.3 The Council used a variety of engagement methods to advertise the consultation. Full details of the methods and levels of engagement are listed below. The figures stated below refer to the documents provided in Appendix A: Supporting Information. 
	As set out in Part A, Section 3: ‘Who We Consult’ of the SCI: 
	1 
	https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 
	https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 

	2 
	https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning
	https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning
	-

	development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement 


	Digital 
	Digital 
	o 
	o 
	o 
	Dacorum Current Consultation Website: 48 page visits. 

	o 
	o 
	Dacorum Additional Planning Document Website: 503 page visits. 

	o 
	o 
	Consultation Portal (figure 1): 560 views from 326 users. 



	Notification 
	Notification 
	o Consultation Database Notifications (figure 2 and 3): 
	 
	 
	 
	7,002 E-mail (one to each registered consultee for each consultation). 

	 
	 
	2,096 Postal (one letter to each consultee covering both consultations). 



	Public Notice 
	Public Notice 
	o 
	o 
	o 
	Public Notice in Newspaper published in the Hemel Gazette on 26October 2022 (figure 5 and 6). 
	th 


	o 
	o 
	Public Notice published online on the Hemel Today website on 26October 2022 (figure 7). 
	th 




	Press/Media 
	Press/Media 
	o Media release sent to 359 media contacts for wider circulation. 

	Publications 
	Publications 
	o An article was published in the digital Dacorum Life Newsletter on the 3November 2022 (figure 8): 12,337 subscribers. 
	rd 


	Social Media 
	Social Media 
	o The consultation was advertised to 4,573 connections on LinkedIn. 

	Hard Copy Documents 
	Hard Copy Documents 
	o 
	o 
	o 
	o 
	Hard copies of documents were made available for public inspection throughout the whole consultation period at the three deposit points listed within the SCI: 

	o 
	o 
	o 
	The Forum. 

	o 
	o 
	Berkhamsted Civic Centre. 

	o 
	o 
	Victoria Hall. 



	o 
	o 
	o 
	Hard copies of documents were also made available for the public in the reference section of the seven libraries located in Dacorum during their normal opening hours: 

	o 
	o 
	o 
	Adeyfield Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Berkhamsted Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Bovingdon Community Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Hemel Hempstead Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Kings Langley Community Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Leverstock Green Community Library. 

	o 
	o 
	Tring Library. 



	o 
	o 
	Hard copies of documents were made available to purchase from Strategic Planning. 



	Town and Parish Councils within the Borough 
	Town and Parish Councils within the Borough 
	o The Council separately notified the 16 Town and Parish Councils in the Borough by e-mail (figure 4). This notification established that, if requested, the Council had made hard copies of the document available without cost to ensure that the town/parish council could hold their own reference copy. 
	Dacorum Borough Council’s Elected Members 
	Dacorum Borough Council’s Elected Members 
	o 
	o 
	o 
	Notified 51 Dacorum Elected Members by e-mail. 

	o 
	o 
	Notified 10 County Councillors for Dacorum by e-mail. 

	o 
	o 
	Members’ news: Notified of consultation using the weekly e-newsletter on the 4November 2022. 
	th 






	2.3 Making Representations 
	2.3 Making Representations 
	2.3.1 Feedback on the Employment and Skills – Draft SPD was invited as a self-completion comments form. The form contained only one question, which simplified the process for consultees who wished to make general comments on the document, whilst allowing those who referenced specific sections/paragraphs within the document to do so. 
	2.3.2 The comments form could be completed using our online consultation portal. The portal was advertised by providing a hyperlink in a variety of locations, including on the Council’s Additional Planning Guidance webpage, as part of consultation notifications and within other advertisements for the consultation. The portal provided the option of providing comments on the draft SPD, as well as supplementing that response with additional material. 
	2.3.3 If it was not possible to make comments directly on the consultation portal, responses were also accepted: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	By e-mail: 
	responses@dacorum.gov.uk; 
	responses@dacorum.gov.uk; 



	b. 
	b. 
	By post: Strategic Planning, The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1DN. 


	2.3.4 For those making comments by e-mail or post, a downloadable and editable comments form (see figure 9) was provided on the Additional Planning Guidance web page. This could be completed as an online form and emailed, or printed out and posted as a letter. 

	2.4 Level of Response 
	2.4 Level of Response 
	2.4.1 The consultation received a total of sixteen comments from sixteen consultees. Out of these, eight consultees responded to the consultation stating that they had no specific comments to make. 
	2.4.2 Eight of these responses were made directly within the online platform, and eight were made via e-mail. No responses were received via post. 
	2.4.3 Detailed analysis of the responses can be viewed in Section 3 of this report, and the full text of all the responses submitted can be viewed in Appendix B. 
	2.4.4 The following provides a high level summary of the main themes and issues emerging from the comments as a whole alongside the associated officer response, in no particular order of importance. 
	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	Concern was raised that the Employment and Skills SPD would mostly benefit residents in Hemel Hempstead, when there is a need to promote and deliver employment opportunities across all of the Borough. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	While most development is chiefly focussed on Hemel Hempstead, that is not to say that only those residents will benefit. The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment and training opportunities for the benefit of residents across all of the Borough residents, it does not seek to restrict this by the location of the development. 

	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	Points were raised on how the occupation/end-use phase commitment to recruit local people would operate and be enforced. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	Operational stage outcomes generated by the end user phase are additional to the required activities to deliver the social value target. These will be discretionary, and the Council will liaise with the end-user to support them with their recruitment needs. 

	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	A number of respondents noted that following planning permission, the construction of the development may be delivered by multiple developers and sub-contractors and they sought clarification on how will the SPD requirement would work or be apportioned in these circumstances. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	At application, the developer/planning agent will prepare the overarching Social Value Strategy. The social value requirement will then be included within the legal agreement to the planning consent. At commencement, the Council will work with the relevant 
	At application, the developer/planning agent will prepare the overarching Social Value Strategy. The social value requirement will then be included within the legal agreement to the planning consent. At commencement, the Council will work with the relevant 
	developer/contractor to agree the Social Value Delivery Plan that will detail the outcomes that will be generated across the lifetime of the project. 


	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	It was suggested that more information was needed on both Hemel Garden Communities and the Hertfordshire wide context and strategies that the SPD will support. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	Further information on relevant strategies, documents and action plans developed by Hemel Garden Communities and Hertfordshire organisations have been added to the SPD. 

	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	The justification for enforcing the SPD was questioned, with a respondent noting that there is no relevant reference within the national policy and legal framework, the Public Services 
	(Social Value) Act or the Council’s local saved policy. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	The Employment and Skills SPD provides further guidance and clarity with respect to the effectiveness of Policy CS14 Economic Development. Creating social value through planning is an established practice within many local authorities and is consistent with the guidelines of the National Planning Policy Framework, its overarching ambition for achieving sustainable development and meeting local needs, and paragraphs for building a strong, competitive economy. 

	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	Respondents requested more information on how the SPD will operate, either via an Approved Delivery Partner or other operator, and how the social value forecast will be generated. 
	Officer Comment: 
	Detail on the operation and processes to be used by applicants will be published on the 
	Council’s website prior to implementation of the SPD. 

	Theme: 
	Theme: 
	A landowner representation highlighted the potential costs of the SPD measures and the impact this would have on the delivery of other priorities. 

	Officer Comment: 
	Officer Comment: 
	The SPD seeks to direct measures that the developer would normally expect to undertake to target the Borough’s residents’, no significant additional financial contributions are expected that would impact viability or delivery of other requirements. 



	3.Analysis of Responses 
	3.Analysis of Responses 
	3.1 The detailed responses below set out the actions that will be taken in response to individual comments, points and issues. 
	3.2 The responses received were individually reviewed and collated within summary tables. Where several members of the wider community gave a similar response, this was summarised and included once within the table. Responses from a specific (statutory), general or other consultee were summarised individually, irrespective of whether similar comments had been received and previously noted. An officer response has been provided against each issue raised. This also identifies where the Employment and Skills S
	3.3 This is then followed by a list of all the consultees who responded to the consultation stating that they had no comment to make. 
	3.4 Full text of the responses to the consultation can be found in Appendix B of this document. 
	Question Text: Do you have any comments on the Employment and Skills– Draft SPD? 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	Tring Town Council 
	Tring Town Council 
	 The opportunities delivered via the SPD should be available to all Borough residents, including Tring, regardless of where the planning application is made.  The policy should also help small local businesses through securing space and offering financial assistance.  The Council’s objectives for economic growth should be balanced with the need to tackle the Climate Change Emergency.  It is disappointing that a Social Value Framework has not yet been developed.  The SPD should be widened to include soc
	 The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment and training opportunities for the Borough’s residents, it does not seek to introduce a further restriction that would limit the benefit to a particular location.  These comments are welcomed but are beyond the scope of the Employment and Skills SPD.  These comments are welcomed but are beyond the scope of the Employment and Skills SPD.  Social value projects that could form part of a future framework are being co-ordinated under the Economic Recovery programme an

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Tring has lost employment opportunities through redevelopment for housing.  Clarity is needed on how developer contributions via the ‘Employment and Skills Plan’ might be achieved, as construction work is carried out by a succession of contractors.  How will the social value obligation be deemed to be discharged.  How many apprenticeships might be generated through the SPD?  How will the occupation phase commitment to recruit local people be enforced?  Who, or what sort of person or organisation is e
	 The allocation and protection of land for employment uses is outside the scope of the SPD.  The developer and/or main contractor will agree with the Council a Social Value Delivery Plan detailing the range of delivery options that will be implemented.  The LPA will issue a Discharge Notice following submission of a final monitoring report.  This is currently unknown and will be dependent on the nature and scale of future development. The types of opportunities delivered will be recorded annually in the

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	services, a decision on how this is taken forward will be made in 2023. 

	Hemel Garden Communities 
	Hemel Garden Communities 
	 A Hertfordshire-wide perspective is needed on growth and opportunity areas, and a comparison with national trends.  Further study on socio-economic (including skills) and demographics will help understand the skills gaps and future trends.  More statistics and evidence required to back up trends.  Further information needed on Hemel Garden Communities – including ambition, opportunity, and a synopsis of the spatial vision document (section 3 page 7).  Sustainability and the Green Economy – how can thi
	 The document text will be updated to include Hertfordshire wide strategies and plans. Section 4 compares Dacorum district data with Hertfordshire and national figures.  The Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan (LSIP) is under way and will deliver findings in 2023.  The information in section 4 will be updated to reflect the latest issue from NOMIS.  The document text will be updated to reflect this comment through the addition of the text provided on Hemel Garden Communities.  Providing local employmen

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Opportunity to identify further partners and organisations.  Skills Gaps and change of work trends post-pandemic – planning and health and other trends?  Should trends regarding Creative and Film industries and Life Sciences be mentioned?  Section 3 page 7 Reference county wide or South West Herts ambition in Policy Background e.g. Herts Economic Plan 2017-2030 (2017), Herts Skills and Employment Strategy 2021-2024, South West Herts Economic Study Update (2019).  Section 3.5 page 8. Caveat the ongoing
	 Opportunity to identify further partners and organisations.  Skills Gaps and change of work trends post-pandemic – planning and health and other trends?  Should trends regarding Creative and Film industries and Life Sciences be mentioned?  Section 3 page 7 Reference county wide or South West Herts ambition in Policy Background e.g. Herts Economic Plan 2017-2030 (2017), Herts Skills and Employment Strategy 2021-2024, South West Herts Economic Study Update (2019).  Section 3.5 page 8. Caveat the ongoing

	 The main organisations and partnerships are listed, the Council will provide further contacts relevant to a particular application as required.  Early evidence on the impact of COVID-19 demonstrates more need for the training, employment and work experience measures that the SPD seeks to introduce.  The SPD applies to all employment uses development over the 1000m2 threshold including opportunities in the Creative and Film industries and Life Sciences sectors.  The document text will be updated to refl

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Section 3.9.3 page 9 More information on Herts IQ, Hemel Garden Communities and Herts LEP.  Section 3.9.5 page 9 Reference Hemel Place, plus transformation projects and town centre opportunities.  Section 3.10 page 10 Explanation or further information required on Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan.  Section 4.1 page 10. Additional county wide information on ambitions, strategies and opportunities needed to feed into justification.  Section 4.10 page 11. Further evidence required around the change of
	 The text in section 3.9.3 is in line with the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan’s key priorities.  The text in section 3.9.5 is in line with the Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan’s key priorities.  The document text will be updated to reflect this comment through the addition of the Herts Local Skills Improvement Plan.  The text in Section 3 will be updated to include the Hertfordshire wide strategies and plans referenced in later comments. Section 4 compares Dacorum district data with Hertfordshire and nati

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Section 4.18 page 11 Identify further partners such as Herts LEP, Herts IQ, Maylands, Rothamsted Research. 
	 The document will be updated to include Herts LEP, which through its programmes and partners covers the other organisations suggested. 

	Thakeham – Bulbourne Cross 
	Thakeham – Bulbourne Cross 
	 A Thakeham scheme at Bulbourne Cross would deliver around 1,100 homes, a primary school and 24-acre site for sports pitches, changing rooms and facilities.  The scheme would include a social value delivery plan and would create employment and training opportunities in Berkhamsted and across Dacorum via the use of local supply chains, recruitment of local labour, facilitating apprenticeships and work experience across multiple industry disciplines and the provision of training and upskilling. These initia
	 The SPD would require a qualifying development to prepare a Social Value Delivery Plan at commencement for approval by the LPA. 

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	minimum biodiversity net gain of 20%, will support significant opportunity for local green job and green job skills development for the community. 

	L&Q Estates Ltd 
	L&Q Estates Ltd 
	 Social Value should be facilitated in a flexible manner to enable the development industry and operators within it to deliver efficiently and effectively, particularly given the urgent need for housing to be built.  The potential financial impact of additional development requirements is also an important consideration, particularly when there can be a number of competing priorities that need to be provided as part of the overall developer contribution.  The role of local Authorities in capturing social
	 The preparation of a Social Value Strategy is important to delivering a number of Council initiatives regarding the development of local skills and knowledge across the borough. The strategy should be reasonably flexible taking account of the scale and nature of proposals being put forward.  The SPD will direct measures that the developer would normally expect to undertake to target the Borough’s residents’, no significant additional financial contributions are expected that would impact viability or the

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Policy CS14 that is used to underlie the SPD mainly relates to providing land to accommodate growth and a strategy for the direction of that growth. There is no reference to the Council’s intention to identify initiatives that will be imposed in the delivery of this policy and others, or prepared SPDs. This should have been made explicit if it was the Council’s intention to enable a discussion on whether it meets the tests of soundness in the NPPF. The foundation of the SPD is, therefore, considered to be
	achieving sustainable development and meeting local needs.  The Council considers that the existing Policy CS14 offers a sufficient and robust policy framework to support the new SPD. CS14 Economic Development provides the scope for the Council to bring forward initiatives and contribute towards the delivery of the Economic Development Strategy Objectives (Table 4 of the Core Strategy). Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that ‘Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and prod

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 Policy CS14 suggests that initiatives are optional, it is presumed that the requirements in this SPD will follow and also remain an option, which will attribute additional weight in the decision making process. In which case, no criticism can be afforded to schemes that do not prepare Social Value Strategy as part of their planning application. This should be clearly set out in the SPD.  Section 4 – economically inactive should remove number related to Covid 19 to show true amount of people that are out 
	 Once adopted, the SPD will be a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It will not carry the same level of weight as an adopted policy of the Core Strategy, however an SPD should build upon and provide more detailed advice and guidance on policies in the adopted Core Strategy, namely in this instance policy CS14 and initiatives that help the local workforce adjust to change and develop their skills.  The number of people within Dacorum who are economically inactive due to i

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	multiple parties or the site being sold onto a house builder post outline planning consent and how the requirement would work in these scenarios.  Further information on the model name, the industry it has been prepared for and the companies that have approved it and the proposed delivery partner should be provided so the implications can be understood. Examples of forecasts should be provided.  4.17 A master developer or promoter would not be able to deliver the proposal in its entirety. How should it be
	education and training programme, and are more likely to be delivered in locations where education providers and supply chains are located, and not penalise smaller developments.  The Council is aware of a number of models developed by organisations such as the Homes and Communities Agency, National Skills Academy for Construction projects and the Construction Industry Training Board. Similarly, there are several organisations who offer delivery partner services, a decision on how this is taken forward wil

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	materials when needed and should be excluded. Plus volume house builders may purchase materials on a national scale to maximise competitive pricing. Higher costs may impact on Dacorum’s already higher than national average affordability ratio.  Overall there will be financial implications and SPDs should not ‘add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development’.  An operational stage Social Value Strategy for non-residential developments would be particularly onerous and needs more clarity.  Sectio
	 The measures delivered via the SPD are likely to reduce recruitment costs, aid vacancy filling and overall help to improve the labour and skills shortage within the construction industry.  Operational stage outcomes generated by the end user phase are additional to the required activities to deliver the social value target. These will be discretionary, and the Council will liaise with the end-user to support them with their recruitment needs.  Section 5.6 explains that a financial contribution to enable

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	would be optional, as a result it is questionable as to whether providing for the requirements in the Social Value forecast are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. Further clarity is required in relation to criteria b and c of paragraph 57, this will depend on what is requested and on a site by site basis.  
	strategies has been enshrined through a mixture of specific Local Plan policies or Supplementary Planning Documents. Policy CS14 sets a requirement for “initiatives that help the local workforce adjust to change and develop their skills will be supported”.  Therefore the request to have a Social Value Strategy is not an additional burden on development given that the policy already supports such initiatives.  The Employment and Skills SPD provides further guidance and clarity with respect to the effectivene

	Wider Community 
	Wider Community 
	 Schools should focus more on vocational courses in practical work-based skills, for pupils aged 14 years onwards.  This should include work experience for students aged 14-15 years to encourage them to be part of the future work force.  The Council should promote other types of employment and not just the building industry as shown in the images used to illustrate the SPD. 
	 The SPD encourages developers to work with education providers to actively promote careers in development and construction.  The SPD encourages Social Value Strategies to include work experience and work placements for students from the age of 14 years.  The SPD seeks to secure employment and training opportunities during the construction phase of buildings, such as directly on-site or via the local supply chain. The Economic Development Service engages with local businesses and training providers and 

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 More attention should be given to providing employment opportunities in towns and areas outside Hemel Hempstead.  Developers of large residential schemes should be made to include some element of commercial development.  Developers should also be made to fund public transport to towns and areas of employment.  Article 4 Directives should be used in key areas such as Maylands Avenue and the town centre, to prevent the loss of retail shops and employment land.  More is needed to stop the decline in shop
	recruiters across all sectors and employment types.  The SPD seeks to ring-fence employment and training opportunities for the benefit of all of the Borough’s residents, it does not seek to introduce a further restriction based on the location of the development.  The allocation of sites and associated land uses is outside the scope of the SPD.  The requirements for developer contributions towards public transport is outside the scope of the SPD.  The use of Article 4 Directives is outside of the scope 

	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Comment ID and Consultee Name 
	Key Points Raised in Representations 
	Officer Response 

	TR
	 More small scale start-up premises, manufacturing and other types of employment uses (including those considered ‘dirty’ or noisy) should be encouraged to broaden the range of jobs available.  More is needed to bring residents who are economically inactive and those without qualifications into employment.  Schools should improve career education, with pathways to apprenticeships and work based qualifications. 
	activity trails and loyalty promotions to drive footfall into our towns.  The size and mix of businesses within allocated employment sites is outside the scope of the SPD.  The measures delivered via the SPD will help bring economically inactive residents and those without qualifications into employment, to include targeting young people not in education or employment.  Social Value Strategies will be expected to include measures such as liaising with education providers, participation in education initi


	There were a number of responses from statutory consultees confirming that they had no specific comments to make on the content of the draft SPD. These consultees are: 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	The Environment Agency 

	2. 
	2. 
	Historic England 

	3. 
	3. 
	Natural England 

	4. 
	4. 
	The British Pipeline Agency 

	5. 
	5. 
	Hertfordshire County Council: Minerals and Waste 

	6. 
	6. 
	Hertfordshire County Council: Property 

	7. 
	7. 
	The Canal and River Trust 

	8. 
	8. 
	Transport for London 



	4.Next Steps 
	4.Next Steps 
	4.1 This Consultation Report, alongside the final version of the Employment and Skills SPD will be reported to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Strategic Planning and the Environment and the Council’s Cabinet for recommendations, before progressing to Full Council for approval to adopt. 
	4.2 The adoption procedure will be completed in accordance with Regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, and the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (adopted 2019). 
	4.3 Once adopted, the Employment and Skills SPD will be a material consideration in determining planning applications. 

	Appendix A: Supporting Information 
	Appendix A: Supporting Information 
	Digital 
	Digital 
	Figure 1: Consultation Portal 
	P
	Figure


	Notification 
	Notification 
	Figure 2: Email Notification from Objective 
	P
	Figure

	Figure 3: Notification Letter sent by Post. 
	P
	Figure

	P
	Figure

	Figure 4: Notification sent to Town and Parish Councils in the Borough. Please note the small amendment to the text of the original notification in order to reflect that hard copies of documents were made available to Town and Parish Councils without cost, in order for these to be held as reference copies. 
	P
	Figure


	Public Notice 
	Public Notice 
	Figure 5: Front Page of Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express, 26/10/2022 
	P
	Figure

	Figure 6: Public Notice in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express Newspaper. 
	P
	Figure

	Figure 7: Public Notice on the Hemel Today online news, published 26th October 2022. The full text of the notice is viewable on the public notices web page. 
	P
	Figure


	Publications 
	Publications 
	Figure 8: 'Dacorum Life' Digital Newsletter Article. 
	P
	Figure



	Appendix B: Full Text of Responses 
	Appendix B: Full Text of Responses 
	See the next page for the full text of all comments made. Alternatively, you can view all responses made on the consultation webpage, by visiting our consultation portal. 
	3

	3 
	3 
	https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 
	https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37167 






	Appendix B

	Appendix C Community Impact Assessment

	10 Work Programme



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		Dacorum Employment and Training SPD Draft Update post consultation - Scrutiny.pdf.pdf




		Report created by: 

		

		Organization: 

		




[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 1

		Passed: 29

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


